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DAY 1 – 30 MARCH 2015 
 

  [10.01 am] 

 

SJH:   Yes, thank you.  Just one general announcement before I ask you to 5 

open, Ms Scott, is that there has been a huge amount of material in this 

particular chapter, as everyone will appreciate.  If there is to be 

applications to start calling people out of turn, out of the schedule that 

has been set out by the Secretariat, we need plenty of notice of it.  It 

cannot be, like we have done today, accommodating people on a last 10 

minute basis, it is just going to be impossible.  So if you could pass that 

on to your other colleagues that are involved in this process.  So if we 

can go straight to your opening please, Ms Scott, and I think you are 

going to do a joint opening before we go to the evidence, is that so? 

 15 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, thank you, sir, I am going to give an opening for the 

Council and, with your leave, my learned friend, Mr Radich, would like 

to say a few words before the Council calls its first witness. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 20 

 

MS SCOTT:   First of all, just by way of introduction, I appear with my learned 

friend, Mr Hamish Harwood. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.   25 

 

MS SCOTT:   Sir, the Council’s legal submissions were filed with you 

yesterday and I understand you have copies in front of you.   

 

 Thank you, sir.  Okay, with your leave, I am going to focus on some 30 

parts of these written submissions and just point you at a high level to 

the remainder.  As you have mentioned there has been a fairly 

significant amount of evidence filed for this hearing and I am pleased 

to say that there has been a significant amount of work and 

consideration in responding to that evidence, and I am hopeful that I 35 

speak on a number of parties that there has been a lot of movement, and 

there are some issues that remain that are likely to be of interest to you, 

but there has been a lot of movement and that should become clear 

throughout the course of this hearing. 

 40 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 

MS SCOTT:   If I just turn to section 1 of the legal submissions.  The 

residential chapter provides for the necessary residential development 

through two primary means - intensification around key activity centres 45 

and other centres and through appropriate zoning of greenfield land.  
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As mentioned the Council has participated in informal discussions and 

also facilitated mediations and this has resulted in agreement on many 

of the suggested changes to the proposal raised by submitters.  I would 

like to highlight that there has been no substantive change to the 

Council’s underlying approach, in particular in terms of intensification, 5 

which is that its desktop and field analysis has identified the 

appropriate areas for intensification and greenfield development. 

 

 The amended provisions now, it is submitted, contain clear and 

balanced provisions which enable a variety of development to occur in 10 

accordance with the statement of expectations and other higher order 

documents.   

 

 With your leave, sir, in section 2 I just point you to objective 3.3.4, 

which you will no doubt be familiar with, and I would just like to take 15 

some time in section 3 to take you through the section. 

 

  [10.05 am] 

 

 In response to the Statement of Expectations the Council commissioned 20 

an independent review of the notified proposal.  Following that initial 

review and consideration of submissions and evidence the Council has 

made significant revisions to the residential proposal in order to 

achieve the Statement of Expectations.  The authors of those 

independent reviews have been called as witnesses for the Council and 25 

you will hear evidence from them as to the improvements made to the 

chapter.   

 

 If I can just refer you to paragraph 3.3 where Mr Macleod’s evidence 

will be that the revisions relate to provisions spread right across the 30 

chapter and have the overall effect of making the chapter more 

enabling.  Mr Graham’s (ph 1.05) assessment is that substantial 

improvement has been made to the chapter, in particular the 

improvements derived from greater use of permitted and restricted 

discretionary activity status, greater use of non-notification clauses and 35 

removal of life-stage inclusive and water and energy efficiency 

standards.   

 

 Mr McIndoe also considers that at an overview level the proposed 

modified residential chapter provides the means of achieving objective 40 

3.3.7.  Sorry, sir, there is a typo there referencing to the objective. 

 

 If I can focus on section 4, sir, and the reason I would like to do this is 

there has been some work with the Crown on the issue of residential 

intensification.  It is submitted that there are two key questions.  The 45 

first is where should intensification be located and, secondly, how 
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much land should be included in the up zoned area which is referring to 

the residential medium density zone. 

 

 In respect of the first question, that question is largely answered by the 

regional policy statement which directs that intensification is to be 5 

located around KACs and other centres.  The evidence before you 

records the clear benefits of doing so and that intensification around 

KACs and other centres is efficient because it utilises existing 

infrastructure, and it is effective because it supports the continuing 

development of KACs and the areas sounding KACs are the most 10 

desirable places to live for the people who would take up the type of 

accommodation produced from intensification. 

 

 From paragraph 4.6 onwards, sir, this section sets out a summary of the 

position reached between the Council and the Crown, and it is this 15 

section that my friend would like to respond to.   

 

 So the Council and the Crown agree that the general direction taken by 

the Council in both the notified version of the proposal and the revised 

version for the purposes of achieving intensification is appropriate.  20 

The Council and the Crown agree that objective 6.2.2.1 and 2, and 

policy 6.3.7 from the RPS contain clear aims as to the percentage of the 

residential shortfall to be met by intensification as a proportion of 

overall growth. 

 25 

 However, neither the RPS nor the Land Use Recovery Plan have 

equally clear directions as to what proportion of the intensification is to 

be met by Christchurch City and the surrounding districts from greater 

Christchurch.   

 30 

 The Council and the Crown are also aligned in terms of the locational 

criteria that should be applied to identify land that can be used for 

intensification.  A joint statement of evidence has been filed, and that is 

of Mr Teesdale, and the Crown and the Council also agree to the 

inclusion of a new policy 14.1.1.1A which outlines the agreed criteria.   35 

 

 If I can take you, sir, to paragraph 4.10.  The Council and the Crown 

also agree that there are broader market driven factors that are likely to 

prevent opportunities for intensification to be utilised to the extent 

necessary to meet either experts’ targets, and that is referring to 40 

Dr Fairgray for the Council and Mr Schellekens for the Crown, until 

there is a substantial shift in market preferences towards the typologies 

provided for by intensification. 
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  [10.10 am] 

 

 Where the Council and the Crown differ is that their respective 

witnesses are not completely aligned in their views as to what the 

significant proportion should be, and that is referring to the 5 

intensification split between Christchurch City and neighbouring 

Selwyn and Waimakariri. 

 

 Using assumptions about the rate of uptake or capacity for residential 

land to intensify the respective witnesses have predicted whether or not 10 

the area of the notified residential medium density zone is adequate to 

meet their respective targets.  Dr Fairgray for the Council anticipates a 

range between a surplus of 5,300 properties and a shortfall of 1,380, 

whereas Mr Schellekens for the Crown anticipates a range between a 

shortfall of 550 and 5,375. 15 

 

 And to just highlight there, one of the reasons behind the span of views 

is whether or not the model properly accounts for Housing 

New Zealand’s developments and retirement villages. 

 20 

 As a result, the Crown considers that further land should be made 

available for intensification through the inclusion of additional areas in 

the residential medium density zone.   

 

 The Council disagrees with these views and it is submitted that such an 25 

approach is unnecessary but it does endorse the monitoring of the 

adequacy of the provision of land for intensification over the life of the 

Replacement District Plan.  In fact it is already directed to do that 

through the RPS and also under its obligations under section 35 of the 

RMA. 30 

 

 At paragraph 4.15 the submissions cover the process that would need to 

be worked through if additional areas for RMD were, in the Panel’s 

mind, required.  We refer there to clause 13.4 of the Order in Council 

which allows the Panel to make a direction to notify a new proposal 35 

and that will need to contain provisions over a wider area of land in 

addition to that already notified in stage 1.  This is because that 

direction will need to relate to areas of land already notified rather than 

the phase 2 what is commonly referred to as “grey areas” on the 

planning maps. 40 

 

 At 4.16 the submissions cover the process that the Crown and Council 

agree will need to be worked through and that will be subject to 

evidence, sir, so if I can just take that as read. 

 45 

SJH:   Thank you. 
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MS SCOTT:   And just over the page, just to summarise the Council’s position, 

it is submitted that most appropriate course of action is to monitor the 

adequacy of the RMD zone and to identify and provide further land 

through a subsequent plan change as described in the evidence of 5 

Mr Blair if that proves necessary.  As already mentioned the RPS 

requires the Council to monitor the supply of land for development.   

 

 Sir, with your leave, I will just move on to the other key areas that have 

been addressed in evidence and just to highlight those to you, I do not 10 

want to take too much time working through, but these are the issues 

that were set out in the statement of issues that has been filed with the 

Panel. 

 

 The first is greenfield development and what is called the new 15 

neighbourhood zone.  There are a number of directions in the Regional 

Policy Statement and the Land Use Recovery Plan regarding greenfield 

development and they direct the Proposed Plan to enable development 

in identified areas which are set out on map A of chapter 6 of the RPS. 

 20 

 Mr Blair’s evidence recognises that the existing greenfield 

development plan framework in the Operative Plan, which is called 

“Living G zone”, has become complicated over the Operative Plan’s 

life through the inclusion of different provisions for different areas 

through private plan change applications. 25 

 

 The revised proposal addresses and seeks to simplify the situation with 

provisions that apply to greenfield areas.  The Council has, in response 

to the submission and evidence of Ngāi Tahu Property, recognised that 

there are areas in the city where the developments of greenfield areas 30 

has sufficiently progressed to a point where changing the zoning at this 

point in time would detrimentally affect the development of those 

areas. 

 

  [10.15 am] 35 

 

 I will come back to that, sir, just later on in my legal submissions. 

 

 So the Council originally proposed three distinct consent paths for the 

new neighbourhood zones.  This approach has been reconsidered in the 40 

development process and the revised proposal is submitted to be more 

simplistic, consistent and to enable flexity(ph). 

 

 At paragraph 5.6, sir, is set out there the two processes that a developer 

can choose from.  The first restricted discretionary rule consists of a 45 

comprehensive subdivision and land use consent application, which is a 
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single consent application process for developments greater than eight 

hectares, with a minimum developable area of 7,000 square metres.  

From the notified version of the plan standards have been removed 

with the exception of height in favour of a full assessment based 

approach. 5 

 

 The second process is a subdivision first with identification of building 

typologies at that stage but with the opportunity for a comprehensive 

consent application for blocks of higher density housing, and that is a 

combination of what was RD2 and RD3 in the notified chapter. 10 

 

 With your leave, sir, to section 6 and I will just briefly highlight that 

the Council has adopted a simplified and enabling approach to 

retirement villages which caters for retirement homes as permitted 

activities in the residential suburban zone and the residential suburban 15 

density transition zone.   

 

 Some of the retirement village operators have raised aspects of the 

build form standards and individual rules for retirement villages in their 

submissions and evidence, and the Council has responded to that in the 20 

revised version attached to Mr Blair’s rebuttal evidence. 

 

 There has been a question as to whether the elderly person housing 

provisions from the Operative Plan should have been rolled over into 

the proposed plan or whether the various LURP directions relating to 25 

multi-unit development are sufficiently enabling. 

 

 At the top of page 15, sir, we explain there that Mr Blair’s view is that 

the accommodation for elderly persons is already appropriately 

provided for in proposal 14 but in a more simplified manner.  However, 30 

he has recommended some changes to the particular provisions which 

are more enabling for this type of development in his rebuttal evidence. 

 

 Section 7 is about the lifestyle (ph 3.04) inclusive and water efficient 

standards.  The Council has again responded to submissions and also 35 

the objective that is included in the Strategic Directions Decision.  And 

the lifestyle inclusive and adaptive design and energy and water 

efficiency standards have been removed as a standard. 

 

 At the facilitated mediation on this point, there is evidence before you 40 

in support of these standards, the facilitated mediation involved the 

Christchurch District Health Board and the Crown and the possibility 

of including an assessment matter to all appropriate restricted 

discretionary activity assessments was discussed. 

 45 
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 This would enable the Council to take into account and weigh the 

benefits of sustainability features when undertaking assessments of a 

consent application.  This approach would not require it would only 

incentivise the installation of energy or water saving or universal 

design features. 5 

 

 If I can just take a moment to refer to non-residential activities, there 

are a number of submissions on non-residential activities.  These 

related to activities such as medical centres and correction facilities, 

community welfare facilities, emergency service facilities and spiritual 10 

facilities.  Again the Council has responded and provided for these as 

permitted activities with appropriate standards in the revised chapter. 

 

 At section 9 there is one paragraph on airport and corridor protection, 

this relates to infrastructure focused submissions and evidence.  There 15 

is an outstanding issue between the Council and Transpower and Orion 

as to whether Orion should also deserve equivalent provisions to those 

for the national grid, to which Transpower has in the revised proposal.  

There is evidence before you about intensification within the 50dBa 

noise contour.  The Land Use Recovery Plan introduced intensification 20 

provisions into the operative plan and this includes the avoid policy 

which allows for intensification within existing residential zones.   

 

  [10.20 am] 

 25 

 The proposal also appropriately provides for any new biddable space or 

extension to an existing space shall be conditional on acoustic 

treatment.  This is at the port and the Port Company largely supports 

the objectives, policies and rules for the proposed residential proposal, 

except for some tidying up matters. 30 

 

 Just briefly, the enhanced development mechanism and community 

housing redevelopment mechanism, which came through the LURP 

into the operative plan, these have been brought across into the 

proposed plan.  The Crown supports that approach and has suggested 35 

some changes, which the Council accepts are appropriate. 

 

 Again, in response to the evidence of the Runanga, there has been some 

changes made to the proposal.  There are still some minor areas of 

disagreement.  The Runanga also seeks the inclusion of an avoid 40 

standard in policy 14.1.6.6 in relation to the discharge of untreated 

storm water. 

 

 The evidence of Mr Norton for the Council is that this would be 

impossible for the city stormwater system, because it’s capacity is 45 

exceeded in the largest rainfall events.   
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 The Crown also seeks that that same policy be deleted and that relief 

has been accepted by the Council. 

 

 Notably, the Council has made changes to the matter of discretion 5 

14.9.1 to remove the reference to Māori urban design principles in the 

title and specific references throughout, and that is in response to the 

evidence of Mr Timothy Vial. 

 

 At Section 12, this deals with Section 32 of the RMA and I note that 10 

the legal framework that you are working to has already been put 

before you in the strategic directions hearing and I simply adopt that 

without repeating that lengthy test again. 

 

 Just finally, at Section 13, two issues, and this relates to the complexity 15 

between the notification of two stages.  The first is the residential 

conservation zone. 

 

 This zone is located at Akaroa and Lyttelton and hasn’t received a 

substantial amount of attention through submissions.  However, 20 

concerns have been raised by the Akaroa Civic Trust and evidence has 

been filed by Miss Janice Cook about the relationship of these two sets 

of rules.  In particular, the Trust and Miss Cook endorse that decisions 

relating to the residential conservation zone at Akaroa be deferred until 

they can be considered alongside the provisions that will be notified in 25 

stage 2.   

 

 The draft stage 2 residential conservation zone, to be notified on 2 

May, includes an additional restricted discretionary activity that allows 

new buildings, it allows demolitions and extensions to existing 30 

buildings in a manner that will allow for assessment of design and 

appearance.  That rule will essentially make some of the built form 

standards proposed under stage 1 redundant and the Council shares the 

concern that the stage 1 provisions may have the effect of being more 

enabling to non-residential development than to residential activities. 35 

 

 The Council, therefore, seeks a decision by the Panel that the 

residential conservation zone be deferred until stage 2. 

 

 Again, in a similar vein with Prestons and Wigram, the Council has 40 

responded to the evidence that has been filed in respect of these areas 

and recognised that those parts of the Prestons and Wigram 

developments notified in stage 1, which are currently zoned Living G 

in the Operative Plan should be rezoned residential existing new 

neighbourhood zone, rather than residential suburban. 45 
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 The residential existing new neighbourhood zone is a stage 2 zone that 

has been prepared by Council and included in the draft chapters that 

went to the Ministers.   

 

  [10.25 am] 5 

 

 Council, therefore, seeks that the hearings Panel accepts the Ngāi Tahu 

Property submission in the part.  What this would mean is that the 

decision on the residential existing new neighbourhood zone provisions 

would need to be made at the time that the Panel considers the Stage 2 10 

proposal.  Therefore, Council seeks that the Panel does not replace the 

Prestons and Wigram operative Living G zones through the decision it 

will make on Stage 1. 

 

 That is my submissions.  I set out at Section 14, evidence that will be 15 

called on behalf of the Council.  We contacted the Secretariat about 

calling Mr Blair to give a brief overview of the chapter, so that you 

could get a good background before we get into the detailed evidence.  

So, unless you have any questions I will call Mr Blair. 

 20 

SJH:   Well, I think we will hear from Mr Radich first, as agreed and then I will 

see if there is any questions on submissions. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Apologies. 

 25 

SJH:   Yes? 

 

MR RADICH:   Thank you, Your Honour, Members of the Panel, I just want to 

make two points and, in light of recent developments I am opening 

without necessarily intending to score any points but there are just two 30 

things I want to say by way of clarification.   

 

 The first of them is in relation to structure and content and I think it is 

important to make the point that my learned friend, Ms Scott, made and 

just to endorse the fact that there had been some real criticism you will 35 

have seen in the Crown’s submission initially and in the Crown’s 

evidence about the way in which the chapter was complex, was in 

breach of the statements of expectations.   

 

 And the point I want to emphasise is that there has been a great deal of 40 

discussion, work-shopping, mediations, the Council’s approach has 

been engaged and constructive and the points that remain now are 

actually relatively few in terms of the wording of these provisions, and 

they will become apparent through a table that I will hand up in 

opening in terms of the points that are left. 45 
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 The Crown says this though; that were it able to start from a blank 

piece of paper, were it able to reduce the duplication between the 

various assessment matters and built form standards, were it able to 

conflate much of the repetition, just by reason of the fact that the 

proposal is structured as it is, then that is ideally what it would like to 5 

achieve.  It holds up the Central City Residential Zone Proposal as an 

example of the way in which that has been achieved.   

 

 But, working with the current format and working with the current 

layout, it’s particular concerns in terms of provisions to deliver 10 

adequate housing supply, the outcome of this chapter have been largely 

dealt with subject to the few points that will be made.   

 

 The second point is on intensification.  My learned friend, Ms Scott, 

ably identified the fact that there is this; whichever view you take of the 15 

evidence of Dr Fairgray and Mr Shellicans (ph 3.09) there is a range of 

figures, whereas Dr Fairgray would say there is just enough, Mr 

Shellicans would say there is a reasonable shortfall in intensification.   

 

 The Crown continues to say there is an issue, we need to be far more 20 

enabling, we need to be aspirational here, but it is agreed that, if the 

Panel agrees that more is needed, then the way in which it might go 

about that would be use modelling, it has been agreed the parameters to 

that modelling, after really constructive work, had been agreed in terms 

of the filters and the inputs to that modelling, and if that was the view 25 

of the Panel, then the methodology, at least in so far as the Crown and 

the Council are concerned have been settled. 

 

 If the Panel was of the view that it needn’t act so firmly and look to 

notify new areas now, effectively it would be a phase 3, for better or for 30 

worse, then the wording of what is now Policy 14.1.1.1a has been 

agreed and that is a policy that says in the event that this fall-back 

position, that is to say “no urgent need but do monitor it closely”, 

comes to pass, then this is the methodology through which the 

establishment of new medium density residential areas should be 35 

achieved.   

 

 And just two final things, and they are handouts, and just in terms of 

the fact that these might be useful. 

 40 

 One of them is a map that just sets out in one place all of the current 

proposed zones, together with the hazard areas, tsunami risk, the waste 

water capacity constraints and the infrastructure boundaries.  And the 

second is the same, but it includes the current zones, the Living 1, 2, 3 

etc. 45 
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  [10.30 am] 

 

 So it is just by way of illustration, so there are one of each.  There is a 

large one that can go on the wall and just enables us to see in one place 

where everything is. 5 

 

SJH:   All right, thank you, and for the record someone no doubt will produce 

this later but we will give it exhibit 1 and 2.   

 

EXHIBIT #1 – NOTIFIED RESIDENTIAL ZONING PRODUCED BY 10 

MR RADICH 

 

EXHIBIT #2 – OPERATIVE RESIDENTIAL PRODUCED BY 

MR RADICH 

 15 

MR RADICH:   Yes, thank you.    

 

SJH:   And if during the morning break if the large version could be put on the 

wall along with the cities map.  

 20 

MR RADICH:   Yes, I will do that, thank you.  The second thing just while 

they are being handed out, and I will ask for this to be given to you 

separately, is a very objective description of each zone, what each 

proposed zone means and then there is a table that just identifies in the 

proposed version the differences between them so it sets out what is in 25 

each zone the minimum net site area, site density, building height, 

recession plane site coverage, et cetera, that is the second and third 

pages, just so you can see when witnesses are referring to particular 

issues how it lines up across the zones. 

 30 

 So they are my introductory comments, thank you for the opportunity, 

sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Who is responsible for this document?  Is it an exhibit? 

 35 

MR RADICH:   Yes, it will be produced best through Ms McIntyre (ph 1.46), 

sir. 

 

SJH:   Well it will be exhibit 3 and we can have it confirmed by Ms McIntyre 

in due course. 40 

 

MR RADICH:   Thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Now, we better get this right.  The two plans you gave us, the Notified 

Residential Zoning was the first one, is it?  That should be exhibit 1. 45 
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MR RADICH:   Yes, sir, thank you. 

 

SJH:   And the Operative Residential should be exhibit 2? 

 

MR RADICH:   Thank you. 5 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Scott, if you could call Mr Blair, please. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, sir.  Just before I do it might be timely to explain the 

other city maps that you have. 10 

 

SJH:   All right, then we should give them as an exhibit as well, shouldn’t we? 

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, sir. 

 15 

SJH:   It is in a bundle, so that would be exhibit 4. 

 

EXHIBIT #4 – RESIDENTIAL HEARING MAPS - INDEX 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, sir.  I now call Mr Blair. 20 

 

SJH:   Is there any explanation you want to give us about this first? 

 

MS SCOTT:   Mr Blair is going to present these to you and he will explain 

them. 25 

 

<MR BLAIR, sworn [10.33 am] 
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SJH:   Just before we go on, I overlooked seeing if anyone has any questions 

on the legal submissions.   

 

DR MITCHELL:   No thank you, sir. 

 5 

MS DAWSON:   Can I just ask one quick thing.  Where you have suggested 

that the residential conservation zones be deferred, you talked mainly 

about Akaroa, but are you suggesting that the zoning for both Akaroa 

and Lyttelton be deferred? 

 10 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, that is the request that the Council is seeking. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you. 

 

MR SAX:   Yes, thank you.  Just a couple of questions or clarification for my 15 

benefit; Mr Blair, Ms Scott, you talked about conferencing aspirations 

and so on, due to respects to our professional consultants on behalf of 

Crown and Council, has there been conferencing with the major 

developers to try and determine what their thoughts would be to uptake 

intensification and what would be necessary because it is better for 20 

market driven things.   

 

 So what feedback have you had and what can you tell us that would 

enlighten us about that process? 

 25 

MS SCOTT:   The conferencing that has been referred to in this submission 

was between the Crown and the Council, I am not aware of Housing 

New Zealand’s involvement in that conferencing from the Crown’s 

perspective but through the course of the consideration of the 

submissions all of the property sector who have made submissions, 30 

they have been taken into account through that process.  In respect of 

that conferencing it was between the Council and the Crown, per se.  

 

SJH:   The difficulty is we can only consider those property developers that 

have submitted and they have been included in caucusing.   35 

 

  [10.35 am] 

 

MR SAX:   My second question relates to 7.2, in terms of your comment that 

the installation of energy water savings, does that go as far as 40 

particularly for a larger developers of having contestable supply; that 

may mean that they are not on the Council infrastructure thereby 

making more efficient use of Council infrastructure, is that part of the 

considerations? 

 45 
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MS SCOTT:   Mr Blair may be better placed to answer that question, but it is 

just a matter of consideration, it would not be a requirement but it 

essentially is an incentivising requirement.  So if a developer was to 

come to the Council with a development that goes further than the 

building code standards, that could be taken into account by the 5 

Council and weighed up against other matters that potentially might be 

breached hence why they are seeking a consent.   

 

MR SAX:   Thank you. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Chairman, I think this question may be better directed 

to Mr Blair, but I did have a question in my own mind as well that I 

wanted to explore as to what extent is there any capacity to address this 

issue of repetition that Mr Radich has raised and I know it is raised also 

by the Council’s own evidence with Mr McLeod, but I can explore that 15 

with Mr Blair, I think.   

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 20 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  The witness has been sworn, so go ahead. 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS SCOTT [10.32 am] 

 

MS SCOTT:   Good morning, Mr Blair.  If you could confirm that you have 

prepared a statement of Evidence in Chief dated 12 March and two 

statements of rebuttal evidence dated 25 March and 27 March? 5 

 

MR BLAIR:   That is correct, yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   And that your qualifications and experience are set out in the 

introduction of your Evidence in Chief? 10 

 

MR BLAIR:   That is correct, yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Do you have any corrections to make to your evidence? 

 15 

MR BLAIR:   Just one, and I refer to my attachment A to my written evidence 

where policy 14.1.1.1 has been shown as deleted.  This was not 

intentional, this was an accident and I refer back to the unstruck out 

policy in attachment A of my Evidence in Chief, I consider this to be 

the correct wording. 20 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, other than that correction can you confirm that the 

evidence is true and correct to the best of your knowledge and belief? 

 

MR BLAIR:   That is correct. 25 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, if you could give a brief, high level overview of the 

chapter and then we will move from there, thank you. 

 

MR BLAIR:   Over the last 18 months I have overseen and contributed to the 30 

development of the stage 1 chapter 14 provisions. 

 

 The key documents that have influenced the chapter in very varying 

ways are the Land Use Recovery Plan, in particular but not limited to 

LURP actions two and seven.  Action two provides that the Council is 35 

to provide a housing choice and intensification for a range of 

residential density and development provisions.  Action seven provides 

that the Council has to promote intensification and city living.   

 

 The Canterbury Regional Policy Statement is also of significant for this 40 

hearing.  In particularly chapter 6 directs intensification targets, 

intensification being around KACs and large neighbourhood centres 

and greenfield residential growth being in accordance with an outlined 

development plan.   

 45 
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 The Hearings Panel decisions on the Strategic Directions chapter is also 

of relevance.  In particular, objectives 3.3.4, Housing Capacity and  

Choice, 3.3.7, Urban Growth Form and Design, 3.3.11, Community 

Facilities and Education Activities, 3.3.12, Infrastructure and 3.3.13, 

Incompatible Activities.  As is the Minister’s Statement of Expectations 5 

that are included in the Order in Council. 

 

 In regard to the Order in Council, particular regard is being given to the 

Statement of Expectations that relate specifically to housing where the 

Council is to provide for 23,750 dwellings by 2028, and to ensure 10 

sufficient and suitable development capacity for residential activities.   

 

 Taking into account these strategic documents and the approach 

Council has taken to them, five key issues have arisen.  The first is 

intensification; it is well documented that Christchurch has experienced 15 

a significant shortfall in both housing supply and affordability 

following the earthquakes of 2010 and 2011. 

 

  [10.40 am] 

 20 

 Of the 36,150 target numbers of new households to be provided by 

2028 for greater Christchurch, as set out in the LURP a large portion of 

these have been provided through intensification, that’s 20,740.  The 

balance of 15,140 is to be provided through new greenfield 

development.  The provision for intensification in Christchurch has 25 

been in accordance with the directors of the Land Use Recovery Plan, 

and in particular, actions 2 and 7 in Chapter 6 of Canterbury Regional 

Policy Statement, as confirmed by the LURP.  This is directed to be 

around key activity centres, larger neighbourhood centres.  

Intensification means increasing the number of residential units within 30 

an existing urban area through development and redevelopment. 

 

 The Canterbury Regional Policy Statement says that intensification 

areas should reach at least 30 households a hectare, compared to 15 

households per hectare in greenfield residential areas.  The Council, in 35 

applying these criteria, identified the following KAC’s in larger 

neighbourhood centres for intensification, these being; Merivale, 

Hornby, Papanui, Shirley, Bishopdale, Riccarton and Linwood. 

 

 The Council and the Crown are aligned in terms of the location on 40 

criteria that should be applied through modelling of identified land for 

intensification.  This is the subject of Mr Tesdar’s (ph 1.43) evidence, 

but as a result I have agreed to the inclusion of a new separate policy 

which sets out this criteria the Council’s witness relied upon. 

 45 



 Page 17 

  

Ch14: Residential (Part) Commenced 30.03.15 

 Dr Fairgray is not completely aligned in his views with Mr Shellicans 

(ph 2.01) the Crown’s witness.  If one applies Dr Fairgray’s view of 

the economic inputs then sufficient capacity for intensification has been 

supplied.  If one applies the Crown’s parameters, then there is just 

enough for a shortfall in supply. 5 

 

 This I believe is now the key issue.  Following from here, there is a 

question of how to respond if the panel prefers the Crown’s approach to 

the economic inputs.  It is my view that the Council should monitor the 

housing supply matter over the next three to four years, and indeed the 10 

life of the plan, with a view to enabling more intensification by way of 

plan change if it is needed. 

 

 The second issue: What non-residential activities are appropriate for 

residential areas? While primarily for residential purposes, residential 15 

zones do not exclusively provide for residential activities.  There are 

other non-residential activities that can and should establish in 

residential areas.  These are generally home occupations, appropriate 

community facilities including emergency services, healthcare 

facilities, vet facilities, spiritual facilities and other places of assembly.   20 

 

 Commercial activities that would normally be expected to operate 

within a residential area, for example convenience retail at corner sites, 

and service stations on higher order roads.  Long-standing community 

support activities such as animal shelters and some, what I would call, 25 

correctional reintegration facilities.  The Chapter, as publicly notified, 

recognised and provided for a wide range of non-residential activities, 

but in the timeframe given to develop the plan, some existing activities 

have been missed. 

 30 

 I have since responded to submissions and recommended some 

activities be provided for as permitted activities.  The strategic 

directions decision is giving clear, objective guidance that emergency 

service facilities are to be provided for – this is at objective 3.13 – Fire 

and ambulance activities are provided together under one permitted 35 

activity rule in order to make the plan more clear and concise. 

 

 The Chapter, as publicly notified, provided for spiritual facilities as 

places of assembly, however is recognised that these facilities, because 

of their nature and contribution to community wellbeing, should be 40 

enabled through their own permitted activity status, with some 

amendments to operating hours to meet worship needs. 

 

 The third issue: What provisions should be made to protect important 

infrastructure from direct and reverse sensitivity effects? The Land Use 45 

Recovery Plan and the Canterbury Regional Policy Statement provide 
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for the integration of land uses and infrastructure.  Chapter 14 has 

responded to this by recognising that there is important infrastructure 

that is important to the region and the country.   

 

  [10.45 am] 5 

 

 In the main, this infrastructure can be categorised as the Christchurch 

International Airport, the Port of Lyttelton, the National Grid, the 

Railway Corridor and the State Highway network.  We have publicly 

notified the proposed chapter recognises the importance of the need to 10 

protect most but not all of the above infrastructure through objectives 

and policies.  Changes have been made to address this.  The Strategic 

Direction’s Decision has given clear guidance on how some 

infrastructure is to be provided for in this regard.  For example, a buffer 

corridor for Transpower’s National Grid, and that noise sensitive 15 

activities are to be avoided under the Christchurch Internal Airport 

noise contours, except for within existing residentially zoned urban 

areas. 

 

 What provisions should be made for the aging population? It is 20 

generally accepted that New Zealand’s population is aging and that 

provision will need to be made to accommodate the housing and other 

social needs of this group.  The chapter as notified proposed 

accommodating this need through intensification and a number of other 

mechanism such as comprehensive development of general and social 25 

housing complexes.  In particular, it provided for retirement villages as 

restricted discretionary activities in the residential suburban zone.  It is 

my view that these should now be provided for as permitted activities 

subject to compliance with built form standards. 

 30 

 The Proposed Plan has not carried over the elderly person’s housing 

units provisions from the Operative Plan.  This is partly because the 

occupancy restrictions to elderly on existing elderly person’s housing 

units have been removed by the Land Use Recovery Plan.  

Nevertheless, through discussion with the Crown and in response to the 35 

Crown’s evidence, some provision has been made for comprehensively 

designed housing in the residential suburban zone, by way of restricted 

discretionary activity.  In accordance with the Land Use Recovery Plan 

theme of not restricting occupancy, I have recommended that there not 

be age restrictions. 40 

 

 And finally at 5, how will greenfield residential development be 

provided for? The Operative City Plan has provided for comprehensive 

developed large greenfield residential areas by way of a living G (ph 

2.23) zone.  Each greenfield residential area, as it was introduced to the 45 

City Plan, generally by a plan change, contained its own set of rules, 
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although generally in the same format.  They have guided development 

along with an outlined development plan.  The Canterbury Regional 

Policy Statement and the Land Use Recovery Plan direct that Proposed 

Replacement Plan to enable greenfield development in identified areas, 

and this links to Map A of Chapter 6 of the Regional Policy Statement.  5 

The provisions as publicly notified for new neighbourhood zones 

provided for three consenting parts by which to subdivide within 

greenfield areas - a comprehensive land use and subdivision approach, 

a density uplift approach, and the traditional subdivide first approach. 

 10 

 The structure has caused some confusion among submitters, in 

particular, but not limited to, the provisions being spread across two 

chapters, Chapter 14 residential, and Chapter 8 subdivision.  The 

provisions have been rewritten with a view to simplifying them and 

removing the confusion between the residential and subdivision 15 

chapter.  In short, I recommend two consenting paths, a comprehensive 

subdivision and land use consent application which is a single consent 

application process for developments greater than eight hectares with a 

minimum developable area of 7,000 square meters.  And a subdivide 

first.  Identification of building typologies at that stage, but with the 20 

opportunity for a comprehensive consent application for blocks of 

higher density housing within those areas. 

 

 And finally, on balance I believe that the chapter has made significant 

progress, re-discussions and negotiations.  I would like to thank all the 25 

parties that have engaged with the Chapter 14 team in and open, 

constructive and collaborative fashion.  Thank you. 

 

 In regard to the intensification areas, I have had a series of maps 

generated, these have been referred to as EXHIBIT #4.  The first map 30 

shows, it is an overview of the intensification areas across the city.  If 

we refer to the key, it has tried to show the three notification areas.  

These are the areas that the Council consulted the respective 

communities on in terms of potential intensification areas.  Coming 

down then, the mustard or yellow, notified residential medium density 35 

areas, and then the other notified residential suburban density transition 

areas.  We have also put on the draft category one character areas that 

are going to come through as part of stage 2.  That is currently before 

the Minister and there are also the draft category two character areas. 

40 
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  [10.50 am] 

 

 I think the important features of these maps at this stage for the 

discussion of intensification are the pre-notification consultation areas 

and the notified residential medium density areas.  And then it is a 5 

series of larger scale maps generally following the outlines on the key 

map and the front which attempts to, if you like, into each area, and it 

follows the same pattern as the top map, the key map.  

 

 I note in particular that at the bottom there is also the Riccarton waste 10 

water interceptor catchment overlay, this is as we understand it on 16 

March.  If we head back to the key map, the front map, and see it is the 

large green hatched area.  I understand that will probably get some 

discussion or some attention during the course of this hearing as a 

significant constraint to intensification.   15 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, sir.  Unless the Panel has any questions now of 

Mr Blair - - - 

 

SJH:   So you are proposing to recall him later? 20 

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, he will be the Council’s last witness. 

 

SJH:   All right, I will just check at this stage. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Blair, it may be that this comes up later but I thought I 

might ask it now as it relates to the general design of these provisions.  

Just on this question that Mr Radich raised before, and indeed the 

Council’s, Mr McLeod, I think it is, that deals with this question of the 

repetition of standards and things throughout the different zones where 30 

you find you have to work your way through these tables and you find 

that in the large part they repeat matters that are in other tables.  Is that 

something which is necessarily driven by the EPLAN approach or is 

there any way by which that repetition could be addressed by some 

form of consolidation? 35 

 

MR BLAIR:   Your Honour, to a degree it is driven by EPLAN but I would 

also point out that earlier on in the chapter design process we attempted 

to have a consolidated chapter, if you like, basically one set of rules but 

with different sets of standards relating to the individual zones below 40 

that. 

 

 We found that it created a very complex structure when we reviewed it.  

so having gone down through there and gone through a review process, 

we felt because of the complexity and how hard it was to actually find 45 

where you were, you had to read down through each of the rules with 
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reference to the zone and find the zone that you are in and then do that 

next step with the next set of rules and the next step with the next set of 

rules, and we found it would be easier to navigate the plan if it was split 

out into its separate subzones so that each set of rules was in the same 

place, basically.   5 

 

 So if I knew I was in the residential suburban density transition zone, I 

could go to a consolidated set within that zone and if I was in the 

residential medium density zone I could go that package as a one stop 

shop, if you would like, so we have attempted to create one package 10 

but it would create a quite complex structure. 

 

  [10.55 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, no doubt we can explore it through the hearing but I 15 

just thought I would test that with you, first, thank you. 

 

MR BLAIR:   Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Anything from that, Ms Scott? 20 

 

MS SCOTT:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Mr Blair. 

 25 

MR BLAIR:   Thank you. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [10.55 am] 

 

MS SCOTT:   The Council’s next witness is Mr Nilesh Redekar. 30 

 

<NILESH REDEKAR, sworn [10.56 am] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS SCOTT [10.56 am] 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, good morning, Mr Redekar, can you confirm that 

you have prepared one Statement of Evidence dated 11 March 2015? 

 5 

MR REDEKAR:   Yes, thank you. 

 

MS SCOTT:   And that your qualifications and experience are set out in the 

introductory section of that evidence? 

 10 

MR REDEKAR:   Yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Do you have any corrections to make to that statement? 

 

MR REDEKAR:   No. 15 

 

MS SCOTT:   If you could confirm that to the best of your knowledge and 

belief that your statement is true and correct? 

 

MR REDEKAR:   Yes. 20 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, if you could give a brief highlight summary of your 

evidence to the Panel and then answer any questions that they have of 

you. 

 25 

MR REDEKAR:   Thank you.  Good morning.  The traffic analysis that I 

carried out is based on the attachment 2 of my evidence. The plan 

shows green are the RMDA areas are residential medium density zones 

and the potential redevelopment.  I engaged QTP to do the modelling 

assessment, I reviewed the report early and I agree with their analysis 30 

and I have used that as basis of my evidence.   

 

 The area shown in the yellow and grey areas in the plan have been 

considered as the basis of my analysis or these are the areas that are 

being considered as the proposed intensification.  In general as it can be 35 

seen in the plan it calculates to nearly 130 hectares which comes to 

about 1,900 additional households, and it is increases to a significant 

amount of 1,500 two (INDISTINCT 3.23) vehicle trips 

(INDISTINCT 3.23) the car.   

 40 

 We used the Christchurch assignment simulation graphic model as a 

basis for the analysis, however, the 1,500 two (INDISTINCT 3.36) 

trips being considered in the analysis as it can be seen they are wide 

spread over the entire city area. The modelling confirms that that the 

traffic volumes that are compared to the RMD rezoning are small, 45 

being no greater than 200 vehicles per day two way (ph 3.59), or 20 
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acres per hour.  The major concentration or the major traffic changes 

are observed in the north west (INDISTINCT 4.09) area, however, the 

effects are still minimum.   

 

 Overall, the modelling also confirms that the traffic delays or the 5 

increase in travel time is still less than five seconds, and some areas, to 

be precise, in the (INDISTINCT 4.27) areas it is more than five 

seconds, but the way modelling shows those data is all based on that, 

but in my knowledge it is not really significant.   

 10 

 Just to conclude, I also looked at the overall network efficiency benefits 

based on the travel time and travel distance savings that are contributed 

to the modelling, and it accounts to nearly one to two million per 

annum of monetised benefits based on only big peak hour traffic 

analyses.  Thank you. 15 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Dr Mitchell? 

 

  [11.00 am] 

 20 

DR MITCHELL:   Thank you, sir.  Good morning, I have just got one 

question, Mr Redekar, please.  Your evidence focuses on the residential 

medium density zone. 

 

MR REDEKAR:   Yes. 25 

 

DR MITCHELL:   The evidence of Dr Fairgray and Mr Schellekens both 

identify that a large part of the redevelopment in Christchurch will 

actually happen from intensification through the entire residential zone 

and that the RMD zone is a relatively small contributor to the overall 30 

area of land.  Have you given any attention to the wider redevelopment 

implications on traffic within Christchurch rather than just within the 

RMD zone? 

 

MR REDEKAR:   Yes, actually as my traffic report suggests that we have 35 

looked at 2021, 2031 and 2041 horizon years.  In our models we have 

with all these years to the present short term, intermediate term and 

long term transportation impact.  The analysis is totally based on the 

UDS rapid land use recovery land use data which actually looks into all 

of these areas.  So in order to come up with these benefits that I stated 40 

before we have some matrix calculation in order to mitigate that in 

order to have an equal amount of development within the Christchurch 

area.   

 

DR MITCHELL:   So how would you describe the effects on the transportation 45 

network of the 23,700 additional households that are being 
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contemplated?  And if you could refer me to a part of your evidence or 

the report where I can find that it would be helpful but I haven’t been 

able to find it in my reading thus far.  It may be that I have just run out 

of steam reading all the evidence. 

 5 

MR REDEKAR:   No, sir, my analysis or this particular analysis is totally 

focused on the RMD areas and that is why I haven’t really considered 

or I haven’t really given the wider implication of the overall growth 

that has been observed all over the Canterbury Region or the UDS 

region.   10 

 

 However, if we looked at the entire city and the future growth that has 

been considered within the model there are lots of areas which actually 

are under pressure.  Having said that the LTP and the NZTA 

commitments – NZTA have committed to the future projects such as 15 

the Northern Arterial, Northern Arterial extension and other city-wide 

improvements to mitigate some of those measures.  So that all has been 

considered within the modelling areas and that is why there is not really 

focus in the report. 

 20 

DR MITCHELL:   So what assumptions have you made about redevelopment 

in the wider city when considering the traffic implications of the RMD 

zone?  That is what I am trying to get my head around because it is not 

explicit that I can see in your evidence? 

 25 

MR REDEKAR:   Sir, with regards to wider growth areas everything is based 

on rapid land use recovery or the rapid land use database that has been 

accepted by the UDS group.  After the Canterbury earthquakes the 

entire UDS Group, Urban Development Strategy which includes 

Christchurch City Council, Waimakariri, Selwyn District Council, 30 

ECan and all other key stakeholders, they all agreed upon the amount 

of development that would offer within the transportation zones, and 

the analysis is based on those (INDISTINCT 3.58) which assumes a 

certain amount of traffic growth. 

 35 

 I think there is another report which includes the wider implication and 

the general modelling exemptions.  I am happy to bring a copy of that 

report if it is really required. 

 

SJH:   Well, perhaps, Ms Scott, if you want it made available, Dr Mitchell, we 40 

could have a copy made available. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   I think it would just be helpful for context and the reason 

for asking the questions is I am a visitor to Christchurch but I come in 

from the airport and go back again and the traffic at the moment, you 45 

would have to say, is not flash.   
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SJH:   Start coming in from North Canterbury and it is even worse. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   And I guess what I am trying to wonder is just what the 

benchmark against these incremental changes that you are talking 5 

about, what is assumed to be happening in regard to fixing up the 

current problems?  And you are talking about a small increment from 

your evidence on the RMD zone but I am trying to understand what the 

baseline against which you are assessing.  That is the nature of the 

question, if there is a report that puts that into context that would be 10 

really helpful please? 
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  [11.05 am] 

 

MR REDEKAR:   Sir, I understand that and I will definitely pass it on, the 

appropriate report. 

 5 

DR MITCHELL:   Thank you. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Just one question, Mr Redekar, and it follows on. In 

paragraph 3.10 of your executive summary, this is where you briefly 

look at – and the report does – look at the benefits or the efficiency, 10 

like the other side of the coin in terms of having additional RMD 

rezoning, and I understand from your answer to the previous questions 

is that if you took the baseline, based on the UDS accepted distribution 

of traffic over the incremental years, and then substituted some of that 

population growth into the additional RMD zones, that would have a 15 

benefit in terms of $1-$2 million per annum? 

 

MR REDEKAR:   Yes, ma’am. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So you have taken the same population, instead of having it 20 

dispersed, you have concentrated it? 

 

MR REDEKAR:   Yes, I did. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And that is what creates the benefit? 25 

 

MR REDEKAR:   Yes, it does. In general I am just giving you a quick 

overview of how the modelling has been done within the model. We 

have Christchurch transport model, which is a strategic model, which 

makes key assumptions about how much growth we will expect on 30 

those long term, immediate term and the short term (INDISTINCT 

1.55) years, and based on that the population has been dispersed 

between those brownfield or greenfield areas in the model zones, and 

as the future – and then the whole four stage analysis been carried out 

and that considers that the allotment will happen based on lots of other 35 

sort of criteria that has been coded within the model.  

 

 So what I did is because we will be having X amount of – to be more 

precise, nearly 19,000 households within these located areas, so I just 

take out an equal amount of proportion from elsewhere within those 40 

greenfield areas and that actually generates these additional travel time 

and travel distance savings. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, thank you, that is helpful. Thank you very much. 

 45 
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MR SAX:   Yes, perhaps just really a question for my benefit, or the Panel’s 

benefit, I sense from Mr Blair’s evidence that the changing behaviour 

of people where communities are shifting quite considerably, where 

more people are working from home today and technology is doing 

that, in your modelling are you factoring that in or are you really just 5 

taking straight linear and not accounting for the behavioural shift that is 

emerging globally? 

 

MR REDEKAR:   Sir, there are two ways we can actually consider this in the 

analysis and the methodology that I adopted is based on looking at the 10 

trip rates for New Zealand wide area, then Australasia and then the 

world wide area, and based on that we use a point eight per household 

trip rate, I believe that this is the best suited for the current conditions. 

However, I totally agree with you, there is some sensitivity associated 

with the availability of other modes of travel as well as how flexible 15 

they will get with regards to their work areas as well. 

 

 The second method is, of course, to use the four stage modelling 

approach where the model actually gives you the appropriate trip rates 

for the given zone, however we know that the CDMA is likely 20 

insensitive towards these public transport and other modes of share and 

other attributes, so that is why I believe that the trip rates that we use in 

this analysis will represent those sorts of areas quite well. 

 

MR SAX:   Perhaps, one slightly – a question slightly differently, we have all 25 

seen a significant change globally of the time that people will travel, so 

does that feature in your modelling at all? 

 

MR REDEKAR:   It is a generalised approach that we consider in this area and 

the reason we looked at the different trip rates within the – well, the 30 

world wide area such as trip rate database, which has been developed in 

the UK and along that region, so we use – I looked into those ideas as 

well, and we used the optimum, perhaps the worst-case scenario for 

this analysis. So that would be the maximum, perhaps, we can expect, 

based on the data that I have.  So it is just the, sort of, the worst-case 35 

scenario approach that we took in the analysis, not the too optimistic 

approach, perhaps. 

 

  [11.00 am] 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Redekar, I just want to follow up on just one thing. It 

possibly is just a matter of clarification arising from Ms Dawson’s 

question to you a minute ago, and she referred you to your paragraph 

3.10 of your evidence where you talk about the modelled figure of $1-

$2 million per annum of monetized benefits arising from the RMD 45 

zoning. So before the Panel, we have got evidence which is dealing 
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with the risk, if you like, that developers will not take up the 

opportunity to develop in that intensified area, rather than they may 

prefer to develop in the greenfield areas.  If we were looking to find a 

number that represented that risk, a dollar number, am I right to refer to 

your paragraph 3.10 and say is that $1-$2 million per annum what the 5 

model would suggest is the monetized number or risk associated with 

the potential for developers to prefer to greenfields development and 

not proceed with intensification development in the way the Plan 

intends?  Is that how much it costs, in a modelled sense? 

 10 

MR REDEKAR:   Yes, sir. In a way, what this analysis does is it actually tries 

to balance out all the development that will happen in those future 

years, and it tries to sum up or tries to bring out that equilibrium 

approach where the total number will be same in terms of the 

population and household growth. So what this particular number 15 

indicates is if the intensification is happened as been proposed or has 

been considered in those Plan areas, then yes, we will get $1-$2 million 

per annum.  But the model benefits that we looked at are totally based 

on travel time and travel distance savings. There are other benefits that 

we might also want to consider, and I have looked at only peak hour 20 

benefits, but whereas in a real sense, we really want to look at the entire 

day of traffic and then bring out those numbers. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, and if you look at peak hour, just so that I can get a 

sense of how this compares.  Rather than looking at the benefits here in 25 

monetized terms of the RMD rezoning, if you were to assume that 

developers do not take up the opportunity to develop in those areas, but 

rather prefer to develop in the greenfield areas because it is easier for a 

range of reasons, are you in a position to guide us on what that cost 

might represent in terms of an annual monetized amount?  Is it 1.2?  Is 30 

it higher?  And if so, how significantly higher, if one assumes the RMD 

zoning will not be taken up in the way intended? Or is it too hard 

because you have not modelled it? 

 

MR REDEKAR:   Sorry, that is a little bit difficult because I have only 35 

considered morning peak hour and evening peak hour, whereas as you 

know that the traffic varies, especially in a busy city as Christchurch, 

and then the impacts can be different.  However, they will be ranged 

between $1-$2 million because this is kind of a wider area and yes, I 

agree that in traffic modelling perspective, the benefits would be $1.2 40 

million so the risk would be ranging between $1-$2 million.  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Anything arising, Ms Scott? 

 

MS SCOTT:   No thank you, sir. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. You may stand down and we will take the 

morning adjournment for 15 minutes, thank you. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [11.09 am] 

 5 

ADJOURNED [11.09 am] 

 

RESUMED [11.31 am] 

 

SJH:   Yes, thank you.  Yes, Ms Scott? 10 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, sir, the Council’s next witness is Mr Brian Norton. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 15 

<ROBERT BRIAN NORTON, affirmed [11.32 am] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS SCOTT [11.32 am] 

 

MS SCOTT:   Good morning, Mr Norton.  Can you confirm that you have 

prepared two statements, one in-chief dated 11 March 2015, and the 

second, a rebuttal statement dated 25 March? 5 

 

MR NORTON:   Yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   And that your qualifications and experience are set out in the 

introduction section of your evidence-in-chief? 10 

 

MR NORTON:   Yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Do you have any corrections to make to your evidence? 

 15 

MR NORTON:   No. 

 

MS SCOTT:   If you could confirm, Mr Norton, that your evidence is true and 

correct to the best of your knowledge and belief? 

 20 

MR NORTON:   Yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you.  If you could just provide a short highlights package 

of your evidence and then answer any questions. 

 25 

MR NORTON:   Thank you. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you. 

 

MR NORTON:   Good morning, my evidence is specifically in the context of 30 

the intensification portion and deals with stormwater servicing.  

Intensification of residential sites creates more impervious surfaces in 

the form roofs, driveways, car parking and concrete patios.  A more 

impervious surface generates more stormwater runoff, both the rate and 

the total volume.   35 

 

 If there is available network capacity the additional runoff can simply 

be accepted into the stormwater network.  Where network capacity is 

not adequate, however, the cumulative effects of increased stormwater 

runoff can cause more frequent and severe flooding, erosion and 40 

contamination of receiving water.  This can adversely affect the City 

Council’s ability to maintain a level of service standard in the network, 

potentially jeopardise its objectives under a relevant stormwater 

management plan or cause the City Council to become non-compliant 

in its network discharge consent. 45 
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 Developments adding additional impervious surfaces are therefore 

assessed at time of resource or building consent by Council engineers.  

Information about site coverage, performance of the local network, 

flood modelling and analysis of historic flooding complaints are 

considered as part of those applications. 5 

 

 If sufficient network capacity is not available or the effects of the 

development are anticipated to contribute to an existing flooding 

problem then the developments may be required to provide onsite 

stormwater mitigation or engage in building techniques that reduce 10 

their runoff.   

 

  [11.35 am] 

 

 Use of such systems or techniques, sometimes referred to as low impact 15 

design, water sensitive design, source control or best management 

practices are commonly used internationally and can include things like 

above and below ground storage tanks for rainwater, permeable 

pavement, vegetated roofs or infiltration systems. 

 20 

 The availability of these techniques for onsite stormwater mitigation 

means that I do not consider stormwater network capacity to 

necessarily be a substantial impediment to residential intensification.  

However, most of these systems will increase the cost and complexity 

of development and may be difficult to implement on very small sites.   25 

That is it, thank you. 

 

SJH:   Mr Radich? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR CARRANCEJA [11.36 am] 30 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Mr Carranceja, sir.  Thank you.  Good morning, 

Mr Norton. 

 

MR NORTON:   Thank you.  In your evidence at 4.13 you mention that 35 

widespread intensification could lead to decreased network 

performance and that sort of thing.  You talk about decreased network 

performance, increased frequency and extent of flooding et cetera and 

that relates to widespread intensification.  What I would like to talk to 

you about though is about integrating intensification with stormwater 40 

infrastructure so that it can work, and I wanted to talk to you about 

management techniques for that.  

 

 So the first point I would like to just question you on is to ensure that 

infrastructure is directed to where stormwater capacity is available, and 45 

a good technique to do that is to direct intensification using zones to 
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where there is no stormwater network issue, is that an acceptable 

technique?  Rather than having it widespread you direct it to where 

there is capacity? 

 

MR NORTON:   Directing - - - 5 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Intensification. 

 

MR NORTON:   - - - intensification to areas where there is available network 

capacity would create simpler development processes. 10 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes.  Now, another thing I would like to talk to you 

about is potentially some constraints in the Council’s stormwater 

network, they could be temporary, they could be alleviated through 

further works, isn’t that the case?  You could increase capacity in the 15 

stormwater network run by the Council? 

 

MR NORTON:   That is correct. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   And so if the Council has works in place or plans in 20 

place to alleviate capacity in a stormwater network in a particular area, 

wouldn’t a technique to again integrate that upcoming capacity with 

new intensification is to perhaps use a deferred zone or a deferred rule 

so that intensification can be directed there once the network shortage 

has been addressed through further works? 25 

 

MR NORTON:   Well, I guess since my evidence does not suggest that 

intensification should be limited by network capacity for stormwater, I 

do not know how that would help. 

 30 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Well, for example – I take your point - but if, for 

example, a developer wanted to rely on the Council stormwater 

network rather than, say, onsite network, and the Council did have 

plans in, say, five years’ time to address a network capacity issue, 

wouldn’t one way to again integrate intensification with stormwater 35 

infrastructure to use a deferred zone to say, “Well, if the network is 

going to be fixed with additional capacity in five years’ time, why 

don’t we enable intensification to occur in that area in five years’ time” 

using, say, a deferred zone or a deferred rule? 

 40 

MR NORTON:   If there were areas that were at any time I guess not available 

to be developed that we could defer zoning for a later date in those 

areas, it is a possibility. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes.  The other aspect about intensification is there is 45 

this other evidence, I do not want to question you on this in particular, 
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but if you accept for now that intensification tends to happen over time, 

it is not like a greenfield situation where it can be developed quickly.   

 

 But if you assume for the moment that intensification can happen over 

a period of time, in terms of the impact of, if you like, slow moving 5 

intensification on the stormwater network there would be quite a 

number of management techniques to ensure that a Council owned 

network does not get overrun with discharges over that intensification 

period? 

 10 

  [11.40 am] 

 

MR NORTON:    What would those techniques be? 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:    I am asking you; are you aware of any techniques that 15 

could allow that to occur? 

 

MR NORTON:   We would be concerned about cumulative effects; so any area 

where we would not have available capacity or where there is identified 

flooding at the moment, we would require any projects intensifying in 20 

those areas to mitigate onsite or engage in some integrated process to 

address their effects. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, well let us say for example, in a particular area 

you might have a limited amount of capacity, and say, because of 25 

intensification taking a while, it might take, say, five years for that 

capacity to be used for intensification because intensification takes a bit 

of time. 

 

 You would not necessarily say, “We should stop intensification until 30 

5,000 households are capable of being located there.  There is 500 

now.” Are there any management techniques to enable that 500 to 

occur now and then as works occur over a period of time, you enable 

more intensification to occur? 

 35 

MR NORTON:   I guess I would say the only things that would affect the 

ability of us to provide additional capacity would be works that are 

taking place under the Land Drainage Recovery Plan, particularly 

dealing with flooding in Flockton Basin and Dudley Creek, and so on.  

So there is not a widespread programme of increased stormwater 40 

network capacity at the moment.  I would say that modelling of the 

stormwater system is an ongoing process, so I guess if we are not 

proposing to restrict development based on stormwater network 

capacity, then why would we want to defer zoning in particular areas? 

Are you saying allow development in certain areas without any onsite 45 

mitigation required, make that part of the plan? 
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MR CARRANCEJA:   No, I am not suggesting that at all, but I would like to 

move back to onsite mitigation and you have raised a good point, of 

course, that you are not seeking constraint per se, but you do talk about 

the provision of onsite facilities as a way to mitigation the stormwater 5 

going into the stormwater network owned by the Council. 

 

MR NORTON:   Yes. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Correct.  You did mention that there could be an added 10 

cost associated with that, by a developer, but you are not suggesting 

that it would be cost prohibitive for a developer to do so. 

 

MR NORTON:   I have not suggested that, but it is possible that 

implementation of the necessary onsite stormwater mitigation could 15 

make it economically unviable in particular cases, yes. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, but then the corollary of course is that, for a 

developer who might be facing, for example, no alternative to 

development due to say – if the Council’s network has insufficient 20 

capacity in a particular area, a developer could still be free to determine 

that in terms of cost benefit, it would be worthwhile inserting onsite 

mitigation to alleviate that Council network issue, say stormwater 

detention ponds, etcetera, so that this discharges occur when there is 

capacity. 25 

 

MR NORTON:   Sorry, could you repeat the question please? 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   My question is, from a developer’s point of view; 

undertaking a cost benefit analysis, they may still find it worthwhile to 30 

insert onsite mitigation to enable, whether it is greenfields or an 

intensification development, notwithstanding that there might be a 

Council network shortage or unavailability in a given area? 

 

MR NORTON:   I agree that a developer could provide their own onsite 35 

stormwater mitigation in order to make their development happen, yes. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   I do have one more question.  Just in terms of 

brownfields, you did mention that briefly in your opening, just in terms 

of the main types of development you have brownfields, greenfields, 40 

and intensification. 

 

  [11.45 am] 

 

 From a Council stormwater network perspective, would you confirm 45 

that brown fields is probably more of the one of potentially most 
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efficient way of creating more development, because what you are 

essentially doing is, if you direct development towards a brown field 

area, the development is replacing stormwater capacity that was 

previously used? 

 5 

MR NORTON:   In some cases that may be true, particularly if you have got 

brown fields redevelopment of commercial areas that would be going 

residential. 

 

 On the other hand, some brown fields development actually creates 10 

more pollution generating impervious surfaces, like car parking, for 

example.  In that case, those areas may actually need to provide storm 

water treatment on site.  So I can’t categorically say that brown fields 

will always be a better use of the infrastructure. 

 15 

MR CARRANCEJA:   But generally speaking, compared to, say, 

intensification or green fields, you would expect that brown fields 

would tend to be more efficient and effective. 

 

MR NORTON:   I would say more efficient in terms of stormwater quantity. 20 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes.  Thank you, no further questions. 

 

SJH: Ms Walsh? 

 25 

MS WALSH:   No, sir, I have withdrawn my examination. 

 

SJH:   I see, thank you.  Dr Mitchell? 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Thank you, sir, good morning, Mr Norton.  Just by way of 30 

context, four years on from the particularly damaging earthquakes, how 

would you describe the state of repair of the cities storm water network 

at the present time? 

 

MR NORTON:   The storm water network survived probably better than the 35 

waste water network.  I think at this point SCIRT is somewhere around 

50% complete with horizontal infrastructure, in terms of repair.  One of 

the things that is not part of SCIRT’s programme is the water ways, so 

City Council is still managing and repairing water ways.   

 40 

 What we found after the earthquakes was that, um, open water ways 

generally performed better than the pipe systems, because they were 

able to continue to function as a conveyance system, whereas the pipe 

system a lot of times would actually come to a complete blockage.   

 45 
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 In all, most of the damage we have seen has been cracks in pipes and 

dislocated joints.  A couple of damaged pump stations had walls 

cracked things like that, not serious stoppages to any part of the 

network.  One of the primary issues I think we are facing is the 

settlement of land, more so than damage to the actual network. 5 

 

DR MITCHELL:   And how would you describe its efficacy now? Is it fully 

functioning, partially functioning? 

 

MR NORTON:   I would say the network is partially functioning.  Probably 10 

70%, say, capacity.  There are issues, say, in New Brighton, where 

we’ve had to install storm water ponds with pump systems in order to 

maintain the level of service that was pre-quake.  So there are some big 

projects that need to get done, but, for the most part, the network is 

functional. 15 

 

DR MITCHELL:   And they are geographically isolated, it’s not uniform 

across the city? 

 

MR NORTON:   That is right. 20 

 

DR MITCHELL:   There is areas that are working perfectly acceptably, and 

others that you have to sort out? 

 

MR NORTON:   There was very little damage in the west and a lot more in the 25 

east. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Thank you, that is helpful.  At paragraph 4.15 and 4.16 you 

talk about the sorts of individual site management measures that might 

be required and you list those, rain tanks, so on and so forth. 30 

 

MR NORTON:   Yes. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   And you also, in those same paragraphs, talk about the 

potential overlap between the Building Act and the resource consent 35 

process, or the resource management process? 

 

MR NORTON:   Yes. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Other than controls over impervious surfaces, what do you 40 

believe needs to be in the District Plan in relation to storm water 

management, either assessment matters or assessment criteria, above 

and beyond those that are dealt with the in the Building Act process. 
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MR NORTON:   My feeling is that the resource consents that City Council 

hold for their network discharge actually provide quite a robust and 

flexible way of managing storm water in the city. 

 

  [11.50 am] 5 

 

 My feeling is that adding additional rules to the plan would actually 

make development more complicated because there would be some 

rules in the plan and some under the consent and some in the Building 

Act so we have really tried to make the City Council’s stormwater 10 

management plans comprehensive and fairly simple to deal with from 

the developers end.  I really have encouraged fewer rules in the plan 

regarding stormwater. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   So just taking that a little bit further, less as opposed to 15 

none, where in that spectrum are you?  Because my reading of the 

proposal as modified most recently is that other than site coverage there 

are no specific stormwater standards as such and is it your view that the 

Building Act is the proper place for those? 

 20 

MR NORTON:   I think in the plan we could benefit from rules that give effect 

to our stormwater management plans and other standards, such as the 

infrastructure design standard and the waterways and wetlands drainage 

guide.   

 25 

DR MITCHELL:   So when you come to the possible implantation of the 

matters that are listed in your paragraph 4.15, the rain tanks and so on 

and so forth, what is it in a regulatory sense that triggers the need for 

one or more of those and what statutory process does the Council 

follow in determining what is to be done and where? 30 

 

MR NORTON:   Right, so there are two ways that those could be implemented.  

One is through the building consent process and the other is to do with 

the resource consent process.  Either way, both processes require 

permission from the network utility operator to connect to the network.  35 

When the City Council allows a developer to connect to the network 

they become a sort of a third party licensee to the network discharge 

consent and so if the City Council is sort of the consent holder, then 

they set the conditions of which people can connect.  So that is the 

process that we are using now to review applications for subdivision 40 

and for building consent. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   So you do it to both, you do it twice?  At subdivision 

consent and at consent stage? 

 45 
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MR NORTON:   Well subdivision is done usually at subdivision stage and then 

building consents are able to be issued without any further input from 

us. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   When does a developer, though, know with some certainty 5 

about what it is in terms of self-mitigation that he or she is required to 

implement? 

 

MR NORTON:   We encourage the developers to come to us as early as 

possible so pre-application we would be there to offer advice at pre-10 

application to let people know what would be required.  Under the 

subdivision process it would come in the form of RFI and conditions to 

that subdivision consent so I think it is, until an application is actually 

made it is up to the developer to sort of seek that information out.   

 15 

DR MITCHELL:   If some of the proposals that we are considering are 

intensification that might not require subdivision, it might but let us 

assume that it doesn’t, it might be amalgamation of titles or something 

like that then you can put multiple units on and so forth.  How would 

the Council see, in a resource management sense, stormwater from 20 

those sorts of activities being regulated so that the person that is 

developing that development has some certainty about what it is they 

are required to do and not be subject to multiple regulation dealing with 

the same point? 

 25 

MR NORTON:   I think that it being involved in the resource consent process 

at an early stage to give advice on the stormwater, we would give them 

the conditions that would need to be met in order to connect to the 

network. 

 30 

DR MITCHELL:   So it would be outside the resource consent process, it 

would be simply saying as a matter of contract or whatever else, if you 

want to hook up to our network, this is what you have to do in order to 

do it?  It will actually be a consent condition or how do you see that 

working? 35 

 

MR NORTON:   We have done it through land use consent conditions, and 

then if we do not do it through a land use consent, we would do it at 

time of building consent.   

 40 

DR MITCHELL:   All right, thank you, Mr Norton, thank you, sir. 

 

  [11.55 am] 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, Mr Norton.  Just following on from that, the 45 

Council’s stormwater discharge consents from its network, do they 
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typically contain conditions on the Council as the consent holder which 

direct the Council to impose conditions on third parties that then 

connect to your network? 

 

MR NORTON:   In most cases, yes, so lots of our global stormwater consents 5 

that we hold have specific conditions on how individual site 

development needs to progress in order for it to be compliant.   

 

MS DAWSON:   And then you would need to impose those on the developers 

either through the land use consent if there is one, subdivision or land 10 

use, or through building consent? 

 

MR NORTON:   Yes, ma’am. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And what sorts of things?  Can you give us some examples of 15 

typical requirements that you then pass on as conditions? 

 

MR NORTON:   Well for subdivision we tried to take an integrated approach 

to stormwater management so we would attempt to have a facility built 

that would provide the water quantity and water quality mitigation 20 

necessary to manage that subdivision.  In a lot of cases in the south 

west area particularly and moving forward into the Styx area we will 

have large regional facilities that are dedicated to mitigating large 

catchments of development.  Most of this is green fields but some of it 

contains retrofit for existing development, so that would be the 25 

subdivision approach.   

 

 For individual building consents we have had lots of intensification 

applications coming through already and we have required above 

ground rain tanks in lots of cases.  We have got some developers that 30 

are using permeable pavement like paver blocks with sand in between 

to allow water to soak through.  I think we have done vegetated roof, 

and we have done lots of infiltration as well so in areas where the soil 

and the water table is amenable we have done disposal to ground. 

 35 

MS DAWSON:   What I am interested in is how you make the connection; 

what are the conditions on your consents that you then use as the lever 

or the requirement that then allows you to calculate or assess what is 

required on the individual site.  What sort of conditions are you aiming 

to achieve in other words? 40 

 

MR NORTON:   Right, as an example we have an interim consent that covers 

the bulk of the city outside of south western Styx where we have got 

other global consents operating under the global interim consent.  Say a 

project that is residential and it is over 5,000 square metres so it is 45 

maybe a small subdivision or a multi-unit site, they would need to 
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provide sufficient on site storage so that their repeat discharge does not 

exceed pre-developed for all storm events up to a 50 year return period 

and they would need to provide first flush treatment of their hard stand 

run off prior to discharge. 

 5 

MS DAWSON:   So those are the sorts of quality and quantity conditions on 

you that you then need to ensure are implemented through whatever 

standards you put on others. 

 

MR NORTON:   Yes, ma’am. 10 

 

MS DAWSON:   Just one further question, please.  In say a medium density 

redevelopment within the existing urban area, in order to allow for the 

onsite low impact design techniques to be implemented, does it mean 

the need to be some limitations on the amount of coverage of that site 15 

by buildings, for example, in order to ensure, is there some limit to how 

much space is needed on those sites in order to implement these 

techniques, should they be needed if there isn’t sufficient network 

capacity?   

 20 

MR NORTON:   That is a little bit of a complicated question because I think it 

comes down to; yes, I have got to factor in the economic viability as 

well.  Above ground rain tanks for example are relatively cheap and 

they work well but they require a reasonably large footprint so they 

would have to design their site to accommodate that tank if that was the 25 

method they chose to mitigate their peak flows. 

 

 There are options for underground storage in some cases but because of 

the low hydraulic head of the city those types of systems may require 

pumping to operate correctly so we have seen a couple of underground 30 

tanks used, they can put them under driveways, on parking areas, things 

like that. 

 

  [12.00 pm] 

 35 

 But yes, there is an additional cost and a lot of times, a space 

requirement for these types of techniques.  Permeable pavement 

obviously replaces sealed pavement so there is no additional 

requirement there.  Vegetative roofs replace steel roofs, so there is not 

an additional space requirement but there is additional cost. 40 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you very much.  That is all. 

 

SJH:   Mr Sax? 

 45 
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MR SAX:   Yes, good morning.  Just a couple of questions, Mr Norton.  I have 

not seen any geological maps of the areas, particularly firstly with 

intensification.  So geological means the permeability of the ground, so 

being able to discharge directly. 

 5 

 Do you have those, or has that been modelled?  Because that has a 

significant bearing on a lot of the discussion we are having. 

 

MR NORTON:   We have got maps showing which areas of the city are, say, 

amenable for infiltration and we use those.  All of our discharge 10 

consents actually have that same map attached to them. 

 

 So areas out toward the airport where you have unconfined aquifer 

gravels, deep-ground water, they are perfect for infiltration.  As you 

move into the city you get confined aquifer but you do have spots 15 

where it works if it is done right.  And then more towards the coast 

there are sandy areas where infiltration can work as well. 

 

MR SAX:   Just trying to understand the broader principles of what is in the 

greater good for Christchurch and its design.  A lot of water was taken 20 

from the aquifer, from groundwater, so does the Council consider it a 

good objective to try and recharge the aquifer as much as possible? So 

where there is an opportunity to design infiltration, is that considered a 

good principle? 

 25 

MR NORTON:   For the most part it is, and it is actually in our stormwater 

strategy to do that.  It needs to be done carefully in the unconfined 

aquafer because you have the potential to actually put contaminants 

into groundwater, but in the confined aquafer, if the conditions are 

suitable then we would definitely encourage infiltration to be used. 30 

 

MR SAX:   In terms of principles as well, in terms of cost effectiveness of the 

options, I know we have talked a lot of things which I understand are 

pretty expensive to do, but compared with infrastructure designed on a 

macro basis as opposed to other treatments such as infiltration, is there 35 

much work done on that to say, “These are good guiding principles that 

would provide a more cost effective solution for that community”? 

 

MR NORTON:   I think the City Council’s policy toward greenfields 

development is for integrated mitigation.  What we are talking about 40 

with the intensification is really looking at already developed areas, so 

our options are already limited right off the bat by not having space, 

really, to build large facilities.  The waterways, wetlands and drainage 

guide that the city has actually lays out the goods and bads of doing 

certain types of mitigation, and it is quite useful for that. 45 
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MR SAX:   Perhaps one final question just in terms of aesthetics, and being a 

visitor to Christchurch, some of the attenuation ponds are remarkably 

ugly, and that is maybe a personal view, but what is being done about 

getting beautification of a famous city and trying to minimise these 

ugly, rather unkempt puddles that seem to be starting to appear, 5 

particularly in greenfield sites? 

 

MR NORTON:   The City Council has an approach called multi-value 

stormwater where we look at not just the drainage function, but also 

adding recreational and landscape and ecological values to our 10 

facilities.  I think the way that facilities like, say, Awatea and Lower 

Milns and those types that are built recently in the last, probably, five 

to 10 years, particular in the southwest, are actually quite attractive.   

 

 They are very useful, you see people walking their dogs through them 15 

and kids kicking balls around and stuff like that.  So I think by utilising 

green space for stormwater management and a recreation function, that 

it is actually a good use of the land. 

 

MR SAX:   Thank you. 20 

 

SJH:   Judge? 

 

  [12.05 pm] 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Chairman.   Just following up on that, Mr 

Norton, so presumably in terms of green field development the 

expectation would generally be towards onsite treatment, for large sites 

that’s typically what you would expect, isn’t it, that there would be on 

site treatment for green fields? 30 

 

MR NORTON:   I guess, define what you mean by on site.  Not on individual 

building sites, but within the development. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I will frame it in a different way, because I just want 35 

to explore this issue of the way on site treatment works.  My operating 

assumption would be that in the large green field developments around 

the city there’s more likely an expectation of onsite treatment of some 

kind rather than use of the Council stormwater disposal system.  Would 

that generally be fair as a starting assumption? You would typically 40 

have onsite treatment used in large greenfield sites? 

 

MR NORTON:   I typically refer to the term onsite treatment in the context of, 

say, a single dwelling. 

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Well let’s just frame it another way, then.  You would 

expect there to be treatment of stormwater that doesn’t involve using 

the Council reticulated system? 

 

MR NORTON:   In a subdivision, the network that they build becomes an 5 

extension of the City Council network. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, well I will frame it a different way, then.  I want 

you to assume that there are onsite stormwater ponds, as per your 

discussion with Mr Sax. 10 

 

MR NORTON:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, that is reasonably common?  Yes or no? 

 15 

MR NORTON:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right, and what you have said is, I think, as opposed to 

them being necessarily ugly, the Council has a policy towards multi use 

and ecological treatment of them? 20 

 

MR NORTON:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I’m wondering about how that affects the question of bird 

strike risk.  Do you have any information on that in terms of, for 25 

instance, does the treatment of stormwater ponds to achieve those 

ecological ends mean that there is an elevated risk of bird strike? 

 

MR NORTON:   I am not an ornithologist. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, don’t answer it as an ornithologist – don’t answer as 

an expert in that area, and I cannot even say the word – in your 

experience, is it an issue? 

 

MR NORTON:   My understanding of the bird strike issue is related to free 35 

ponding of water and the attraction of water fowl to ponded water.  Our 

approach generally to facilities is dry facilities, facilities that drain out 

over a period of time or infiltrate to ground. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right, so that was where I was heading with my thinking 40 

and you have helped me there, so are there times when, for instance 

during heavy rain events and so forth, when there will be ponding 

before it drains away? 

 

MR NORTON:   Yes. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   And during those times, are there bird strike issues which 

the Council has encountered with those systems. 

 

MR NORTON:   I am not aware of any specific bird strike issues related to 

Council ponds. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And has there been any form, as far as you are aware of 

engagement by the airport with the Council stormwater team on this 

topic? 

 10 

MR NORTON:   Absolutely, the airport make submission on all of our 

stormwater management plan consents about how long they think 

stormwater should be able to pond before it drains away some way.  

Conveniently, the areas of the city that are closest to the airport are 

areas that are also amenable to infiltration, so a lot of our basins and 15 

facilities that we are building out that way, actually drain away within 

24-48 hours. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   If one was to define a 13 kilometre circle around the 

airport, what is your answer. 20 

 

MR NORTON:   A thirteen kilometre circle around the airport would seriously 

endanger the City Council’s approach to stormwater management 

because there are ponds built, planned and being built within that area. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And that area of convenient infiltration coincident with 

the airport location, how wide is that circle, more or less? 

 

MR NORTON:   I couldn’t say off the top of my head, in the neighbourhood of 

two to three kilometres, probably. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Mr Norton, your general proposition is that stormwater capacity 

constraints are not a hindrance to intensification? 35 

 

MR NORTON:   That is right. 

 

SJH:   I just want to turn for a moment to the evidence you address in your 

rebuttal evidence from Housing New Zealand, and it seems to be more 40 

around the intensification of capacity and you are somewhat critical of 

the Housing Corporation approach.  One of the areas they have suffered 

disproportion damage from the earthquake was community and social 

housing, wasn’t it? 

 45 

  [12.10 pm] 
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MR NORTON:   I am not in a position to answer. 

 

SJH:   All right, we will work on the assumption it was, and we can also 

assume, can we not, that Housing Corporation is the largest provider of 5 

that in the city.  Is there any policy in terms of your stormwater budget 

spend to prioritise capacity for areas where intensification would assist 

with the supply of community and social housing? 

 

MR NORTON:   Not that I am aware of. 10 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Carranceja, anything from that? 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   No, sir, thank you, very much. 

 15 

SJH:   Ms Scott? 

 

MS SCOTT:   No questions, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Thank you, Mr Norton, you may stand down. 20 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [12.11 pm] 

 

MS SCOTT:   The Council’s next witness is Ms Bridget O’Brien. 

 25 

<BRIDGET O’BRIEN, sworn [12.11 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS SCOTT [12.11 pm] 

 

MS SCOTT:   Good afternoon, Ms O’Brien.  Can you confirm that you have 

prepared two Statements of Evidence, the first is an updated version of 

your evidence dated 12 March 2015, the second a rebuttal statement 5 

dated 25 March 2015? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   And that your qualifications and experience are set out in section 10 

one of your Evidence in Chief? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Do you have any corrections to make to your evidence? 15 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   I do.  In my Evidence in Chief, section 1.5(b), there is a typo 

there; the Opus Memo should be November 2014, not September, and 

in response in part to the rebuttal evidence of Ms Broughton, I just wish 

to clarify my Evidence in Chief and my rebuttal evidence and to make 20 

it completely clear what I am saying in those areas. 

 

 I am referring to 8.16 and 8.16(a) in my Evidence in Chief and also 7.1 

in my rebuttal evidence, I think just above 8.16 lists the submitter 

numbers that I refer to in summary so I wish to delete submitter 25 

numbers 525, 742, and 882 from the list and I wish to replace 

paragraphs 8.16, 8.16(a) in my Evidence in Chief and 7.1 with the 

following paragraph.  I will just read it to you if that is all right: 

 

 “Most of these submissions are in support of the notified zoning in the 30 

PEDPR on planning map 31, in particular the RS zoning and in some 

areas the RSDT zoning north of Riccarton Road which largely retains 

the existing permitted density.  Submitter number 555 supports the 

notified zoning on planning map 30.  Submitter number 716 also refers 

to planning map 30 and supports have notified L2 by RSDT zoning 35 

around Church Corner but it poses the notified L3, i.e. RDM zoning”.   

 

MS SCOTT:   Ms O’Brien, if you just hold there, perhaps, sir, we could 

provide that to you in a written way, thank you. 

 40 

SJH:   That would be useful. 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Would you like me to finish reading the paragraph? 

 

MS SCOTT:   If you do finish reading it and we will get that to you today. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   In time for cross-examination? 

 

MS SCOTT:   We can get copies made for that. 

 

SJH:   If you have a copy there the secretary can run it off when you finish 5 

reading it, Ms O’Brien, so finish reading it and then we will proceed.  

 

MS O’BRIEN:   “Modelling by GHD has shown that there is only a minor 

impact from the small additional areas where there would be further 

intensification permitted in terms of the difference and extent of 10 

residential intensification between those already provided in the 

Operative City District Plan compared to those shown on the notified 

planning maps, so wastewater capacity issues do not preclude these 

areas being rezoned RMD and RSDT.” 

 15 

  [12.15 pm] 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  If we could just make that available and we will get that 

printed off, run off some extra copies for those involved in 

cross-examination as well, please. 20 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, sir.  Sir, shall we continue with the summary in the 

mean time?  Other than those corrections, Ms O’Brien, can you 

confirm that your evidence is true and correct to the best of your 

knowledge and belief? 25 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, if you could just provide the brief summary of your 

evidence and then when that information has come back you will be 30 

able to answer any questions. 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   The main purpose of a wastewater network is to convey 

wastewater - or sewage - to a wastewater treatment plant for treatment 

and disposal in a safe way which protects the public health and the 35 

environment. When the capacity of the pipes and pump stations are 

exceeded, waste water can overflow from gully traps onto private 

property, from man holes onto the street and from constructed 

overflows and pump stations to waterways.   

 40 

 This is an undesirable situation as it results in risks to public health and 

negative environmental effects. Christchurch’s wastewater network has 

capacity to convey dry weather flows, but in a big storm event it can 

become overwhelmed by stormwater inflow, for example by 

floodwater entering manholes and downpipes illegally connected to the 45 
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wastewater system, and groundwater infiltration through damaged 

pipes.   

 

 This situation has been made worse by the earthquake damage to the 

wastewater network which has resulted in an increase in inflow and 5 

infiltration. SCIRT, the Stronger Christchurch Infrastructure Team, is 

the organisation responsible for repairing the city’s horizontal 

infrastructure, including waste water. Whilst SCIRT is repairing the 

wastewater network there will still be unrepaired damage when SCIRT 

ends in 2016, and it would take the Council many years to complete the 10 

repairs, therefore, I expect that high inflow and infiltration will 

continue to be a problem.  SCIRT’s mandate has been to repair damage 

and additional capacity to accommodate growth has not been included 

in SCIRT’s work. 

 15 

 Adding extra wastewater to areas where there are capacity constraints 

will make the situation worse as extra wastewater increases the 

frequency and volume of overflows from the network. As well as the 

associated public health and environmental issues, it will make it more 

difficult for the City Council to comply with its overflow consent when 20 

the non-enforcement agreement with Environment Canterbury expires 

in March 2017. However, there are parts of the city where there is 

capacity in the wastewater network for additional flows and an 

intensification in these areas is the easiest and most efficient to 

accommodate.   25 

 

 Wastewater network modelling has shown the intensification of 

notified RMD areas will result in a 4.4 percent increase in overflow 

volume during a design storm.  I consider that this is small enough to 

be acceptable particularly as the City Council has planned projects 30 

which will reduce overflows. Wastewater network modelling has 

shown that additional intensification beyond that in the Notified 

District Plan may be able to be accommodated in areas where there is 

capacity in the wastewater network. In particular, further intensification 

could be accommodated in Halswell, Hornby, Linwood, Bromley, 35 

Merivale, Papanui, Parklands, St Albans, and part of Shirley. 

 

 However, additional intensification in some areas would result in a 

large increase in overflow volume and in my opinion this would be 

unacceptable. In particular, I do not support further intensification in 40 

Bryndwr, Bishopdale, Spreydon, Somerfield, St Martins, and part of 

Shirley to the north and west of The Palms.  There are also capacity 

constraints in the vacuum so a catchment has been built by SCIRT in 

Aranui and Shirley.   

 45 
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 While there is some capacity in some parts of these catchments, the 

actual capacity will not be known until after the systems have been 

commissioned and flow monitoring has been undertaken. There are 

major capacity issues in the Riccarton interceptor wastewater 

catchment.  However, the City Council is planning upgrades which will 5 

resolve capacity issues in the lower part of the catchment, and these are 

planned for completion by 2020.   

 

 The Council needs to consider the actual costs and benefits of 

providing additional wastewater capacity for an area, whether this is for 10 

brownfield, greenfield, or intensification areas so that the best 

outcomes are achieved within the Council’s budget. Thank you. 

 

  [12.20 pm] 

 15 

SJH:   Thank you, now is it Mr Carranceja? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR CARRANCEJA [12.20 pm] 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, good afternoon, and thank you for that summary. 20 

That was very useful. Now, the Crown is not interested in city-wide 

RMD zone. What I want to talk to you about is if the Panel were of the 

view that more RMD zones are required, they are integrating that with 

where wastewater capacity is available. You would accept that? 

 25 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   You would want to integrate the two together. 

Obviously, one of the techniques is that if there are areas in the city 

where there is no wastewater constraint and you have mentioned a few, 30 

such as Halswell, Hornby, Linwood, Bromley, et cetera, and a 

technique for integrating intensification areas where is capacity is 

available is to re-zone where that capacity exists. So you could add 

additional RMD zones where there is wastewater capacity. Is that not 

one way to ensure that integration occurs? 35 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes, from a wastewater capacity, of course you would have to 

consider other factors as well. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   But I just want to concentrate on your area, which is 40 

wastewater (INDISTINCT 1.32). 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes, I agree. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   It is also the case that wastewater capacity issues, where 45 

there is some constraint, might be temporary. For example, you have 
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mentioned that in future the Council intends to upgrade the Riccarton 

interceptor? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   That is correct. 

 5 

MR CARRANCEJA:   And so then you would accept that another management 

technique to ensure that new RMD zones are integrated with 

infrastructure is that if there is a short-term constraint, which accounts 

(INDISTINCT 2.00) looks to alleviate from, say, 2020 onwards, you 

could use a deferred zoning or a deferred law to a re-intensification to 10 

that area sometime in future? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes, you could. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Now, the other thing is, other experts will give evidence 15 

that intensification provided through, say, new RMD zones will not 

necessarily occur instantaneously but might take a period of time. I 

want you to assume that that would be the case for now, that 

intensification might take a period of time. From a wastewater 

infrastructural point of view, if an area has short-term capacity, in other 20 

words, a limited amount of capacity but not necessarily sufficient to 

provide for full RMD zoning, can you think of any management 

techniques that would enable some intensification to occur in the area, 

to use up that short-term capacity? 

 25 

MS O’BRIEN:   We could perhaps look at an area and identify what spare 

capacity there is in the network and work out how many additional 

houses could be provided. But it is not as straightforward as 

(INDISTINCT 3.14). 

 30 

MR CARRANCEJA:   But presumably, if you are able to ascertain the rate of 

intensification take-up for a given area, you could potentially allow 

some intensification to occur over the life of the plan to enable that 

short-term capacity to be used up rather than blocking it off until 

network upgrades have been completed? 35 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes, you could. In my evidence, I set out which areas have got 

some spare capacity and which do not. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, okay, thank you. I want to talk to you now about 40 

brownfields developments as well. I think in your evidence you 

mentioned some exceptions but I just want to talk to you about the 

level of generality. Generally speaking, if you are comparing 

brownfields development to intensification development to greenfields 

development, there is greater potential for brownfields development, 45 

generally speaking, to be the most efficient way to integrate new 
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development towards brownfield areas where there is existing 

wastewater capacity? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes, if there is wastewater capacity, but as for Mr Norton, it 

depends on what use that brownfield site is put to compared to what it 5 

was used for previously, and the wastewater flows that would be 

generated from it. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, but the reason why brownfields is potentially more 

efficient is because if you are directing development in a brownfield 10 

site, in some ways it is actually replacement development 

(INDISTINCT 4.52) using of wastewater capacity? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   That is correct. 

 15 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes. Sir, I have no further questions. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. Ms Semple? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS SEMPLE [12.25 pm] 20 

 

MS SEMPLE:   Thank you, sir.  Good afternoon, Ms O’Brien.  Now, I accept 

in looking at your evidence that you only started with the Council in 

July 2014, but are you aware that Housing New Zealand provided its 

overall development aspirations generally to SCIRT and to the Council 25 

in November 2012? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   I am aware of that but I am also aware that they were not able 

to provide them in – if you are referring particularly to Aranui? 

 30 

MS SEMPLE:   Yes – well, no, I was talking about - - - 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Oh, generally. 

 

MS SEMPLE:   - - - the general, I guess, where their development is currently 35 

located and what their plans are for redevelopment are. 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes, I am aware that they provided them in a general sense 

but my understanding is that the information was not sufficiently 

specific for SCIRT to be able to take it into account.  In addition 40 

SCIRT’s mandate was for not to provide for any additional capacity in 

the network, it was simply to put back what was there previously. 

 

MS SEMPLE:   And I thank you for that and I do want to just explore a little 

bit more that mandate. I understand from that helpful summary that you 45 
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gave at the beginning and also paragraph 4.4 of your rebuttal that very 

little, is it fair to say, if any, additional capacity is provided by SCIRT? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   That is true except for in the Aranui Vacuum Catchment. I 

have worked with Housing New Zealand and SCIRT to provide 5 

additional capacity for specific areas that they are developing in Ben 

Rarere Avenue, Aldershot Street, Eureka Street and Hampshire Street 

where we have specifically asked SCIRT to upsize pipes to 

accommodate Housing New Zealand developments, and that is the 

majority of the development areas in Aranui as I understand it. 10 

 

MS SEMPLE:   And what is the scale of that to your knowledge in terms of 

that development? When you are getting down to those specifics where 

you can ask to upgrade pipes, what are we talking about in terms of 

scale? 15 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   I cannot recall off the top of my head, it might be in the order 

of 70 houses perhaps. 

 

MS SEMPLE:   Right.  And so just so that I can be clear in my head and also 20 

for the benefit of the Panel, do I understand your evidence to mean that 

SCIRT will go about its business repairing what is there in the 

wastewater system through until about 2016? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   That is correct. 25 

 

MS SEMPLE:   And even after that I think you helpfully pointed out in your 

summary this morning, which I had not appreciated from your 

evidence, even after that there will be areas of the wastewater network 

in the city that will not be repaired? 30 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   That is correct, we will still be left with some damage in the 

network. 

 

MS SEMPLE:   And when I look at your evidence around capacity, you have 35 

indicated that we cannot determine capacity really until the repair work 

is undertaken and then there can be some modelling, I understand that 

to be a sequential process. We repair the pipes, we exclude the 

difficulties with groundwater infiltration and so forth and then we can 

model capacity and determine what we might have available to us 40 

moving forward, is that a fair understanding or am I (INDISTINCT 

3.23) there? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   That is the ideal situation.  In the meantime we are just having 

to make do with the model of the current situation which does not 45 

include the SCIRT repair. 



 Page 53 

  

Ch14: Residential (Part) Commenced 30.03.15 

 

MS SEMPLE:   Right.  So current modelling - - - 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   In assessing capacity. 

 5 

MS SEMPLE:   So current modelling does not take into account SCIRT repair, 

it models what is on the ground currently in its broken state, is that 

what you are saying? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   That is correct although the Opus modelling did include a 10 

reduction in inflow infiltration in two catchments, I think it was the 

Richmond Catchment and there was one other area where there has 

been a substantial rebuild of those catchments and they have allowed 

for a reduction in inflow infiltration in those areas. 

 15 

MS SEMPLE:   Right. So where I am trying to get to is when might we know 

what capacity we have got in the system and what might need to be 

upgraded? And I appreciate that it is a moving feast but if we are 

talking about a sequential process in which SCIRT finish its repair in 

2016 and then there is some capacity modelling work that needs to be 20 

done, I think on your evidence in 2017, are we at 2018 before we can 

start to gain an understanding of where there might be capacity in some 

of these systems? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   I agree that we will have a much better idea by the end of 25 

2017 on where we have got wastewater capacity. Having said that there 

are some areas where SCIRT is not doing any work and so we would 

already know for those areas what the capacity is going to be like but, 

yes, we really do want to take a city-wide approach because it is such 

an integrated network. 30 

 

  [12.30 pm] 

 

MS SEMPLE:   And once we finally get to that point, appreciating that we’re a 

few years off now, once we get to that point, what is the process by 35 

which the Council would then look to increase capacity? As I 

understand, for example, from your evidence that we don’t know what 

we’re going to need, but we can’t put it in the LTCCP.  What’s the 

process that we would go through to get to the point of having 

capacity? 40 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   We would look at the waste water model and see where we 

have capacity issues.  We would look at where there were areas of 

development pressure.  We would look to try and address known 

problem areas, where we have got overflows and at the same time try 45 

and provide for areas of extra capacity.   
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 To give an indication of the sorts of things we’re doing at the moment, 

we’re running a trial at the pump station 20 catchment, which is the 

Heathcote River catchment where we have got an optimisation project 

underway.  This is a cloud based, very clever optimisation where there 5 

is no one single project that would solve the problem for that 

catchment, but this optimatic software allows thousands of 

permutations and combinations of projects to be run to work out what 

the most cost effective combination of projects is to reduce overflows 

in that catchment. 10 

 

 It will use that to determine what projects we will be undertaking and 

what the benefit of those in terms of reducing overflows, and when we 

do that we take into account the growth forecasts at a mesh block level 

within those catchments. 15 

 

MS SEMPLE:   So if I take you back then to my question, which is around 

what happens from when we have identified that we have got a 

capacity issue and we also identified that it is an area for growth and, of 

course, I am specifically looking at the CHRM areas, those community 20 

housing redevelopment areas.  When we get to a point of understanding 

that we have got a lack of capacity, which is what we expect might 

happen, what is the process from there to get funding and then to get 

Council in a position where that upgrade work might occur? 

 25 

MS O’BRIEN:   We have a programme of works in the long term plan for 

growth, so we have a wastewater reticulation growth budget and we 

have a wastewater pump station growth budget and we choose each 

year where that money is going to be spent, providing for growth in 

green field areas or intensification areas. 30 

 

 So we are considering at the moment, for example, for the Bryndwr 

CHRM area whether we might be able to, in the coming year or two, be 

able to relieve the capacity constraint for that particular area, as an 

example. 35 

 

MS SEMPLE:   Thank you, and the Chair asked a helpful question of the 

previous witness that you would have heard around whether there has 

been some consideration given at a policy level to looking specifically 

at those areas that have large concentrations of community and social 40 

housing that needs to be rebuilt and prioritising that in terms of the 

provision of critical infrastructure.   

 

MS O’BRIEN:   I’m not aware of any policy that the Council has to provide 

specifically for those growth areas over and above any other growth 45 

areas, but obviously they are an area of significant growth pressure, so 
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we would be looking to try and relieve capacity constraints in those 

areas. 

 

MS SEMPLE:   Thank you.  If I can just ask you a question, just to understand 

the extent of constraint we’re dealing with.  You have provided some 5 

specific information in your evidence about the Bateman Avenue 

consent. 

 

 Now, as I understand it that requires an individual private pressure 

pump to be installed for what the Council and Housing New Zealand 10 

accept is one extra person.  Is that a fair estimation of how very, very 

constrained that system is, where we are talking one extra body 

resulting in a necessity to put in a private pump? 

 

  [12.35 pm] 15 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   When I am assessing new developments I look at the impact 

of the downstream network and where we have got manholes that are 

already overflowing downstream or where they are surcharging 300mm 

of the surface, any additional waste water, even from one additional 20 

person, is going to make the situation worse and so we need to do the 

best that we can to provide for development by not compromising the 

downstream network further, causing further overflows.  And I need to 

take a consistent approach all parties, to be fair and reasonable to 

everybody. 25 

 

MS SEMPLE:   Yes, understood.  I am just trying to understand the level of 

constraint that is there currently and I appreciate your answer, which is 

one extra person makes what is already a very difficult or in fact 

intolerable situation worse.  That is my understanding and I appreciate 30 

that is your understanding as well. 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes. 

 

MS SEMPLE:   Thank you.  No further questions. 35 

 

SJH:   Ms Wash? 

 

MS WALSH:   No, sir. 

 40 

SJH:   Ms Broughton, if you come forward to the microphone. 

 

<CROSS EXAMINATION BY MS BROUGHTON [12.37 pm] 

 

MS BROUGHTON:   Thank you.  I am somewhat surprised Ms O’Brien – and 45 

good morning – that I have now got a hand written changes.  
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 So when I was working over the weekend, I was looking at 7.1 and 

your correction to Evidence in Chief and you say that you wish to 

correct the first sentence in paragraph 8.6 to more accurately 

summarise the submissions in the Riccarton area. 5 

 

 This sentence should read, “Most of these submissions are in support of 

the notified zoning, which largely retains the existed permitted 

density”.  So this is still correct? 

 10 

MS O’BRIEN:   I just thought it would be simpler and clearer if I replaced that 

correction along with the original paragraph 8.16 and 8.16(a) with my 

new paragraph. 

 

MS BROUGHTON:   So you are accepting 7.1 as you rebuttal, which I agree 15 

with. 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   No, I just thought we should delete that and just have one new 

paragraph which covers all three and just explains it very clearly what 

my intent was in my evidence. 20 

 

MS BROUGHTON:   Yes, I am a bit surprised to come along today and have 

this paragraph in writing, but perhaps if I can table with you, because I 

was working on 7.1, and if I could table that. 

 25 

 So I was going to suggest to you that rather than having most of these 

submissions, I was going to say all of these submissions, because there 

were two that had been put there incorrectly: one was 882, which 

referred to Wilmers Road, one was 525 from Nurse Maude, which 

refers to Papanui and I think you have taken out 742, and that is 30 

Westfield Mall, but 742 does say that they support the current zoning 

round the mall, which is medium density on the southern side and 

suburban density on the northern side.  So you agree with those three I 

have isolated there? 

 35 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes and I have deleted them in my correction. 

 

MS BROUGHTON:   Yes, and I would probably say that 7.2 could still be 

there, though the bulk of their submission relies to commercial issues. 

 40 

MS O’BRIEN:   It would be retained; I have read it and I don’t mind either 

way whether it is included or not. 

 

MS BROUGHTON:   Okay, so it is basically all of the submissions, other than 

the ones we have put to one side are in support of the current zoning 45 

density? 
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MS O’BRIEN:   Correct. 

 

MS BROUGHTON:   Thank you.  So going on with – I hadn’t expected to 

have handwritten work – but what you are saying is we are basically in 5 

agreement with.  Probably you have added the fact that some of the 

area could be rezoned medium density, and you are saying “some” of 

the area, aren’t you? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   I am only referring to the area in the notified plan, which is 10 

already notified as RMD or RSTD. 

 

MS BROUGHTON:   Okay. 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   I am saying that what is currently notified is acceptable from a 15 

wastewater perspective. 

 

  [12.40 pm] 

 

MS BROUGHTON:    Okay, so that is the current maps. 20 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes, and that is was people have supported in their 

submissions. 

 

MS BROUGHTON:   Okay, thank you.  That is all, sir.  Thank you. 25 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Thank you, sir.  Good afternoon, Ms O’Brien.  At your 

paragraph 6.3, you have referred to the modelling work that Opus has 30 

done and you have listed there that the volumes of wastewater that 

would be released in those locations.  Sorry, I was just watching the 

screen.  I think it was bringing up the rebuttal evidence. 

 

 You have talked about how many manholes would overflow and 35 

volumes of water from individual locations.  That is sort of a gross 

measure; what can you tell us about the frequency and what increment, 

and you have said it would increase by 30 percent, and his is in 6.3(b), 

30 percent to 54,000 some cubic meters. 

 40 

 Is that over a one in 50-year storm event or every time it rains, you get 

a little bit?  How robust are these under normal conditions as opposed 

to extreme conditions? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   The wastewater model that Opus used is for a one in 3-year 45 

rainfall event, 24-hour duration.  So that is the design storm that is used 
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in the model.  That corresponds to a one in 2-year flow event within the 

wastewater network, because not all the rain gets into the wastewater 

system.  So that gives you an indication of the amount of overflow you 

would expect from a one in 3-year storm. 

 5 

DR MITCHELL:   I guess I am just trying to understand; I mean there is an 

intensity, frequency, volume complex interrelationship.  It would just 

be helpful to me to understand – notwithstanding what you have said 

and I understand what you have said – how often in a typical year 

would these overflow, at all?  There is quite a large overflow in the 10 

design storm, but is it only at the design storm that a threshold is 

exceeded, or do they overflow on a fairly consistent basis every time it 

rains? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   My understanding is it is not every time it rains but it is 15 

reasonably often. 

 

 So there is a wastewater network model which runs 15 years of rainfall 

data where we have picked out the biggest storm every year over 15 

years and run that through the wastewater model, and my 20 

understanding is that the overflows operate every time.  So most years, 

you would expect overflows through a wastewater network and it may 

be more frequent than that, but it is not every time it rains. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Okay, thank you.  Generally speaking, the pumping stations 25 

and so forth, and the overflow volumes from these various manholes, 

that presumably, in the middle of streets as opposed to remote locations 

where the risk to the public is fairly low, or is it a combination? 

 

MR O’BRIEN:   The overflows from the manholes are in the street whereas the 30 

overflows from pump stations would be to a drain or a waterway. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Thank you, I suspected as such.  Just in terms of, you talked 

about the capacity of the network in reasonably general terms. 

 35 

 I suppose if you sort of break it down into bits, you have got 

everything, all the infrastructure varies in size and scale from a pipe 

leaving an individual property down a small road through a sort of 

regional-scale collector to a trunk sewer to the treatment plant itself.  

Where are the bottlenecks in the system in growth terms?  You have 40 

identified the Riccarton trunk sewer, or the interceptor, as being a 

constraint, but is the constraint, generally speaking, in the areas that 

you have talked about, in the trunk sewers, the interceptor-size sewers, 

or is it a combination of things that go all the way up to the household 

level? 45 
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MS O’BRIEN:   My understanding is that by and large it is more at the 

regional level rather than the trunk sewer level.  I think, by and large, 

the Council has dealt with capacity at a trunk sewer level and it is the 

smaller scale that is feeding into that, that these more local issues. 

 5 

 So not right at the property level, not right at the top end of the 

development where you have got your smallest pipes, but it is the ones 

in between the trunk sewers.  But there are trunk sewer issues that are 

yet to be resolved, for example, in the Riccarton interceptor and in the 

northern relief. 10 

 

DR MITCHELL:   In terms of the treatment plant capacity, is that relatively 

futureproof? 

 

  [12.45 pm] 15 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   My understanding is the treatment plant capacity, the peak 

flow capacity is sized so that it can treat all the flow that can currently 

be pumped to it. 

 20 

DR MICHELL:   What about projecting forward with an intensification 

scenario that we have in front of us? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   I am not sure how each of the pump stations has been sized 

and how much growth allowance has been taken into account in the 25 

sizing of those pump stations. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   But the plant itself is secure, is futureproofed? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   That is my understanding that it is.  Sorry, I cannot remember 30 

off the top of my head what flow it can pass and I am not sure to what 

extent growth has been provided for in that capacity, but I will have 

thought that all the flow to the treatment plant is pumped, and I would 

have thought that in sizing those pump stations, that growth would have 

been taken into account. 35 

 

SJH:   I am sorry, you are talking about your understanding and what you 

think.  We are really interested in evidence, and if you are not able to 

give the direct evidence yourself, you do need to tell us.  So is it your 

evidence or is it your understanding and your thoughts? 40 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   That is my understanding.  If you want certainty I would need 

to go out and find it. 

 

SJH:   So we would need to get that from someone else? 45 
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MS O’BRIEN:   Well, yes.  We would need to go and find the information 

about those particular pump stations and the treatment plant. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 5 

DR MITCHELL:   At paragraph 4.13 in your primary statement you have listed 

a number of the upgrade projects that the Council is planning over the 

next period of time.  Some of them go out a reasonable way.  Are they 

earthquake-related projects, or are they part and parcel of routine 

maintenance and upgrading of infrastructure? 10 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   They are not earthquake-related projects.  They are business 

as usual projects that have been planned for some time. 

 

DR MITCHELL:  Just a couple of additional matters.  What is the Council’s 15 

view on developers taking responsibility themselves for wastewater by 

private infrastructure as opposed to connecting to the city’s system? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Do you mean providing treatment and disposal onsite? 

 20 

DR MITCHELL:   Yes. 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   If they are able to get a consent from Environment Canterbury 

to do that, then we do not object to that, where there is a capacity issue. 

 25 

DR MITCHELL:   Okay, thank you.  And just two more questions.  If a 

developer comes along to you and says “We would like to connect to 

the Council infrastructure for wastewater”; presumably once you have 

determined that there is capacity available, it is then simply a matter of 

the developer paying the infrastructure connection charge or whatever 30 

it is called in Christchurch.  Is that the way it works? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes, it is also up to the developer to make the connection to 

the network as well and provide their own internal infrastructure. 

 35 

DR MITCHELL:   Yes, and those charges, are they undertaken according to a 

formula? Number of people, nature of the activity, those sorts of 

things? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Sorry, I am not sure how the development contributions is 40 

calculated. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Okay, thank you.  Just finally, you have said at paragraph 

14 of your primary statement about the difficulties with the SCIRT 

upgrade and how it is essentially returning things to pre-earthquake 45 
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conditions.  Is the issue around why that infrastructure is not being 

futureproofed simply about who pays?  Do I understand that correctly? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   As far as I understand it, SCIRT’s mandate is just to provide 

what was there previously.  They have got no mandate to provide 5 

additional capacity. 

 

DR MITCHELL:  Do those projects though, overlap with the ones that we 

were talking about before that you have listed at paragraph 4.13?  Or 

does that mean that SCIRT goes and does its thing for the next few 10 

years and digs up all the streets and reduces them all to one-way and so 

forth, then you come back in 2017 and dig them up again? 

 

 I am getting the sense that there is no integration at all, but I am 

inviting you to - - -  15 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   There is some integration and in some cases, in my 

understanding, there has been about $6 million dollars’ worth of 

business as usual projects that have been incorporated, added to 

SCIRT’s scope by Council to where it makes sense where they are 20 

already doing some work to do a business as usual project at the same 

timeframe to stop that happening, but that is not to say that when we 

get to, because some of these projects are not clearly defined yet, we 

may get to the point where once we have defined them we are having to 

redo work that SCIRT has only done recently. 25 

 

  [12.50 pm] 

 

DR MITCHELL:   I see, all right, thank you, thank you, sir. 

 30 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, good afternoon, Ms O’Brien.  Just one question, 

if you could just turn to the plan at the back of your rebuttal of the 

Riccarton wastewater constraint map, so am I correct in understanding 35 

that the area that is within the overlay that is white on this map, is the 

area that you are saying could be available for development once the 

lower upgrade has been completed? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   That is correct. 40 

 

MS DAWSON:   Are you able to tell me how much of that is not already 

included as intensification or the medium density zone in the notified 

proposal, is there a significant additional area that could be rezoned? 

 45 
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MS O’BRIEN:   I am not sure, we would have to look at the planning map, I 

think it is 31 and 38 to answer that question. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Well perhaps I should ask Mr Blair that. 

 5 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes, you would need to overlay the two. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, all right, thank you, that is all. 

 

SJH:   Mr Sax? 10 

 

MR SAX:   Yes, sir, good afternoon, a few questions.  Does the Council have 

an active policy of encouraging alternative wastewater treatments that 

are environmentally friendly, sustainable and more economic and if so 

how is that governed or managed in terms of the consenting process? 15 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   By that do you mean on site wastewater treatment and 

disposal? 

 

MR SAX:   Yes. 20 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   I do not believe the Council does have such a policy, my 

understanding is that the Council encourages developers to connect to 

its wastewater network and for treatment and disposal to be done 

through the Christchurch wastewater treatment plant. 25 

 

MR SAX:   Many of the green build models around the globe now have 

standalone or off grid wastewater processing which is more 

environmentally friendly, so it is claimed; better use of water, et cetera, 

is that something that you would personally support, condone or 30 

encourage? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   I think that where we have got capacity, I think the 

Christchurch wastewater treatment plant is extremely efficient and low 

cost in terms of if you look at the cost per cubic metre to process the 35 

wastewater it produces a good quality effluent.  So I think that where 

we have got wastewater capacity that connecting to that network is the 

best solution, but I am not adverse to people dealing with wastewater 

on their own site providing they can do it in a sustainable way. 

 40 

 I would be concerned in areas in the groundwater protection zone 

because of the risk of contaminating our aquifer for drinking water, but 

if the developer could demonstrate to Environment Canterbury and get 

a consent from Environment Canterbury then I would not be adverse to 

it. 45 
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MR SAX:   Just dealing with your numbers if I have read that correctly, 54,000 

cubic metres of potential additional overflow; how many houses is this 

model based on?  Because that seems a huge amount of additional 

effluent overflow. 

 5 

MS O’BRIEN:   Sorry, which paragraph are you referring to? 

 

SJH:   It starts at 6.3. 

 

MR SAX:   Just a feel for what house numbers we are talking about. 10 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   I am sorry, I would need a calculator, I have got a list of about 

10 numbers to add up here.   

 

MR SAX:   Roughly, what does it look like? 15 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   About 20,000 off the top of my – you know, as a quick - - - 

 

MR SAX:   That would imply a massive amount of overflow.  If we look at a 

typical household of about 0.8 of a cubic metre per day, smaller about -20 

0.5. 

 

 That would be something like 110,000 households that are going to 

have 100 percent of their sewage overflow or for this 0.8 that would be 

about 67,000 new households that are going to have their sewage 25 

overflow, these figures sound beyond belief, I just wonder whether 

there is something grossly wrong with those figures. 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Sorry, where did you get the 0.8 from? 

 30 

MR SAX:   It is the typical consumption of a household. 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   In Council’s infrastructure design standard? 

 

MR SAX:   I do know about your council design standard but across New 35 

Zealand it is about the average. 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   So for Council’s infrastructure design standard we use a flow 

per house of 220 litres per person per day x 2.7 per house x 1.8 for a 

(INDISTINCT 0.42) peaking factor x 2.78 for a storm peak factor and 40 

I am not sure what that number adds up to but it is more than 0.8 cubic 

metres. 

 

MR SAX:   If we just start with 0.2 and there is four people in a household at 

this point, that is 0.8 so I am not sure where the extra flow comes from. 45 
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MS O’BRIEN:   It is the peaking factors that you have to take account of, I 

think the number you are using is just the average daily flow but on top 

of that you get a peak in the morning and a peak in the afternoon and 

you have to take the average.   

 5 

MR SAX:   What it says is that about four times the gross discharge per day is 

going to flood and it just sounds irrational but it may be something for 

you to take to your consultants.  

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes, sorry, I cannot answer the question very well. 10 

 

MR SAX:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Chairman, I just have one question coming out of that, 

actually, I did not have anything before then, everything else is covered 15 

off but just as a matter of clarification. 

 

 Ms O’Brien, at 6.3, looking at the bracket of sums, so the languages 

that I read from that was the first, for instance, you say by 30 percent 

and then in brackets, “to the specified volume”. 20 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   That is correct, sorry.  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And then the next one, “by 11 percent to the specified 

volume” and the same in (d).  So I took the words in brackets to be the 25 

cumulative title rather than the incremental addition, is that right? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   You are correct. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 30 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   If you give me just a minute.  So this will answer your 

question, so the manhole overflow volume currently is 41,800, so 

increases by 30 percent to 54,220 so the difference between the two of 

about - - - 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   The difference is the 30 percent you refer to? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes, and then for the overflow volume from constructed 

overflows, the current constructed overflow volume is 36,370 and that 40 

increases by 11 percent to 40,340 and then its total overflow volume 

currently is 78,170 and that increases by 21 percent to 94,560. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes.  I do not have any further questions. 

 45 
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SJH:   You talked about, in 6.3, which we have been looking at the additional 

overflows but you also answered a question that it is not just the peak 

storms that causes overflows it is a frequent event, I think you said? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes, more frequent than we would like. 5 

 

SJH:   How frequent was it before the earthquake? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   I am sorry, I do not know the answer to that, I would have to 

check with someone else to answer that question. 10 

 

SJH:   Well are you able to answer this, assume that at the day before the 

earthquake the capacity of the system was 100, the utilisation and 

normal use and flood use, would it be 80, 90, 110 or what? 

 15 

MS O’BRIEN:   I am sorry, I do not understand the question. 

 

SJH:   Well how close, to you, was full capacity before the earthquake? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   My understanding is that there were capacity issues before the 20 

earthquake and they have been made worse by the earthquake and as an 

indication flows to the treatment plant after the earthquake increased by 

about 40 percent and that is just the average flow, not the peak flows 

have increased by, I would need to check, but I think it was by a similar 

sort of amount. 25 

 

  [1.00 pm] 

 

SJH:   So would it be fair to assume from that that the Council’s planning had 

lagged a little bit behind what was needed? 30 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes, that would be fair. 

 

SJH:   You will understand that in the higher level documents we have certain 

things we have to give effect to including a significant increase in 35 

construction over the next 15, 16 years? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Mm’hm. 

 

SJH:   To what extent does the Council’s planning for increased capacity align 40 

with that?  Now, you have given us some indications of what you 

called the “business as usual” and not earthquake related 

improvements, do they fully align with what we have been effectively 

told to incorporate into this Plan or do they not even get close? 

 45 
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MS O’BRIEN:   In addition to the projects I have listed in my evidence there 

are other projects as well.  I cannot remember off the top of my head 

the value of them, but to allow for growth there are specific projects in 

addition to those specifically for growth.  I cannot remember off the top 

of my head but I think it is something in the order of 47 million or 5 

something like that to provide for growth over the next 10 years but I 

would need to - if you want certainty on that I would need to check the 

infrastructure strategy, which is a public document. 

 

SJH:   And you will be aware that we set a target in our Strategic Directions 10 

chapter of a number of new dwellings by 2028? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   A number of new? 

 

SJH:   Dwellings. 15 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Mm’hm. 

 

SJH:   Are you able to say whether all of the stuff you have told us about, the 

stuff that is in your evidence and the other 47 million you have just 20 

talked about, totally aligns with that or partially aligns so there is still 

going to be a capacity issue? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Sorry, I am not sure I understand, are you saying are we 

planning for that growth? 25 

 

SJH:   I want to know whether your planning aligns with what we are being 

asked to do with this Plan in terms of capacity for the number of 

dwellings?  If you cannot answer it just say so. 

 30 

MS O’BRIEN:   I do not know. I do not know that we have sat down and 

worked out exactly how much capacity we need to provide and where 

to accommodate the number of houses that are sought. 

 

SJH:   Okay, who would be able to give us that information? 35 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   We have not done the work yet. 

 

SJH:   I see.   

 40 

MS O’BRIEN:   So we have got projects planned – well, we have programmes 

of work planned for growth and it is a matter of working out, as we go 

through the next 10 years, where we are best to spend that money. So 

some of the major projects that we are planning, for example the 

Northern Relief, it does not just provide a business as usual component, 45 

there is also a growth component to that. So, for example, that will 
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service the Highfield area and the Highstead area, Upper Styx area. So 

when that is designed it is not just – it is fixing up the current situation 

and it is also providing for growth.    

 

 The same with the Riccarton Interceptor upgrade, once that is done that 5 

will also provide some provision for growth, and on top of that we have 

got projects targeted specifically at growth. We have got a project 

planned for the southeast Halswell area which I understand is also an 

area directed by the LURP for development, so we have got a project in 

place to service that. So we are putting projects in place to service these 10 

areas but as to whether they are going to provide the required number 

of households I could not tell you. 

 

SJH:   So my next question about whether or not the long term plan provides 

sufficient budget to align with the plan, you would not be able to 15 

answer I guess? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Well, the other approach that we can look to take is when our 

overflow consent expires in 2017 or, sorry, the non-enforcement 

agreement expires in 2017, it may be that the Council decides to take a 20 

different approach. It may be that the Council decides that it is 

unaffordable to meet the sort of standard that was required in that 

overflow consent and that a risk based approach is more appropriate. 

 

SJH:   Okay, thank you.  Just one final matter, 6.9 of your rebuttal evidence, I 25 

take it your disagreement with Mr Commons over the constraints is the 

use of his term “significant”, is it? 

 

  [1.05 pm] 

 30 

MS O’BRIEN:   Can I just read it for a minute? 

 

SJH:   You quote Mr Commons’ evidence, “However the combination of these 

factors showed the extent of constraint on CHRM areas is significant”.  

Is your complaint with his use of the word “significant”?  This is your 35 

rebuttal evidence. 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes, I am just refreshing my memory.   

 

 I think my concern was that he had perhaps misinterpreted the intent of 40 

my evidence. So when I asked Opus and GHD to check the areas 

proposed by CERA, as possible additional intensification areas if the 

criteria were relaxed, they assessed the whole of that area to work out 

what the impacts on the wastewater network were. So my comments 

are on the basis of if that whole area identified by CERA was rezoned 45 

RMD what the effect would be.   
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 However, if you just did a much smaller part of that area as a CHRM 

area then the effect is going to be less because it is a much smaller 

impact. There are CHRM areas, however, that where there are 

wastewater capacity constraints and we working to try and resolve 5 

those. 

 

SJH:   So was what you are saying at 6.10 that some parts of the area could be 

developed to 30 hours per hectare? 

 10 

MS O’BRIEN:   That is correct. 

 

SJH:   What part of the area, what percentage? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   I am not sure. 15 

 

SJH:   So it could be a significant part? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   It could be significant. 

 20 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Semple, any questions arising from the Panel’s 

questions? 

 

<FURTHER CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS SEMPLE [1.07 pm] 

 25 

MS SEMPLE:   Sir, just one question, Ms O’Brien, if I may.  I understand that 

you have done some work and it might assist the Panel in the 

Wairakei/Greers CHRM, for example, which I think is often referred to 

as the Bryndwr area.  Is it correct that it is, from my understanding, at 

least half if not more, it might be slightly over 50 percent, where it is 30 

identified that there is no normal sewer capacity within that CHRM? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   This has only come about in the last couple of weeks so I have 

only been able to assess about half the area, I have not yet received the 

assessment for the other half of the CHRM area. 35 

 

MS SEMPLE:   Right.  But the area that - - - 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   The area they have assessed it does have major capacity 

constraints. 40 

 

MS SEMPLE:   Right.  So just so I can understand that, so you have assessed 

half of the CHRM and all of the area that you have assessed has no 

normal sewer capacity, is that correct? 

 45 

MS O’BRIEN:   That is correct. 
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MS SEMPLE:   Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Mr Carranceja? 

 5 

<FURTHER CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR CARRANCEJA [1.08 pm] 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Just one question, sir.  Just arising from 6.3 of your 

main evidence you were answering questions from the Panel, 

particularly from Dr Mitchell, regarding manholes overflowing and you 10 

were talking about volumes increasing from manholes et cetera.  I just 

want you to clarify what you mean by “manholes overflowing”, and if I 

can just provide some context, if you have got a sewer running 

horizontally under a street, for example, you will have manhole shaft 

vertically connecting to the horizontal. When you are talking about 15 

overflowing you are talking about it overflowing where from the 

horizontal pipes go up the manhole shaft or literally over the top on to 

the street where the manhole cover is? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   No, literally overflowing onto the street.  Where it goes up the 20 

shaft that is referred to as surcharging. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes. 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   So when the pipe becomes full and starts pushing the 25 

wastewater up into the man that is where we are saying the network is 

surcharging and when it gets to the point where it is actually 

overflowing into the street we call that a manhole overflow. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   You call that overflow, okay, thank you very much.  30 

Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Mrs Broughton, did you have any questions arising? 

 

MS BROUGHTON:   No. 35 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Scott? 

 

MS SCOTT:   Sir, I do not have any further questions but I just wanted to 

highlight that the Council is calling another witness, Mr Christopher 40 

Gregory, he is the Council’s asset and networks unit manager, and he 

may be able to answer some of your questions, particularly about the 

LTP. Due to him coming on board reasonably recently he is 

unavailable today and tomorrow but he is scheduled for Thursday. 

 45 
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SJH:   Thank you, Ms Scott.  Thank you, Ms O’Brien, you may stand down 

and we will take the luncheon adjournment until 2 pm, thank you. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [1.09 pm] 

 5 

ADJOURNED [1.09 pm] 

 

RESUMED [2.00 pm] 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Yes, Ms Scott? 10 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, sir.  The next Council’s witness is Mr Graeme 

McIndoe. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 15 

 

<GRAEME MCINDOE, affirmed [2.00 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS SCOTT [2.00 pm] 

 

MS SCOTT:   Good afternoon, Mr McIndoe.  If you could confirm that you 

have prepared two statements of evidence.  The first statement of 

Evidence in Chief, dated 11 March 2015 and a rebuttal statement of 5 

evidence, dated 25 March 2015? 

 

MR MCINDOE:   That is correct. 

 

MS SCOTT:   And that your qualifications and experience are as set out in the 10 

introduction of your first statement of evidence? 

 

MR MCINDOE:   That is correct. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Do you have any corrections to make to your evidence? 15 

 

MR MCINDOE:   No. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you.  If you could confirm that the content of your 

evidence is true and correct to the best of your belief. 20 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Yes, I confirm that. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you.  If you could just present a highlights package 

summary of your evidence, then answer any questions. 25 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Okay, certainly.  Good afternoon Sir John and 

commissioners. 

 

 A very brief run through.  I guess the first thing in my opinion is that it 30 

is possible to reduce the content of the notified plan without loss of 

amenity in areas that matter.  Since I prepared my evidence, there have 

been changes to the Plan which I believe have taken it even further, and 

positively. 

 35 

 I suggested that there should be a deletion of the life stage inclusive 

and adaptive requirement for new residential units.  In my rebuttal, I 

believe it should be maintained for a small proportion of housing for 

the elderly, and you will see that in my evidence.  I have covered site 

coverage, and I believe that site coverage for multi units should be the 40 

same as for standard residential in the residential zone, and multi units 

should be allowed to go to two storeys just as other residential can. 

 

 I have suggested support reducing minimum internal boundary setbacks 

and issues around permitted size of windows.  Now, there are a number 45 

of other minor matters which you will see in the executive summary of 
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my evidence-in-chief, largely around reducing constraints and allowing 

greater flexibility.   

 

 Considering the matters of discretion I believe they have been edited 

and simplified sufficiently and I think there are some important 5 

changes that have occurred, such as eliminating potential need for 

energy use modelling in relation to adjoining sites.  I believe it is 

important to address how Māori concerns are usefully and effectively 

integrated into the Plan, and I have made some other comments on the 

content. 10 

 

 Now, probably one of the major directions on my evidence relates to 

achieving a high quality environment; I was asked to look at the issues 

of non-regulatory approaches. 

 15 

 Now, I think that they offer some merits but they are relatively 

ineffective and they give no certainty that poor outcomes will be 

avoided, and my experience, only regulatory approaches give certainty 

that acceptable outcomes will be achieved.  I have covered a number of 

things in my rebuttal evidence which you would have seen, but in 20 

relation to this issue of achieving a high-quality environment, I will 

refer to some of the points made very briefly in my Evidence in Chief. 

 

  [2.05 pm] 

 25 

 In my opinion, minimal design controls and relying on the market to 

determine quality would lead to failure.  There would be a wide mix of 

quality.  There would be some very high quality development, but there 

would be a proliferation of poorly resolved, low quality development.  

This is from my experience as in design review over many, many years, 30 

and urban design panels as well.   

 

 Of course we get high quality development irrespective of controls 

from some developers and some designers.  That happens as well.  Part 

of the problem is that particularly when we get to multi-unit 35 

development, many of the designers do not necessarily have great 

experience designing multi-unit housing.  They may deal very well 

with individual dwellings where there is a lot more leeway for getting 

things, but the task of multi-unit housing is somewhat more complex.  

So I think a well-focussed effective and efficient regulatory approach is 40 

necessary. 

 

 I think poor design is a lost opportunity, given that a certain 

development will require what I have called a certain quantum of 

bricks and mortar.  If they are deployed effectively, we get good 45 

outcomes.  If they are deployed ineffectively, we get poor.  The ability 
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to withhold consent on a poorly designed development is in my 

experience, important, and that is a powerful incentive for a developer 

and their designer to get it right, and with pre-application consultation I 

have seen that work very well.  I think permitted activity standards are 

totally appropriate for small, simple developments, and of course, we 5 

need to enable those small, simple developments, but not for the more 

complex projects. 

 

 Lastly, I have made a comment on the effectiveness of urban design 

panels.  As a Chair of one and a member of another, the role of the 10 

panel is to promote good design, advise the applicant how to achieve a 

good outcome, and I believe they are successful in that as long as they 

have regulatory backing, because I also have experience of where, 

despite the very constructive words accorded by the Panel supporting 

an applicant to achieve a good outcome, the Panel’s recommendations 15 

were completely ignored on a sensitive inner-city site, and that has 

been purely because there was no regulatory backing for the Panel.  In 

fact, no design controls at all relating to that site other than, I think, site 

coverage or something of minor significance. 

 20 

 So that is the very quick summary of my Evidence in Chief.  I guess, 

probably the biggest point in my rebuttal evidence, it is quite non-

controversial, but is the discussion about residential design principles.   

 

 Ms McIntyre for the Crown is suggesting a simplified set and I have no 25 

problem with that except that simplification will lead to an increase in 

uncertainty and the risk of inconsistency in application of those criteria 

across projects.  So you can do one way or you can do the other.  I 

think that pretty much sums up my evidence.  Thank you. 

 30 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Radich. 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR RADICH [2.08 pm] 

 

MR RADICH:   Thank you, Your Honour.  Mr McIndoe, good afternoon to 35 

you and thank you for the contribution your work has made to the 

revised version of the plan.  I just want to talk for a moment about these 

sustainability standards, the life stage and adaptive design standards.  I 

think you have said in your evidence that you agree with Bruce Klein 

from MBIE for the Crown that the cost associated with those standards 40 

and those certification schemes are such as to be prohibitive in some 

cases. 

 

MR MCINDOE:   I agree with Mr Klein in part, and that is if you were to 

apply such standards to all new housing, the cost would be prohibitive, 45 
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but also, the outcome would be unnecessary because not every new 

house would require that sort of functionality. 

 

MR RADICH:   It certainly increases costs, does it not? 

 5 

MR MCINDOE:   I believe it depends how far one goes with the provision for 

adaptability.  My recommendation in response to Mr Klein is that the 

critical issues of access and space within the dwelling, that is level 

access to the front door within the house, sufficiently wide corridors 

and doors - - -  10 

 

  [2.10 pm] 

 

SJH:   Sorry, does it increase cost?  That was the question. 

 15 

MR MCINDOE:   Yes, to a minor degree I would imagine.  No, I would 

consider a minor degree given the slightly increased floor area 

required.   

 

MR RADICH:   And it is above and beyond the minimum building code 20 

requirements, isn’t it? 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Yes. 

 

MR RADICH:   And you would agree with the notion that it would place 25 

pressure in terms of monitoring on an already stressed resource 

consenting system? 

 

MR MCINDOE:   I believe that if one were to implement the very simple 

standards I have suggested, which address access and space within, that 30 

is a very, very simple matter to measure. 

 

MR RADICH:   Yes. 

 

MR MCINDOE:   So I do not believe, I think the increased task would be 35 

negligible.   

 

MR RADICH:   But in terms of the more comprehensive scheme that was 

suggested initially in the version of the proposal, that would certainly 

be the case, wouldn’t it? 40 

 

MR MCINDOE:   That is correct. 

 

MR RADICH:   Yes.  And your recommendation result, I am right, aren’t I, in 

the removal of those standards in terms of the detailed provisions that 45 

were there from the 9 March version of the proposal? 
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MR MCINDOE:   I certainly recommended that.   

 

MR RADICH:   Yes. 

 5 

MR MCINDOE:   That would have been a factor, I suspect. 

 

MR RADICH:   Yes, all right.  But I think it is fair to say that they have snuck 

back in, haven’t they? Can I ask you just to look with me at the relevant 

pages. Now do you have there a copy of the latest version, the 26 10 

March version of the proposal? It is in the rebuttal statement.  You’ 

have got that, you do? 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Yes. 

 15 

MR RADICH:   Thank you.  I wonder if the Panel has that available?  It is 

attached to the rebuttal evidence of Mr Blair.   

 

 Mr McIndoe, just while people are looking, the page I am going to 

direct you to is 232.  And members of the Panel, page 232. 20 

 

 So just while people are finding it, just to orient ourselves where we are 

in the Plan at the moment, because this is the first time we have 

actually, in this hearing, started turning the pages, if I could ask you 

please while leaving your finger on 232 to go back to 225 which will 25 

just give us the heading and show us where we are. So page 225 you 

will see there, 14.9, Matters of Discretion. You see that? 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Yes. 

 30 

MR RADICH:   So these are the matters of discretion that apply to restricted 

discretionary and discretionary activities, aren’t they? 

 

MR MCINDOE:   That is correct. 

 35 

MR RADICH:   And there is a new, back to page 232, there is a new provision 

proposed now in the context of this revised proposal, 14.9.1B that asks 

whether the adverse effects of a built form standard infringement are 

compensated by benefits gained from effectively the life stage of 

adaptive design type matters, aren’t they? 40 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Yes, that is point 2. 

 

MR RADICH:   Yes. And the first is talking about energy and water saving 

design features. 45 
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MR MCINDOE:   Or universal design.   

 

MR RADICH:   Yes. And then just to be clear on how this works, perhaps if 

you just again are able to keep a finger on that page and we’ll go back 

to one of the restricted discretionary provisions, so if you look at page 5 

37. 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Yes. 

 

MR RADICH:   So just for one example, on page 37, RD7, so this is in the 10 

residential suburban zone in the RSVTZ, if you look for example RD7 

Social Housing, there is a new provision now isn’t there, 14.9.1B 

Sustainability Principles, do you see that there? 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Yes. 15 

 

MR RADICH:   And then just if you look over the page at page 39, you will 

see them all appearing there as quite a common feature now in the 

restricted discretionary activity standards. 

 20 

  [2.15 pm] 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Correct. 

 

MR RADICH:   And for completeness, and I am conscious that I am making 25 

you move around a big wad of paper, if we could go to page 236.  Do 

you see there at the very bottom of the page in square brackets 14.9.6 

and the heading now is “Enhanced Development Mechanism and 

Communicating Housing Redevelopment Mechanism and Retirement 

Villages”? 30 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Yes, I see that. 

 

MR RADICH:   And if you go down please to No 8 in the new red underlined 

content, that now talks, doesn’t it, about “where practicable 35 

incorporation of environmental efficiency measures, passive solar 

design principles”, so that is a new provision of a similar ilk, isn’t it? 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Yes, of course, although it does not mention life-stage 

adaptability. 40 

 

MR RADICH:   No. No, that is fair. So looking back at the provision that I was 

centring, focusing on, on page 232, the new 14.9.1B, do you see there 

as being a risk, bearing in mind the comments you made about the 

difficulties with the life-stage and adaptive design, that a consenting 45 
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officer could in the case of a restricted discretionary activity require 

these standards to be built in? 

 

MR MCINDOE:   I believe there could be such a risk.  I think such a risk could 

be mitigated by being very explicit about the proportion of housing that 5 

might be appropriately treated in that way.  For example, if we are 

talking about housing for the elderly or retirement village it would be I 

think essential that the housing provides for life-stage adaptability and I 

think it is worthwhile for a proportion of other large developments to 

do the same.  I think it would be problematic if the wording was such 10 

that the implication was that all housing should be treated like that, but 

I think that can be dealt with by appropriately adjusting the wording if 

need be. 

 

MR RADICH:   Because there is risk, isn’t there, with the wording as it is in 15 

this particular proposal that we have got no way of knowing what 

standards might be imposed by a particular officer in terms of the trade-

off for breaching built form standards. Would you agree?  

 

MR MCINDOE:   There is a risk and that is why in my rebuttal evidence I 20 

have suggested some simple standards which are derived from the life-

stage which pin things down, let us say, and allow adaptability later, for 

simple adaptability later if required. 

 

MR RADICH:   Now, the suggestion that you do make does in your rebuttal 25 

evidence, as you say, narrow down these matters just to two or three 

essential features, doesn’t it? 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Yes, four. 

 30 

MR RADICH:   And your suggestion is that there would be 10 percent of units 

in multi-unit developments that would incorporate those sorts of 

requirements, is that right? 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Yes, I think that would be an appropriate approach. 35 

 

MR RADICH:   When we are talking though about a blanket 10 percent rather 

than targeted, for example in terms of, you know, properties for the 

elderly, doesn’t that still suffer from the same problems we identified 

together earlier about increasing costs and regulation and consenting? 40 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Look, if we take a long term view that the fact that there are 

in the general housing stock in the community some dwellings 

available which have just got sufficient space and sufficient bathroom 

size to allow them to be readily fitted out for a person who may have 45 
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lived there for most of their life, becomes elderly and has mobility 

issues, I think that is positive. 

 

 It is relatively simple and straightforward to deal with providing for 

these things at the initial design stage, getting the walls and the 5 

structure in the right location, the services in the right location and then 

the detail can follow later. 

 

MR RADICH:   But isn’t it the case if we are applying a 10 percent across the 

board without focusing on the type of development in question that we 10 

still do have that additional level of regulation, whether it is 10 percent 

or 50 or 100 somebody still has to assess compliance with these 

particular life-stage standards? 

 

  [2.20 pm] 15 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Yes, there is a requirement to measure that but, as I say, it is 

a very, very simple thing to measure.  I think the other point to add is 

that it would not be 10 percent of all housing because this would not - 

in my view it should not apply to single detached houses or even 20 

developments under the size of 10 units - so it will only be a proportion 

of housing, the larger developments, where there will inevitably be a 

high degree of scrutiny anyway by Council officers because they are 

complicated. 

 25 

MR RADICH:   Okay. So there is extra cost in regulation but you say it is 

manageable? 

 

MR MCINDOE:   I think it will be not only manageable, I think it would be 

negligible. 30 

 

MR RADICH:   Okay. I want to just talk about building heights in the RMD 

and you have clarified, thank you, in your rebuttal and in your 

summary that you agree that in the residential medium density zone 

there should just be one 11 metre height, is that right? 35 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Look, I think there are two opportunities there.  

Ms McIntyre suggested an approach which would have a single 11 

metre height which would allow three storeys, and that is appropriate.  

In order to deal with the scale of building façades the operative rule of 40 

nine metres plus allowing for two metres of roof feature would achieve 

virtually the same effect. 

 

MR RADICH:   Just pause for a second just so people can orient themselves, 

page 96 of this Plan, of the 26 March version is where we find this 45 

point. So just orient ourselves, if you look please at 14.3.3.2. Am I right 
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in putting it to you before you complete your answer that initially the 

No 2 there “Buildings with a pitched roof of 22 percent and 11 metres” 

was there, in the 9 March version it was removed but now it is back.  Is 

that your understanding of the way in which the matter has travelled? 

 5 

MR MCINDOE:   I cannot confirm that, there has been movement and 

refinement, I cannot precisely say I have heard (ph 2.21) that. 

 

MR RADICH:   All right, well, that is fine.  But the point you are making is in 

relation now to the No 1 and No 2 under 14.3.3.2, isn’t it? 10 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Yes. 

 

MR RADICH:   And your evidence, if I am right in understanding it, your 

rebuttal evidence is that 11 metres is better but we should perhaps make 15 

sure we are only talking about three storey developments and not four? 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Look, I guess I am keeping options open there.  At the end 

of my paragraph 3.1 I identify that either could happen but I should 

note that I think it is easier to keep in character with the residential 20 

areas around if in fact the roof is allowed to occupy the top two metres, 

it allows pitched roofs, a slightly lower scale but a generous three 

storeys. 

 

MR RADICH:   And I think from what you are saying there you are at one 25 

with Ms McIntyre’s view on that effectively, aren’t you, I think? 

 

MR MCINDOE:   I think the point of allowing three storeys and up to 

11 metres in height is appropriate. 

 30 

MR RADICH:   Okay. 

 

MR MCINDOE:   It is the detail of how that is dealt with. 

 

MR RADICH:   I understand, thank you.  And finally I just want to raise with 35 

you the urban design principles.  Now, again to orient ourselves with 

them in the Plan, if you look please at this latest version at page 225.  

That is again just to give ourselves a road map, that is the heading 14.9 

“Matters of Discretion” and then the bottom of that page 14.9.1A now, 

do you see that? 40 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Yes. 

 

MR RADICH:   Urban design. These are the provisions that we are talking 

about, that is right, isn’t it? 45 
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MR MCINDOE:   Correct. 

 

MR RADICH:   And I wonder if I could – I do not know whether you have 

Ms McIntyre’s evidence near you? 

 5 

MR MCINDOE:   Yes, I do. 

 

MR RADICH:   You do, thank you very much. I wonder if you would go 

please in that evidence to page 60 and members of the Panel, this is the 

alternative wording suggested by Ms McIntyre for the section.  It is in a 10 

table at the back of her evidence. 

 

 So hers on page 60, it starts at the very bottom of that page, in fact 

there is only one line of it and it carries over the page and she set out 

nine different principles, do you have that there? 15 

 

  [2.25 pm] 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Yes, I do. 

 20 

MR RADICH:   Thank you.  Now, your evidence, you have made the point to 

use your words, I think, that Ms McIntyre’s approach is outcome 

focussed rather than method focussed.  That is right, is it not? 

 

MR MCINDOE:   No, I would not phrase it just like that.  There is a difference 25 

in methodology.  I think approaches are outcome focussed.  One gives 

more clarity on the issues which will be considered, the matters which 

will be considered by the Council officer in assessing the scheme, and 

obviously more clarity for the applicant and thinking through how they 

are going to design their scheme. 30 

 

 But the general scope is broadly similar.  I have some comment that I 

feel Ms McIntyre’s list is lacking, have added to it some concern for 

landscape and private open space. 

 35 

MR RADICH:   Do you agree with me though that if you look at the list in the 

current Council version, that it has the danger of becoming a checklist?  

If you have an enthusiastic officer, the way in which it is worded, 

rather than just looking at an overall outcome could be “checklist” 

based? 40 

 

MR MCINDOE:   There is a possibility that that could occur, however I think 

it should be assumed that the Council officer assessing has urban 

design expertise and experience and would take a more sophisticated 

approach. 45 
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MR RADICH:   Yes, but there is a risk, is there not, from what you say? 

 

MR MCINDOE:   There is a risk.  I would also say I think there is a risk with 

just having the headline issues as in Ms McIntyre’s version, that gives 

the Council officer a huge amount of scope to make what they like of 5 

the provisions, and that probably is a greater concern to me. 

 

MR RADICH:   But again, the uncertainty that does arise with the current 

version and the thing that troubles the Crown is the uncertainty 

associated with the possible checklist, and I think you have agreed that 10 

that is a risk? 

 

MR MCINDOE:   No.  In my evidence I have made it clear that I believe that 

listing the matters which will be considered reduces uncertainty, and it 

also reduces inconsistency between different assessments by different 15 

officers on different projects. 

 

MR RADICH:   All right, now just finally on the same point, look please at 

page 240 and you will see there, if you just start at that page and flick 

over a few, that there have been a number of matters that were 20 

previously set out here in these matters of discretion that have been 

ruled out.  So as we flick through, you will see street scene, outdoor 

living space, minor residential, etcetera, have all got lines through 

them. 

 25 

MR MCINDOE:   Yes. 

 

MR RADICH:   I think that instead of having these prescriptive additional 

matters, the view has been that it is better perhaps just to default in 

looking at the newly structured urban design and surrounding 30 

principles.  Is that your understanding of the intention? 

 

MR MCINDOE:   I would be extrapolating to think that it has not been 

explained to me in that way, but I do believe this compression and 

reordering of the criteria of the assessment matters is really 35 

constructive, a big move forward from where it was. 

 

MR RADICH:   Yes, and I think we are all at one over the need to do that 

wherever possible.  Do you see though, and let me just take you to one 

scenario, and I make this point just with a suggestion that there might 40 

need to be a little bit of reorganising and regrouping here.  Would you 

look please at page 63? 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Yes. 

 45 
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MR RADICH:   So we are in the residential suburban zone, if you have a look 

at RD5, there is a reference there to a particular assessment matter, 

building window balcony setbacks, and there is a reference to 14.9.4.  

Now that 14.9.4 I think is one of the provisions that has gone.  So do 

you see a need for some rationalisation, if you take my word on that, 5 

within page 241, some rationalisation with the reduced scheme that is 

now in place? 

 

MR MCINDOE:   I think yes, the plan should be internally consistent, so 

rationalisation is a good thing. 10 

 

  [2.30 pm] 

 

 My experience is the discretionary assessment criteria can be used to 

allow things which don’t comply with the permitted standards to be 15 

achieved, and I think that is a good thing.  So I think somewhere within 

the assessment criteria, the matter of dealing with these setbacks is 

covered, and that facilitates people to exceed the standards, let us say. 

 

MR RADICH:   Yes, I think we would all agree.  Thank you very much 20 

indeed.  Thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Ms Semple? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS SEMPLE [2.30 pm] 25 

 

MS SEMPLE:   Thank you, sir.  Good afternoon, Mr McIndoe, how are you? 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Good afternoon, very well. 

 30 

MS SEMPLE:   I just want to follow on from my friend Mr Radich here, just in 

terms of this approach to urban design and I guess it might be terms a 

philosophical difference about how we get to.  I took it from your 

evidence and from what you said in your summary that in your view, a 

non-regulatory approach will lead, I think you say, to failure, generally, 35 

in terms of urban design? 

 

MR MCINDOE:   There would be a high risk of poor outcomes. 

 

MS SEMPLE:   And then you talked about the urban design panel and how that 40 

might be of assistance, and I take it from that that accepting that the 

urban design panel is a non-regulatory, non-statutory body, that it is 

that combination of the regulatory and the non-regulatory approach that 

creates a better outcome. 

 45 

MR MCINDOE:   That is correct. 
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MS SEMPLE:   And so if we look at the approach that has been taken in 

Auckland that you helpfully refer to in your refer, the Auckland Design 

Manual contains more in it than simply, for example, those matters of 

extrapolation that are in the proposed, or in the replacement plan 5 

provisions, does it not? 

 

MR MCINDOE:   That is correct, and I understand that subject to intense 

debate in Auckland, how the ADM links to the unitary plan. 

 10 

MS SEMPLE:   I think it fair to say that urban design is under intense debate 

everywhere in the country, generally, is it not? 

 

MR MCINDOE:   I think, hopefully, for the right reasons. 

 15 

MS SEMPLE:   Yes, and so what I am trying to get to, I guess, is to ask the 

question of you, you have put it almost quite plainly.  We go for this 

high-level approach or we go for the approach that is in the 

replacement plan where there is more data provided to assist in the 

understanding and interpretation of those high-level design principles. 20 

 

MR MCINDOE:   That is correct. 

 

MS SEMPLE:   Where does education of the development community fit in 

that almost two ends of the spectrum that you have identified? 25 

 

MR MCINDOE:   I hesitate to say that experienced developers should be 

educated, but let us say training in relation to urban design matters in 

the plan.  I think it would be important for both the development 

community and for the Council officers interpreting a plan to be 30 

informed properly about the plan either way, but more so if a high-level 

approach was taken. 

 

 The challenge is that, and I am involved in urban design training for 

developers and for Council, doing it currently.  The challenge is that 35 

people do not attend.  It is voluntary  And even if they attend, one can 

only deal with a small number of issues in, say, a two-hour session, 

because these are busy people doing whatever. 

 

 So to actually provide the equivalent of something which might be an 40 

urban design diploma course is challenging, and that is why I think it is 

better to have the information available to inform people. 

 

MS SEMPLE:   And so if you were to have a design manual as the Auckland, 

and many other Councils have gone down, that does not assist in 45 

meeting a gap in the understanding of the development community? 
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MR MCINDOE:   I think it will be helpful.  There are a number of developers 

who could write the manual because they are doing very high-quality 

work with very high-quality designers, but for those that are perhaps 

pushing the boundaries in terms of the development type with multi-5 

unit housing in particular, it can be helpful.  So that certainly can work. 

 

MS SEMPLE:   What I am interested to understand is you have put it in quite 

blunt terms.  We have this high-level approach as the Crown has 

suggested, and perhaps supported by some materials, or we have what 10 

it is in the replacement plan.  My concern is a situation that might arise 

where we have what is in the replacement plan and then a manual that 

further extrapolates onto that.  Is that a risk? 

 

  [2.35 pm] 15 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Well I guess anything is possible but if a set of criteria is 

sufficiently clear and comprehensive there would be no need to have a 

manual. 

 20 

 I think there is always benefit in the Council and the professional 

institutions and so on running working sessions and training sessions 

on how we achieve good outcomes and that is, I guess, what 

architectural conferences are about so those things would happen.  I do 

not think you would need a manual of any kind if in fact the criteria 25 

were as they are stated. 

 

MS SEMPLE:   Thank you.  The second issue I just want to traverse with you 

is around site coverage and if we are looking at the replacement plan 

attached to Mr Blair’s rebuttal evidence, that is at page 49 and 50 of 30 

that document and again, this is the provision with a bit of a checkered 

history of being in and out and in again and out again. 

 

 You say in your paragraph 48 and following that you agree that there 

should be some opportunity for 40 percent site coverage so a 5 percent 35 

site coverage allowance for multi-unit development but with the 

proviso that it is planned to accommodate elderly or disabled occupants 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Yes, that is correct. 

 40 

MS SEMPLE:   There is no difference, is there, in terms of amenity in respect 

of a dwelling that is planned internally for elderly or disabled 

residence, or one that is not? 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Yes, there is a difference, and that is if a building which is 45 

not planned to allow for the sufficient access width, the simplicity of 
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level entry to the dwelling and provision for a wet floor shower to 

allow level access, that is a level of adaptability to take into account the 

changing needs of an elderly occupant that would not necessarily occur 

in a standard multi-unit residential and particularly one that might rise 

to two stories. 5 

 

MS SEMPLE:   Sorry, my mistake for using the term amenity.  I am talking 

about residential amenity or neighbourhood amenity, as viewed from 

the outside, a property that is available for the elderly or disabled will 

not look any different.   10 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Correct. 

 

MS SEMPLE:   And so if we look for example at social housing which also 

provide for elderly and disabled and other vulnerable members of the 15 

community, would there be any difficulty in extending that five percent 

site coverage allowance for such complexes? 

 

MR MCINDOE:   The difference would be for social housing the units would 

be potentially be going to two stories.  As is the case with social 20 

housing and other places you would typically only make the ground 

floor units accessible to the disabled and only proportion of those. 

 

 But as the housing goes to two stories it has the same effect as any 

other multi-unit residential and I believe that the difference between 25 

two story development, 35 percent site coverage and two story 

development, 40 percent site coverage is quite considerable and a lot of 

that would relate to the potential for dominancy, reduction in the 

amount of possible planting and trees and I guess a greater prominence 

in the neighbourhood.  It is subtle but there is a difference. 30 

 

MS SEMPLE:   And just so I can understand it, is the distinction actually about 

the single story rather than it being available particularly for elderly or 

disabled? 

 35 

MR MCINDOE:   I think just for the reasons of consistency, if site coverage is 

to be permitted to a higher level, say 40 percent rather than 35 percent, 

we need to look at how we manage effects on the environment around 

and if it is single story then as I said the effects will be less but I think it 

is a poor use of land to be promoting single story 40 percent site 40 

coverage when if we have multi-unit housing we should be promoting 

intensification, two story development, good quality, but of course we 

need to enable, I believe, that important housing type for the elderly. 

 

  [2.40 pm] 45 
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MS SEMPLE:   Are you aware that in the current L2 zone that the site 

coverage is 40 percent with a five percent allowance for single story? 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Yes, I am aware in that I cannot confirm the actual zoning 

but I understand there is a provision in the Operative Plan.   5 

 

MS SEMPLE:   And so what is your understanding of the rationale for 

decreasing that in a plan that is intended to be enabling of 

redevelopment (INDISTINCT 0.57)? 

 10 

MR MCINDOE:   My rationale is when I saw the Notified Plan, it suggested 

that multi-unit housing could be up to 40 percent site coverage but only 

one storey high, now I think that is a contradiction in terms in trying to 

achieve intensification, we would get greater intensification and more 

opportunities if we were to allow multi-unit to be two stories as in the 15 

case in multi-story housing in all other parts of the country in similar 

situations. So I felt it just made much more sense to decrease the 

coverage slightly to be consistent with all other housing and similar to 

all other housing to allow it to go to two stories. So it would tend to fit 

very well into a residential suburban zone, for example, because the 20 

same standards are applied. 

 

MS SEMPLE:   But is it not the case that you could have a two storey dwelling 

at 40 percent under the Operative Plan or 45 if you were single story?  

So in fact there is a decrease occurring on the basis of the Replacement 25 

Plan, or if I might put it another way a loss of flexibility. 

 

MR MCINDOE:   I did not review the Operative Plan in detail, I have had 

various discussions with Council Officers about aspects of it. The 

principle in my view is there should be internal consistency within the 30 

plan and dealing with the effects of building height and coverage in any 

zone.   

 

MS SEMPLE:   Do you accept, though, that there are some circumstances in 

which you might make exceptions, for example you have identified 35 

elderly or the disabled, I have suggested that social housing might also 

be an exception for reasons of providing for a particular housing need 

for a particular community. 

 

MR MCINDOE:   I am not sure that there is any great differentiation between 40 

the two housing types and I think that in fact there are advantages in 

ensuring housing types, social housing looks and has the same amenity 

as good quality private sector housing, otherwise there is a risk of 

stigmatisation and that is something which has been one of the drivers 

behind all the work on social housing in Wellington which has been 45 

added deliberately to aim to make the housing look like good quality 
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private sector housing to the extent, where private buyers are 

wondering where they can get hold of one of these houses. 

 

MS SEMPLE:   And are you aware that Housing New Zealand operates a 

policy of what is called “blind tenure” which is designed exactly to 5 

achieve that outcome? 

 

MR MCINDOE:   That is a tenancy management issue but if we look at the 

intensity of development on the site, I find it hard to justify in design 

terms why a person in a multi-unit development that as part of social 10 

housing should have a slightly lesser degree of amenity than the same 

person in a private sector developing a rental unit directly next door. 

 

MS SEMPLE:   But do I not read your evidence to suggest that if the person 

was elderly or disabled that that might be the case? 15 

 

MR MCINDOE:   That might be the case except that the housing in that case 

would be limited to one story which would make it suitable for the 

elderly and disabled. 

 20 

MS SEMPLE:   Thank you, thank you, Mr McIndoe. 

 

SJH:   Ms Walsh? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS WALSH [2.44 pm] 25 

 

MS WALSH:   Thank you.  Good afternoon, Mr McIndoe.  I will be referring 

to the Canterbury Regional Policy Statement, do you have a copy of 

that with you? 

 30 

MR MCINDOE:   I imagine it may well be on this (INDISTINCT 5.01).  I do 

not have one with me but I will see if I can - - - 

 

SJH:   We will be able to bring it up on screen. 

 35 

  [2.45 pm] 

 

MS WALSH:   And in particular, policies 632 and 633, and they are pages 54 

and 55.  I will also be referring to Mr Jones’s evidence as well. 

 40 

MR MCINDOE:   Sorry, can you please repeat that? 

 

MS WALSH:   Pages 54 and 55 of the CRPS, policies 632 and 633. 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Yes, I have them. 45 
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MS WALSH:   Thank you.  So I understand your evidence discusses the role of 

regulation and in particular, the need for it in order to produce an 

acceptable design quality, is that right? 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Correct. 5 

 

MS WALSH:   And you will be aware from the evidence of Ngai Tahu and in 

particular that of Mr Jones, that they are not seeking a non-regulatory 

approach to urban design issues, are they? 

 10 

MR MCINDOE:   Mr Jones’s evidence, I focussed entirely on looking at his 

comments regarding precedence. 

 

MS WALSH:   Well let us just assume that I am correct.  They are not seeking 

a non-regulatory approach.  But Mr Jones, he does raise two concerns 15 

and the first is in relation to subdivision in the new neighbourhood 

zone, and in particular, subdivisions which come after a very detailed 

outline development plan process, and I will use Prestons as the 

example. 

 20 

 So we are looking at the new neighbourhood zone and we are looking 

at subdivisions which are underpinned by a very detailed ODP, and 

where a subdivision comes along and they do not seek to depart from 

that ODP, Mr Jones considers that for those subdivisions, a controlled 

activity regime would be acceptable. 25 

 

 Now, just taking Prestons for example, you were obviously heavily 

involved in that plan-change process. 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Yes, I provided urban design evidence on behalf of the 30 

applicant. 

 

MS WALSH:   And you will be familiar with the resultant ODP that was put in 

place for that? 

 35 

MR MCINDOE:   I am. 

 

MS WALSH:   And you would agree that that shows a very high level of detail 

and in particular it covers the range of matters including those listed in 

policies 632 and 633. 40 

 

MR MCINDOE:    If you will bear with me, I will just glance through the list. 

 

MS WALSH:   Sure, take your time. 

 45 
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MR MCINDOE:   Okay, sense of place, integration with networks, land uses, 

nature and built environment, connectivity, yes, safety considered, 

choice and diversity provided, ESD, okay.  Yes, and when I refer to 

633 it would seem the ODP provisions would seem to describe the 

matters.  Just the first site here which within, sorry, the policy describes 5 

the matters which are covered in the ODP. 

 

MS WALSH:   Thank you, so just turning back to Mr Jones’s proposition, in 

such an instance like that where you have an ODP that is frontloaded 

with all of that detail, it has been tested against the CRPS and that 10 

policy, and a subdivision application comes along which does not seek 

to depart from that ODP, do you agree with Mr Jones’s evidence that 

controlled activity regime for subdivision in just that instance, could be 

appropriate? 

 15 

MR MCINDOE:   I think it might.  I should add the qualification that I am not 

a resource management planner.  But I think from an urban design 

perspective, we have a situation here where there has been a huge 

amount of detailed design work done, and that has been described, and 

that, I guess, takes the scheme to another level, as you say.  It relates to 20 

these things.  And that situation, I think, given the approval that has 

been gained, I am not quite sure why you would subject something to 

even more scrutiny again, or let us say, change the rules. 

 

MS WALSH:   Thank you.  Just turning to another issue that I want to speak to 25 

you about that Mr Jones raises is at paragraphs 105 to 111 of his 

evidence.  I will just summarise that comment, to read it, but there he is 

looking at the assessment matters for the new neighbourhood zone and 

he considers that in respect of the assessment matters that there is a lot 

going on there, and he has identified in a number of different places in 30 

his attachment 4A to his evidence a number of matters which are 

duplicated and that could benefit from some further refinement. 

 

  [2.50 pm] 

 35 

 So just to be clear, Mr Jones is not suggesting that the matters be 

removed or diluted, he is simply suggesting that they could be refined 

to avoid duplication where possible. 

 

 So assuming that that is what he said in his evidence, and just referring 40 

to your paragraph 9.8 of your evidence-in-chief, it seems to me that at 

least in principle you and Mr Jones are quite aligned, and you say at 

that paragraph that there should be well-focused, effective and efficient 

regulatory approach, and that is necessary. Is that right, have I 

interpreted your evidence correct there? 45 
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MR MCINDOE:   That is correct.  In fact, what I can say, I have prepared 

some notes when I read Mr Jones’ evidence anticipating this sort of 

quizzing perhaps, and I have looked at those design-related assessment 

matters and I have considered Mr Jones’ comments, and I formed the 

view that where there is identified duplication, I agree that it is 5 

desirable to address the matter once and with the appropriate wording.  

 

MS WALSH:   Thank you.  I have no further questions. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Dr Mitchell? 10 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Thank you, sir.  Good afternoon, Mr McIndoe. 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Afternoon. 

 15 

DR MITCHELL:   You were asked some questions earlier about the urban 

design principles that now appear in proposed section 14.9 of the Plan.  

I just want to ask you some questions about how they might be applied 

in practice, and they begin on page 226 of the version that was referred 

to you earlier.   20 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Thank you. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Just one thing – I mean, I know you did not draft these, but 

can you tell me how – sorry, I will rephrase.  There appear to be five 25 

principles, and then within each of those there is a sub-list of matters 

that are labelled A, B, C, D and so forth. 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Mm’hm. 

 30 

DR MITCHELL:   How do the A, B, C, Ds relate to the number that sits above 

them. Are they examples? Are they to be achieved by following those?  

Because, I mean, firstly the English does not make sense to me, and I 

am struggling to understand how A, B, C, D relates to 1, for example.  

Can you explain to me, as an urban designer, how you see that 35 

working? 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Okay.  Let us just start with the first one as an example.  We 

are talking about reinforcing or complementing the scale and character 

anticipated for the area and other features.  The A, B – sorry, we have 40 

lost B, haven’t we – A, C and D, they certainly explain what that 

means, so it is in keeping or complementary. So “in keeping” is 

consistent with, “complementary” may mean contrasting but has some 

relationship with, and those concepts are very well understood by urban 

designers and as taken from the planning. 45 
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 I guess the second point is about retaining or adapting character 

features. That is another means of achieving that outcome and 

potentially using existing buildings, landscape features, and again that 

is good urban design practice. In fact, in good quality development 

often existing trees and there may be a heritage building, is used as a 5 

feature of the development and adding value to it, and then providing 

large scale trees of the type which are characteristic of the area is the 

other matter there. 

 

 So the sub-criteria explain the scope of the main point. 10 

 

DR MITCHELL:   So what is the wording that should follow from the end of 1 

to link through to A, B, C, because 1 is a statement and A, C and D are 

unrelated statements with no language connecting them. Is it right to 

say, for example, at the end of 1, something like “and which may 15 

include” or “and in so doing shall” - - -  

 

MR MCINDOE:   Okay. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   - - - because the context of A, C and D is, for instance, have 20 

a huge bearing on how you apply them in terms of how they relate to 

the primary statement above them. 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Yes. 

 25 

DR MITCHELL:   If you understand what I mean. 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Yes, no, I think that is a very good point.  It could well be 

that there is something, as you suggest.  It could be simply “this means 

that the development:” leading through to the points underneath, and it 30 

could apply to all of them. 

 

  [2.55 pm] 

 

 I guess I should make the point that such statements should be seen as 35 

assessment matters, not prescription. There is a real problem when such 

issues are taken as a straightjacket. They identify the things which are 

important. There may well be sites, for example, with no existing 

character features. They may be brownfield development sites. Well of 

course, that criterion is a very easy one to address. There is no response 40 

required. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Are the lists exhaustive, or are they for instances? 

 

MR MCINDOE:   I think they are exhaustive. I have looked very carefully at 45 

them and I think they cover the appropriate range of matters, and I have 
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been involved in writing these matters for other district plans over 20 

years. So I think we have a set of matters here which will, if properly 

responded to by applicants and by Council, will lead to pretty good 

acceptably designed accommodation. 

 5 

DR MITCHELL:   Would it be fair to say that if you had two urban designers 

of comparable experience and credentials and so forth sitting down 

discussing the principles of urban design, this list would be fairly 

uncontroversial? And that you would say, yes, they are the principles 

that apply? 10 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Yes, it would. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   When it came to then applying them in a project-specific 

sense, there is plenty of room for debate and uncertainty, is there not, 15 

given that nearly every turn here is subjective? 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Well they are qualitative principles. They are not 

quantitative. They are not standards, qualitative. I think if you had 

competent, trained design professionals looking at these, there would 20 

be a very clear understanding of what is meant. There would be debate 

about how far one might go to achieve something, but I think that the 

terms are very well understood. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   All right, just attacking the same point from another angle, 25 

because I am just keen to understand how this will work in principle. 

You will be aware that the proposal has quite a number of permitted 

activity standards or development controls and all sorts of things? 

 

MR MCINDOE:   That is correct, yes. 30 

 

DR MITCHELL:   From an urban design perspective, are each of those equally 

important, or are some more important than others? 

 

MR MCINDOE:   I think some are more important than others. 35 

 

DR MITCHELL:   And if you had a development that ticked all the boxes of 

the important criteria, assuming that some are more important than 

others, and infringed some of the less important ones, would that make 

a difference to how you would undertake your urban design assessment 40 

in relation to those principles? 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Yes, I think it would, because one would find that the 

matters to be addressed, well, either there was no adverse effect, or 

there had been some characteristic of the design which mitigated the 45 

lack of adherence with the standard, and a good outcome is achieved. 
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DR MITCHELL:   Do you think it would be important in circumstances such 

as that, to give some planning guidance as to which of the criteria were 

more important than others, and if so, how that might apply to the 

implementation of the principles? 5 

 

MR MCINDOE:   I think that there is some real merit in that. One approach to 

that is at the front end of a list of criteria, noting that if a matter is not 

relevant to the development which is being considered, it should be, 

can it be discounted? So that means it is quite simple to then run 10 

through the criteria and note not applicable, not applicable. But to an 

extent, what is more important is hard to determine before the event 

with a blanket set of matters. It comes down to the specific situation of 

the site and the development. It may well be that, for example, 

proximity to a heritage building is important, so that there gains a 15 

priority.  

 

 In another case, it may be proximity to a river, it may be the availability 

of public transport nearby. So I think these things change, and I think 

that is the beauty of assessment criteria or assessment matters like this, 20 

because my experience involved in implementing such things, 

discussing things with developers, actually working on the developer’s 

side of things as well, is that one makes a case as to what is most 

important in any situation, discusses that at a pre-application meeting 

and very quickly reaches a conclusion as to how a matter should be 25 

approached. 

 

  [3.00 pm] 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Just again on a similar but related theme, the evidence that 30 

we have not heard yet but will hear, and I think it is fairly uncontested, 

is that trying to intensify Christchurch is going to be a challenge in 

practice in the sense that you can make land available, you can set rules 

that might apply but because of the market situation, because of the 

conditioning of the people of Christchurch into having their quarter 35 

acre paradise and all those sorts of things, that it is going to be difficult 

to encourage people to live in an intensified environment.  Assuming 

that that is correct, how would urban design be applied to actually 

assist that happening as opposed to regulate it? 

 40 

MR MCINDOE:   Okay, if we look at good quality multi-unit housing it will 

have a very high level of amenity, it will fit into its setting well, it will 

be attractive to people and people will occupy it and enjoy it and word 

will spread.  Now, we all know of good quality developments around 

the country, not just Christchurch, where whether it be central city 45 

apartments or townhouses have been done very, very well, high 
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intensity and they seem to work and they have become very popular 

and that is reflected in their market price.  So I would be confident that 

with the emergence of good quality development people will look at 

this and say, “Hang on, this fills a gap in the market and it may suit me 

because I do not wish to have a quarter acre section to mow, I can 5 

enjoy Hagley Park and the trees in Hagley Park rather than mowing my 

own lawn, so it’ is a good thing”. 

 

 By the same token, if it is done badly that can completely turn people 

off the notion of multi-unit residential.  And if it gets a very bad 10 

reputation, a very bad reputation in the market, neighbours become 

very opposed to the prospect of it and it is problematic.  So that is why 

quality is so important.  I think Christchurch has a pretty good history 

of some very fine multi-unit starting with Sir Miles Warren in Dorset 

Street. So there have been some quite good things happening in 15 

Christchurch over time. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Certainly the experience from Auckland, where I live, is 

that that process has taken a very long time to actually come about with 

the public embracing the concept of multi-unit living and 20 

intensification and it has taken probably 20 years.  And I would venture 

to suggest that the reason that that has happened is that over 20 years 

there has been a huge constraint imposed on greenfields land and that 

the only way that people can find anything affordable to develop is to 

do it in that intensified type of an environment.  And I am wondering to 25 

what extent you can encourage people and to what extent that you need 

to actually take some sort of positive initiative in order to achieve that 

outcome? 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Okay.   30 

 

DR MITCHELL:   And if my assumption is wrong please tell me. 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Yes, look I think there was research coming out of the 

Urban Land Institute in the United States which is I guess the real 35 

estate industry’s body, in about 2005, so that is, you know, 10 years 

ago now, which found that in the States - now, this is the States and not 

Christchurch obviously - that approaching 50 percent of people were 

after multi-unit housing, condominium and similar. 

 40 

 I think my observations are that a lot of people make a decision, there 

will be some people who wish to live in a house on a large lot possibly 

at the periphery and there has actually been research by Philippa 

Howden-Chapman and Ralph Chapman identifying that for 

New Zealand, and I think that may well be 70 percent of people, of that 45 

order, but about 30 percent when surveyed in a major survey said that 
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they wished to have the opportunity to live in multi-unit housing closer 

to the centre. 

 

 Now, we either facilitate that 30 percent or we stop and if we are going 

to provide choice for people we have to think about how that happens.  5 

I think in my view proximity to the centre is also important to many 

people, possibly people at different life stages, people that are young, 

no kids, and people who are elderly who wish to enjoy the facilities 

which a city offers whereas I think there is a linkage between people 

raising families and wishing to have detached houses with areas around 10 

them. 

 

 So I think there is a market. We are seeing that, you mentioned 

Auckland, the Beaumont Quarter in Auckland is a very good example 

of high intensity housing which is extremely popular, very high 15 

amenity doing very well. 

 

  [3.05 pm] 

 

DR MITCHELL:   All right, and just finally, you have made mention of urban 20 

design panels and you have said that they need regulatory backup, I 

think they were the words that you used. 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Yes. 

 25 

DR MITCHELL:   Do you also not think that something that has been through 

an urban design panel process voluntarily, if it were possible to do so, 

should get a leg up in terms of the consenting process that is to be 

followed? 

 30 

MR MCINDOE:   I think there could well be merits in that.  It would have to 

be having gone through the process voluntarily and demonstrated 

achievement of a good standard and support from the panel, and I think 

that would be – I think at an unofficial level it happens anyway because 

any urban design panel that the consent planners sit in on the session, 35 

they do not take part but they are aware of what is being said and the 

notes are prepared and of course they get a copy of it, along with the 

applicant.  And again, in my experience working for applicants, a 

positive urban design panel or any urban design panel report gets 

referred to in preparing a report in support of an application. 40 

 

DR MITCHELL:   But do you see, for example, it might be possible to 

construct a controlled activity regime – and I know you are not a 

planner – that says if you have been through that process and got some 

sort of certification or some sort of tick that mean that you have 45 
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achieved certain criteria or whatever, that that should give you an easier 

consent path? 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Right, commissioner, I would love to be able to say that as 

the chair of a panel and so on, but I do not think a panel should have 5 

that degree of jurisdiction.  I think it comes down to commissioners 

such as yourselves making decisions on those legal issues.  I think the 

panel’s view should be advisory and can influence the decision by 

Council and support or otherwise the application. 

 10 

DR MITCHELL:   Well, could I perhaps, in my final question, put it the other 

way then.  At the moment anything that is not permitted in this Plan 

defaults to restricted discretionary activity and essentially the 

application and the principles that we talked about before, that would 

seem to some at least to put an awful lot of control in the hands of 15 

Council planners and Council urban design staff who are making 

subjective judgements based on subjective criteria.  Do you think that is 

a fair observation to make? 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Um - - - 20 

 

DR MITCHELL:   And the reason I am saying it is that you can say it is 

backed by regulation but essentially it could be seen as saying, “If the 

Council urban design team do not like your project it is not going 

anywhere”. 25 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Okay, look I do not think that is – I think if that was a fair 

statement we would have a flawed district plan because that would 

mean that the district plan was not sufficiently specific to outline the 

scope of the assessment and not sufficiently specific to outline the 30 

outcomes which are sought.  If that description is in the Plan, and that 

is why I support the full version of these criteria, it gives a certain 

degree of clarity.  That avoids a planner or an urban designer going off 

on a tangent and saying that a certain criteria means “A, B and C, D” 

and somebody else says, “E, F G and H” because it is pinned down in 35 

the Plan. 

 

 People say that design review is subjective, I do not believe it is. If 

design critique was subjective we could not have architectural schools, 

we could not have architectural training, we could not have design 40 

awards where there is a great degree of consistency in how a design is 

judged and in this case it is applying design review and critique to, you 

know, a development proposal and I think if you set the criteria up so 

they are very clear you are taking subjectivity out of it.  There is always 

going to be some interpretation and in a sense that is desirable I think 45 

for the applicant as well because you can make a case for something 
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which addresses the assessment matter in a slightly different way, 

perhaps an innovative way, and that nobody would have thought of 

before.  If things are pinned down too much that precludes that sort of 

innovation. 

 5 

DR MITCHELL:   All right, thank you, Mr McIndoe.  Thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you. Just a few questions, good afternoon, 10 

Mr McIndoe. 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Good afternoon. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Continuing to look at these assessment matters, the urban 15 

design principles, in your evidence-in-chief you draw this distinction 

between urban design principles and what you say they should be better 

phrased as, as residential design principles. 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Right. 20 

 

MS DAWSON:   I am going to ask you to sort of clarify what you mean by that 

but in the context of the fact that we have now got a lot of these 

principles all bundled into one set.  There were principles that would 

have related to street scene or windows, balcony setbacks and outdoor 25 

living spaces, building overhangs and all sorts of things which are now 

all pulled together into this one set under the heading Urban Design 

Principles, and it seems to me it now goes well beyond what a normal 

person, or a layperson might consider to be urban design. 

 30 

  [3.10 pm] 

 

 And so can you explain why you drew that distinction and how it 

relates to what we have got now? 

 35 

MR MCINDOE:   Look, my assessment of these matters is that they are 

perhaps a sub-set of urban design but they are definitely residential 

design principles, so that is a more accurate description.  Urban design 

relates to city planning, this sort of matter which the Panel here is 

considering at the broader level, it is concerned with the design of the 40 

streetscape, public realm, public space design, parks, the 

neighbourhood design, the placement of activities and buildings in 

centres, and then finally it gets down to the detailed design of building 

and perhaps some planning on site which is where this is, and it is 

about residential design.   45 
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 I think it is potentially a case of semantics, but probably what this list 

of criteria is called or matters is called is entirely up to the Panel and 

Council – urban design or residential design.  In my view, I think it is 

more accurately described as residential, because the focus is very 

much on residential and not on the wider issues.   5 

 

MS DAWSON:   So it focuses very much on the site of any particular one or 

group of residential buildings? 

 

MR MCINDOE:   That is right, and its immediate context and its relation to the 10 

immediate context and how it may impact on things across the 

boundary.   

 

MS DAWSON:   So that is why you said, I think, that it is appropriate – or is 

that why you said that it is appropriate to bring this broader set of 15 

matters into the one set of principles? 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Yes.  Look, I think there is real merit in collecting things 

which have to be assessed at the same time together. Architects and 

designers will be referring to these things, and in fact, as a simple 20 

architect and designer, I always find it helpful to have them all in one 

place, and there is less chance of omitting to consider them, because 

architects are not planners who will look scrupulously at every word in 

the Plan to ensure that things are carefully considered.  So I think there 

is merit in that. 25 

 

 In terms of the length of this, this can be – we are talking two pages, I 

think, or two and a bit pages – that compares with the residential design 

guide which I wrote for Wellington City which has a lot of explanation 

and illustration, it is about 25 pages, about the same number of criteria 30 

and it has been in place since 1994, rewritten 2005, and it seems to be 

working pretty well.  So I think this is actually quite a compact, concise 

and precise list of matters. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And you said, I think in answer to Ms Semple, that there 35 

would not be a need for an expanded design manual if a comprehensive 

but clear set of criteria was put into the Plan itself? 

 

MR MCINDOE:   No, I do not think there would be a need. Virtually every 

Council I have done work for has considered at some stage having 40 

information sheets which they can produce to applicants and say “this 

is how”, you know, “this is an example of a good streetscape, a good 

street response” just to help people along the way, but that is 

completely non-statutory.  But I do not think you would need anything 

specific if you were to take the Council’s approach to this. 45 
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MS DAWSON:   So one of the other implications of bundling these into one 

set of assessment matters is what Dr Mitchell was talking to you about, 

and if you look, just by way of example, at page 40 of appendix A that 

you have there. I think that there is a series of restricted discretionaries, 

16, 17, 18, 19 there and I think as Mr Radich pointed out to you, they 5 

talk about, for example, RD17 says “minimum building and balcony 

setbacks from internal boundaries”. Now the way that has been 

structured, these assessment matters, outdoor living space that is 

mentioned in RD19, they won’t exist anymore, they will need to be 

replaced with urban design principles as the assessment matters, 10 

because those assessment matter have been deleted and bundled in with 

one set of urban design principle assessment matters. 

 

 And I think that is one of the things that Dr Mitchell was telling you 

about, is that when you have got a specific rule that is not complied 15 

with, now the assessment matters are all those assessment matters that 

could come within the meaning or urban design principles. 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Right, okay. 

 20 

  [3.15 pm] 

 

MS DAWSON:   So do you see that as a problem or potential for expanding 

the assessment matters beyond what is really necessary when one 

particular rule is not complied with? 25 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Yes, look, if that is the case I think that there should be 

some specificity in any cross reference.  So if in fact the non-

compliances relating to something like site coverage, the criteria which 

should be applied should be identified if it is referring back to 1491 as 30 

is now proposed I think it is quite legitimate to, in such a list, identify 

the criteria or matters which would be referred to. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Like fencing, for example, on the front boundary, if you are 

talking about those sort of matters? 35 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Yes, you could refer to matters in relation to the street and 

safety and so on but it would be relevant and it would not be necessary 

to look at perhaps other matters such as we see in some of the other 

criteria. 40 

 

MS DAWSON:   We would be going back to pretty much what it was like 

previously only all in one, chucked all together so that you did not miss 

any. 

 45 
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MR MCINDOE:   Yes, I think it effectively just a cross-reference and I think 

that could work reasonably well.  In the end it is the resource 

management planner as we know who does the assessment who then 

looks to see what standard isn’t complied with, find out what is 

required to get a consent in and they would typically identify that, but 5 

any architecture or designer could do the same thing but I think it is 

best to keep a scope related to the issue which needs addressing. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, thank you for that.   Now, just a couple more 

shorter questions.  If you could turn to page 233 of the same document, 10 

please, this is where you talk about the energy utilisation criteria when 

perhaps building impacts on neighbours.  If you look at the top one, 

number (c) of 14.9.2, is it those last few words there with regard to 

energy utilisation that you have concern with? 

 15 

MR MCINDOE:   Yes, it is. 

 

MS DAWSON:   They are still there, they have not been crossed out, have 

they? 

 20 

MR MCINDOE:   No, they are still there.   

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, but you would prefer them to be removed? 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Yes, I would, and the reason is it a complex task for a 25 

building scientist with the right sort of software to measure energy 

utilisation – to model energy utilisation, it is difficult enough on ones’ 

own site where one has the drawings can model things but then to have 

to look at models of the neighbouring site where they may not provide 

you with the plans, they probably will not provide you with the plans in 30 

many cases and it just becomes an unduly onerous and difficult task. 

 

 Whereas I think that the first part of that sentence is very straight 

forward, it is easy for an applicant or a Council Officer to assess quite 

readily. 35 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you.  In part of your, I think it is section eight of your 

Evidence in Chief, you talk about some standards that are applied in the 

medium density residential zone to multi-unit developments, they are 

relating to minimum unit size, ground floor habitual space, acoustic 40 

installation, that are not applied to multi-unit development in the 

suburban residential; the RS and the RSDT. 

 

 All I want to know is have you discussed this with Mr Blair, is this a 

matter you have discussed in the debating? 45 
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MR MCINDOE:   Yes, in fact this emerged in discussion with Ms Aiken (ph 

4.17) who pointed out that there was an omission in the plan and she 

asked for my thinking on that and I agreed that it would be helpful to 

rectify the omission, would be important to ensure consistency and 

apply these same standards to housing in all zones. 5 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, well I might ask Mr Blair about the scope for that.  

And my final question is about the building overhang rule, 14.3.3.12 as 

an example, but can you just explain to me the need for this rule, why 

do we have this rule?  What were the effects? 10 

 

  [3.20 pm] 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Commissioner, can you point me to a page? 

 15 

MS DAWSON:   109. 

 

MR MCINDOE:   My initial response on seeing this rule was that I thought it 

should be deleted because I am aware of many architecturally designed 

houses which would have an overhang of this size and they would be 20 

very fine houses. 

 

 The problem arises when you get a group of identical houses side by 

side, a sausage block form, usually with car parking underneath at the 

overhang and it is a very, very poor design outcome.  It may be 25 

functional but the environment at ground view from the street and 

probably across the fence from the neighbours is very, very poor so this 

rule standard deals with a known problem that is being experienced in 

Christchurch. 

 30 

MS DAWSON:   So what is it that is poor? 

 

MR MCINDOE:   It would be the dominance of at grade parking underneath a 

dark under croft and I guess the long continuity of a façade that is with 

multiple units and the overhang extending along a number of façades 35 

and that is a common problem which we see in other places so in 

thinking about it I came around to the Council view that it was worth 

keeping that standard and anticipating in a restricted discretionary 

application that there might be deviation from it via good design 

because these things can be, as I’ve mentioned with good architectural 40 

design and good landscape design they can be resolved quite well but 

they are often done very, very badly. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, thank you Mr McIndoe, that is all from me.  

 45 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Sax? 



 Page 102 

  

Ch14: Residential (Part) Commenced 30.03.15 

 

MR SAX:  Good afternoon, Mr McIndoe, a few questions.  Most of your 

submissions are premised on your statement, I believe, that only the 

regulatory approach works.  I just wonder in terms of that principle and 

your thinking, architects and urban planners/designers play virtue of 5 

who they are and what, they are creative people. 

 

 When you kill flair and enterprise and moving forward and the 

evolution of spaces with that sort of approach because due respects to 

Council’s, there is normally not a lot of creative and lateral thinking 10 

people that are going to be making great decisions if we are highly 

prescriptive as opposed to perhaps two parcels, one parcel being hard 

measures and some perhaps being soft and encouraging.  What are your 

thoughts on that question? 

 15 

MR MCINDOE:   I hesitate to be critical of my own profession but architects, 

and this comes from teaching architecture for 17 years at the School of 

Architecture, amongst other things: 

 

 Architects are rewarded for being original.  Architects also recognise 20 

primarily the interest of their client and the potential of the site and 

give what happens of the site often not too much thought.  Some 

architects do consider the wider context very carefully but a lot do not.   

Architects also get rewarded, at Architecture School, high grades and in 

the profession with design awards for being original and innovative.   25 

 

 Now, being original and innovative does not necessarily often tie in 

very well with responding well to a context.  There are still architects 

around and you have got some very fine architects in Christchurch who 

can be original and innovative and respond well to context but without 30 

some frame of reference which says that certain aspects are important, 

anything will go with many architects so it is often said in design that 

an architect enjoys certain constraints because they use those as a frame 

from which to spring from and achieve a really, really clever result.   

 35 

 Again, we look at what has happened in Christchurch already with 

some very, very fine commercial buildings, residential buildings and 

they have all been designed and built under a set of rules.  So I see that 

architects are very familiar with achieving good outcomes under rules.  

I think that if you did not have them, anything would go and that would 40 

include situations where developers instruct architects as to what they 

wish to see and the architect may or may not agree entirely with the 

direction that is being taken, but because the job is a very big job they 

may often, you know, bite the bullet and pursue that direction. 

 45 

  [3.25 pm] 
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 So it is only, you know, responsible, targeted regulation that sort of sets 

the framework which is the accepted standard which then people work 

around. 

 5 

MR SAX:   How do we answer the proposition though; if we look at what we 

do now with infill housing? 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Yes. 

 10 

MR SAX:   Perhaps even Housing New Zealand where three houses are 

removed and now 11 houses go in their place.  We would have 

considered that virtually unconscionable not that many years ago, and 

so a handful of years on, if we are highly prescriptive and weren’t 

allowing innovation and flair and enterprise, we certainly would not 15 

even be having the discussions we are having today.  So where does 

that fit into that thinking? 

 

MR MCINDOE:   I think that where that fits in is that; let us assume if the 11 

houses which have been produced and are in place now where 20 

previously there where three, presumably they would have gone 

through some sort of consent process and that would ensure that certain 

things which are relevant off the site, such as we have talked about with 

the criteria we have been looking at, have been taken into account, and 

if the architect or the designer has exercised great skill and creativity 25 

they may have been done very well, they may work very well for the 

residents within them, and they may also be seen as very positive or at 

least acceptable by the neighbours who possibly, before they appeared, 

may have been very sceptical about them.   

 30 

 So I think it comes down – I am very, if the issue is about 

intensification, I think design quality becomes more important to get 

both the amenity on site and to get the acceptability within the 

neighbourhood.   

 35 

MR SAX:   Perhaps just a further question about the subjectivity.  I guess this 

is what we are trying to wrestle with.  If we go back and I will just read 

it to save referring to it, so that is under chapter 14 where 14.1(d), it 

says: “it provides for large scale indigenous endemic trees planting that 

contributes to the neighbourhood amenity”. 40 

 

 Now for example, a number of years ago we stipulated we wanted fruit 

trees, we want avocado groves, we wanted citrus groves et cetera, 

because that considerably enhanced the neighbourhood community of 

people coming together. 45 
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 Now yesterday that was strongly opposed by many leading urban 

designers and landscape architects.  A handful of years later the same 

people now say, “that’s a jolly good idea”.  So how do we still not stifle 

by leaving things that really don’t matter, I guess is the point.  So 

where is the balance in that? 5 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Okay, right.  I think that is where it comes down to having 

assessment criteria rather than standards, and just looking at 1(d) there, 

we may have a – let us say, take the 11 unit development, one can 

provide for some large scale indigenous endemic tree planting, but that 10 

doesn’t preclude having other sorts of planting as well.  It comes down 

to the placement of such trees, perhaps in relation to a grove of trees 

across the boundary of a nearby stream.  It doesn’t preclude other 

things.   

 15 

 If it were to be a standard I would be really – that would be of concern 

for me.  But if the intention is to relate to the wider city context and 

character, I think that is a legitimate matter.   

 

 But as I say, it doesn’t preclude other types of tree planting and in my 20 

view, particularly in Christchurch which has a history of a lot of exotic 

trees in very fine gardens, very fine specimens, there is legitimacy in 

using exotics as well. 

 

MR SAX:   Thank you. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Chairman.  Mr McIndoe, good afternoon. 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Good afternoon. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Look, I am just going to ask you a first set of questions 

about broad matters of principle in terms of the Act and where urban 

design fits in, and then I want to test some issues to you in terms of the 

comparison with Wellington City and looking at some of the matters of 

detail that have been well covered in some other questioning.   35 

 

 Just stepping right back, just looking at the theory of your evidence, 

one thing I didn’t see in there but I am sure you will have a theory on it, 

is where urban design fits within the scheme of the RMA in terms of 

the obligations we have in developing the plan.   40 

 

  [3.30 pm] 

 

 I presume you would say that it fits in part two of the Act, and am I 

right to assume that at one level, particularly at a community scale, it 45 

belongs in regard to Section 5l enabling people and communities to 
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provide for their wellbeing and so forth.  Is that where you see urban 

design fitting at a community scale? 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Yes, that would be fair to say.  I guess where I have always 

seen urban design fitting in best, the most direct reference is the 5 

reference to amenity values and the definition of amenity values.  

Aesthetic coherence providing for recreational potential and soon and 

so on. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, and in terms of Section 7, so therefore it is a matter 10 

which we give weight to, have particular regard to, but it does not have 

the degree of direction in terms of our obligations, as for instance, the 

matters in Section 5? 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Correct. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So in terms of it being a response to amenity values, 

maybe arguably at a community scale as well depending on when that 

becomes an issue.  I just want to test some issues on this concept of 

what it is an acceptable outcome in terms of urban design. 20 

 

 So if we go to 9.2.1 of your evidence to start with, I think, and there 

you discuss the auditing role you undertook for multi-unit housing 

projects and consent outcomes in Wellington City? 

 25 

MR MCINDOE:   That is correct. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So just in terms of that, and from my broad familiarity 

with the Wellington plan, it has got a set of urban design regimes in the 

plan, multi-units is one of them, central city is another one. 30 

 

 And as I understand it, in the case of multi units, the auditing that you 

were part of resulted in the plan change, is that right, to describe the 

category of activity as being restricted discretionary, not controlled? 

 35 

MR MCINDOE:   Yes, that occurred following the work I undertook. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, and presumably that was as a result of difficulties 

that were being experienced in terms of the proper application of urban 

design under a controlled activity regime? 40 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Yes, look, in my evidence I used a rather informal term, 

“lipstick on the pig”, because what was happening, and this was not 

only in the residential areas with multi-unit, but in the central area, 

very, very poorly designed buildings, completely out of proportion, 45 

dominating sometimes, a heritage building at lower level, were being 
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dressed up with materials or details which reflected the heritage below 

which is, in fact, a very poor design outcome, but Council was unable 

to get the leverage to say, “No, do it some other way”, and these things 

were getting through. 

 5 

 And so in fact, despite having the guidance, because it could not be 

implemented, there was no leverage to implement it properly, we were 

still getting some poor outcomes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And if you were also to compare the Wellington plan 10 

example with this one though, am I right to understand that that is a 

plan that, for instance, provides a great deal more detail when it comes 

to guidance on design, than what is provided for under this plan? 

 

MR MCINDOE:   That is correct. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So I am wondering whether, and those are by reference to 

what is called design guides, which are built into the plan, aren’t they? 

 

MR MCINDOE:   That is correct. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And the status of those design guides is, in a sense, a 

reference point for the discussion at urban design, depending on 

activity category.  They are not a set of obligatory criteria? 

 25 

MR MCINDOE:   Correct. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, just in terms of that concept and your discussion 

with Dr Mitchell, on page 226 when he discussed with you the 

connected-ness between – if you go to page 226 before I take you to the 30 

question. 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So we got the numerical numbers there, and then we have 35 

got the letters that that applies and how they connect, was one of the 

areas Dr Mitchell questioned you on, and as to what the proper linking 

words were intended to be.  I see in the paragraph above it, there is 

reference to guidance, do you see that? “As guided by the associated 

criteria.” 40 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Yes, certainly. 

 

  [3.35 pm] 

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   That is perhaps one place where there is this mixed 

message, would you agree, that needs to be resolved? The first word is 

guided, the second word is criteria, they seem to be of slightly mixed 

concepts? 

 5 

MR MCINDOE:   Yes, there could well be the – there is that risk. 

Commissioner, to be clear, there are issues of legal interpretation here 

and that is – I will not comment on that. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, I am not asking you to comment. 10 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Yes, but I suspect there could well be the risk of debate 

about the status of these things. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just so that I understand, I am really only wanting your 15 

professional opinion and not wanting to catch you out in any sense on 

the law, but I wonder whether in a professional sense, am I right to 

understand that what was wrong in your judgement and perhaps the 

judgement of others who changed the Plan in Wellington in regard to 

multi-units, was activity categorisation. But would you say that that 20 

model in Wellington was actually better or worse than this one in the 

sense that it provided more detail in its design criteria or design 

matters, assessment matters, perhaps avoid that word criteria, for 

guidance given? 

 25 

MR MCINDOE:   Look, I think both approaches can work and if we were to 

take this a step further we have Ms McIntyre’s suggestion of just the 

headline criteria, but we are on a sliding scale of providing certainty, on 

one hand we have got the Wellington City Council approach, which has 

the matters, it has the objective, design objective, design guidelines and 30 

it has explanation and illustration which helps people to interpret this. 

The proposed version we have for Christchurch has the matters and 

then it has a number of issues underneath, so it gives some clarity about 

what those matters are, and then we have the other approach of just the 

headline.  35 

 

 Now, I think you could apply each of those, but they have different 

characteristics and - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I am just going to test with you what you think is optimal 40 

though? 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Okay. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   From your experience now, bearing in mind that what the 45 

Crown has put through its evidence and questioning of you, the merits 
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of what you have seen in the Wellington situation in terms of sensibly 

written guidelines that are not criteria but are sitting there to assist 

discussion, and a set of matters within the Plan, do you think urban 

design approaches would be better achieved by way of outcome with a 

degree of more guidance, for instance in associated documents, 5 

guidelines, call them what you will, that sit with the matters within the 

Plan? 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Firstly, I think the approach that Council is proposing here is 

comprehensive and robust. In answer to your question - - - 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I am not asking – the question - - - 

 

MR MCINDOE:   The question, I think it would assist to have additional 

material, it always would assist, that people may refer to if there is 15 

some debate about what a particular matter is all about, and that can be 

outside the Plan.  I do not think it’s necessary, but I think it would 

assist.  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, I want to test that a little bit harder with you 20 

because there is a degree of significant difference by way of guidance 

between relatively short listed matters in 226 to 227 and what is 

contained within a typical design guide of the Wellington City Plan, or 

am I wrong about that? 

 25 

MR MCINDOE:   If we were to, let us say take the residential design guide, it 

is in six sections, so effectively this list of matters is in about five 

sections, so it is not too dissimilar. In Wellington the first one is 

character and this one deals with character and there are other issues 

dealt with as well. If we were then to look at how many, say, sub-30 

matters are under each of those, we are not too far removed from the 

number of guidelines in the Wellington City guidelines, we are lesser, 

but I think we are in the same general ball park in terms of scope.  

 

 What we are missing are specific design objectives, so they are 35 

intended to – within the criteria, in Wellington we have the specific 

design objectives, as you know, to try and identify what the guidelines 

are trying to achieve, and that helps to determine how we might deviate 

from the guidelines, look, this is what we are trying to achieve, you 

might do it like this, you might do it like that or, you know, come up 40 

with a better idea. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So that is the next thing I wanted to go to and I am trying 

to be as quick as I can on this.  It is without wanting to be disparaging 

at all towards your profession, you have been very honest and robust 45 

about it yourself.  
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  [3.40 pm] 

 

 How well do you think architects respond to policy direction, I think 

your comment to Ms Dawson was: “Architects are not planners, they 5 

do not look scrupulously at every provision of the plan”. 

 

 So how well in your urban design opinion as an urban design 

professional, take direction through policy in a plan? 

 10 

MR MCINDOE:   Okay, the way these things typically work and I am working 

with a number of New Zealand’s top architects on projects across the 

country, is that they take a brief from the client, they are advised as to 

whether the building should - - - 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well the client here, for the assessors, so the Council 

would employ is the community; so taking your brief from the 

community, how well does an urban design professional assessing an 

application respond to policy direction? 

 20 

MR MCINDOE:   Okay, very clearly, in fact scrupulously, an urban design 

professional assessing any project needs to look at the criteria and 

assess against them. 

 

 I guess my point was made when an architect designs a building they 25 

take a brief from a client, they are aware of the controls around a 

building if in fact they design precisely in accordance with those 

controls it can be so limiting that no design comes out but they – and 

design is an iterative process and other people in the team or they may 

check against how it relates to criteria in a district planner standards 30 

and look at how they amend things and so on to a point where the 

project is knocked around and refined to a point where it is a really 

good project and it is going to be able to get through the consent 

process. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So am I right to take to that answer and the answer you 

gave to Mr Sax before as well that the architect responding to their 

client as an applicant and the person assessing the matter at the Council 

would both benefit from clear policy direction in the plan on the 

application of urban design matters? 40 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So taking it a bit further, if I could go to page 226 of the 

draft and I am looking here at this issue of appropriateness again, so for 45 

instance where a design guide in point one describes whether the 
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development reinforces or compliments the scale and character 

anticipated for the surrounding area and other built natural heritage and 

cultural features, are you telling us that the urban design approach 

would work better if all of those subjective words were linked more 

clearly to what the plan was giving direction on in its policies? 5 

 

 For instance, if I take heritage, cultural features, natural features, in 

each of those cases, it would be better, wouldn’t, if those referred to 

what was identified in the plan as warranting recognition? 

 10 

MR MCINDOE:   I guess for complete internal consistency that would be 

desirable but in a sense that the matter such as one makes it clear what 

is important and the - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well it is not quite my question, when we were talking 15 

before I think you were happy to concede that the process would be 

assisted by policy direction given to urban design professionals and if I 

put it to you that these are words left, without any other policy 

guidance as far as I am aware, policy guidance would be assisted in 

interpreting them, wouldn’t they?  They would be of assistance in 20 

interpreting them and giving direction to that discussion on urban 

design? 

 

MR MCINDOE:   If I am correct, Commissioner, you are suggesting that (a), 

(b), (c), (d), et cetera are elaborated on to be sufficiently comprehensive 25 

to absolute - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No.  Come back to one.  The introductory words and what 

I have just read to you; what do those words tell you about how the 

plan anticipates anything, what are we to take from that?  There are two 30 

choices, either the policy gives that direction on what is anticipated or 

it is left without policy direction for the urban designers to figure out 

on the day.  What are you suggesting is the better approach? 

 

  [3.45 pm] 35 

 

MR MCINDOE:   I think this would come back to the – In answer to your 

question I think there needs to be policy direction and I think that 

comes out of the objectives and policies in the chapter of the Plan, and 

this is the next level down, so in fact if there is a matter included in 40 

these criteria that is not derived from the objectives and policies there is 

a problem because it does not relate back to what it is trying to achieve. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, the strictures of my questioning and answering are 

probably limiting your collective answer but taking that on board I 45 

think what you are saying is as you would read these provisions, words 
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like anticipated for, you would see them as properly linking to the 

policies, making sure the wordsmithing is done correctly is not your job 

but you see that as valuable?   

 

MR MCINDOE:   From a design perspective, I guess the consistency has to 5 

occur.  These matters need to be consistent with the objective and 

policy framework. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well the policies have to be given effect to by the rules.   

 10 

MR MCINDOE:   Yes, so the consistency has to be there.  I do not think it 

would necessarily help the architect of any project to have all the cross-

references overt and listed. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   That is not what I said. 15 

 

SJH:   Please listen to the question and try to answer the question that is put to 

you and not something off to the side, please. 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Certainly. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Specifically, I heard you to say, tell me if I heard you 

incorrectly, that it would help better design outcomes because it would 

help and direct urban designers acting for their different clients, 

including the community, that words like “anticipated for” were to give 25 

effect to policies to which they were related? 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, and does the same apply to the reference to 30 

landscape features in (c)? 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, there is just one other matter on my list, 35 

looking at the matters that are controlled under the urban design regime 

and I do not need to take you to the page for this, I just want to list 

them to you quickly, there is a set of things which you might describe 

as multi-unit types; you have got multi-units, you have got social 

housing over four units, you have got boarding houses, you have got 40 

student hostels, but then in addition to those you have got a range of 

smaller items and activities for instance the conversion of one 

residential unit to two, or the provision of a minor residential unit 

detached from a house.   

 45 
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 In terms of what urban design is trying to achieve, do you think those 

latter two examples are really beyond what needs to be addressed for 

community scale urban design or even neighbourhood scale urban 

design in terms of the priorities that we must address under part 2 of the 

Act, including for amenity values? 5 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Yes, I think those projects are of very small scale and 

because of their small scale they typically have very few if any impacts 

across the boundary and for that reason I think the control regime 

should be effectively permitted subject to standards. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, now one final matter, Mr McIndoe, and I may 

have understand the plan on this but as far as I can tell on page 38, 

retirement villages are not covered by the urban design regime, and I 

look at a retirement village and compare it with, for instance, a student 15 

hostel and I am struggling to see why one is covered and the other is 

not, can you help with that? 

 

MR MCINDOE:   No, I cannot.  I share the concern, I think, they are both 

types of multi-unit housing, there will be specific considerations in 20 

each but the overlap is substantial, and retirement villages tend to be 

very large and so I would certainly be classing them as a particular type 

of multi-unit development. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you very much, Mr McIndoe. 25 

 

SJH:   Mr McIndoe, just one brief question following on from Judge Hassan’s 

questioning.  In terms of the Act there has to be the informed cascade 

from objective to policy to rule.  Absent that informed cascade there 

will be a lack of clarity, correct? 30 

 

  [3.50 pm] 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Correct. 

 35 

SJH:   And, therefore, would fail to meet the statement of expectations.  

Correct? 

 

MR MCINDOE:   Yes, correct. 

 40 

SJH:   Than you.  Mr Radich, any? 

 

MR RADICH:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:  Ms Semple? 45 
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MS SEMPLE:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Ms Walsh? 

 

MS WASLH:  No, sir. 5 

 

SJH:   Ms Scott? 

 

MS SCOTT:   No, thank you, sir. 

 10 

SJH:   Thank you, Mr McIndoe, you can stand down.  We went way, way, way 

over time with questions, but there we go.  We will make up for it 

when we come back – we will have a 10 minute break and come back 

to the next witness. 

 15 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [3.50 pm] 

 

ADJOURNED [3.50 pm] 

 

RESUMED [4.02 pm] 20 

 

SJH:   Yes, thank you.  Thank you, Ms Scott. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, sir, the Council’s next witness is Ms Ekin Sakin.  In  

 25 

SJH:  Thank you. 

 

MS SCOTT:   In the interests of saving time I have asked her to come forward 

already. 

 30 

SJH:   Very enthusiastic. 

 

<EKIN SAKIN, affirmed [4.02 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS SCOTT [4.02 pm] 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, Ms Sakin, if you can confirm that you have prepared 

two statements of evidence, the first evidence-in-chief dated 11 March 

2015 and a rebuttal statement of evidence dated 25 March 2015? 5 

 

MS SAKIN:   Yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   The qualifications are as set out in the introductory section of 

your statement of evidence-in-chief? 10 

 

MS SAKIN:   Yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Do you have any corrections to make to your evidence? 

 15 

MS SAKIN:   I have one little correction to my paragraph numbers in my 

evidence-in-chief and that is on page 21 the paragraph numbers jump 

from 7.25 to 7.1 so any paragraph numbers with ‘7’ I would appreciate 

if you also mention the page number, and apologies for that. 

 20 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you.  Other than that correction can you confirm that your 

evidence is true and correct to the best of your knowledge and belief? 

 25 

MS SAKIN:   Yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you.  If you could just provide a short summary of your 

evidence and then respond to any questions, thank you. 

 30 

MS SAKIN:   What are built form standards?  Built form standards comprise 

bulk and location standards to guide overall neighbourhood and city 

form, street scene standards to guide the interface of public and private 

realm and on-site amenity to set the minimum standards of amenity 

onsite and for neighbours. 35 

 

 That is basically the scope of my evidence and the question I was asked 

was, are they necessary or set at the right measurable standard?  Apart 

from the RMA requirement for district plans to include rules, policies 

and objectives built form standards are necessary to provide sufficient 40 

certainty and choice to the community in determining where they 

choose to reside or carry out development activity.  This is particularly 

with respect to four considerations: (1) density distribution and 

location, (2) character and amenity anticipation, (3) the external 

envelope for possible development that they can expect both to be able 45 
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to develop on their own land and on neighbouring properties and (4) 

the minimum standard of amenity in the building stock. 

 

  [4.05 pm] 

 5 

 In the proposed residential chapter certainty and flexibility are balanced 

by using quantitative standards supported by qualitative assessments. 

Generally the outcome and effects of smaller developments are guarded 

by quantitative standards, whereas larger developments are subject to 

qualitative assessments.  In this case that’s mostly multi-unit residential 10 

complexes.  

 

 The quantitative standards operate as a package. In the proposed 

residential chapter the package of built form standards form a whole 

that is more than the sum of what each standard defines.  For example, 15 

outdoor living space requirements are related to minimum site sizes in 

each zone, as well as to minimum unit sizes.  A change in one standard 

would need to be reflected in the other.  

 

 Qualitative assessments are made on the basis of explicitly stated 20 

principles and suggested methods of achieving these, such as in the 

case of urban design principles. Therefore whilst the assessment is 

qualitative, that does not imply uncertainty or too much subjectivity. 

There is sufficient clarity of expectations and guidance as to how to 

comply with the principles. 25 

 

 Overall, my view is that the built form standards provide investment 

certainty and have optimised the number, extent and prescriptiveness in 

order to encourage innovation and choice. They also ensure availability 

of choice in housing types, densities and locations as stated in objective 30 

3.3.1 of the Strategic Directions Chapter Decision of the Proposed 

Replacement District Plan. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. Mr Radich? 

 35 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR RADICH [4.07 pm] 

 

MR RADICH:   Ms Sakin, good afternoon to you. 

 

MS SAKIN:   Good afternoon. 40 

 

MR RADICH:   Built form standards are one of those things that occupy a 

number of pages, don’t they, in the first place across the Plan as a 

whole.  In an endeavour to think more deeply about the ways in which 

we might be able to consolidate them, I tried – and I am not trying to 45 

get you to look at this, but I tried to create my own little table where I 
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lined them all up and made a list of the standards we have typically and 

how common they were, and I found in doing that that we have 62 

pages of standards, would you agree that that sounds about right or take 

my word for that? 

 5 

MS SAKIN:   I have not counted the pages. 

 

MR RADICH:   Okay, I did, it must be my odd personality, and I found a 

significant degree of commonality, although of course as you say there 

are subtle differences, but a significant degree of commonality when I 10 

started ticking across the lines.  Would you agree that that’s right? 

 

MS SAKIN:   Yes, certainly, as I have stated that built form standards basically 

talk about three main areas, location, street scene and on-site amenities, 

so you will find rules about these in every zone. 15 

 

MR RADICH:   Have you had a chance to look at the central city residential 

zone?  The newly notified January 2015 a liveable city document? 

 

MS SAKIN:   Enough to be familiar with, but I could not quote it. 20 

 

MR RADICH:   Okay, no, I would not ask you to do that.  Could I perhaps just 

give out a copy of this, madam Registrar, if I could ask you, these are 

for the Panel members.  

 25 

 Now, of course you will understand that this zoning is arranged a little 

differently, so if you look for example again just to anchor ourselves 

into the order of things, on page 21 of the document – page 20 in fact is 

where the rules start, is it not? 

 30 

MS SAKIN:   Yes. 

 

MR RADICH:   Page 21 tells us that you are a permitted activity if you comply 

with all of the relevant development and critical standards and the city 

wide standards, do you see that in 4A1.1? 35 

 

MS SAKIN:   Yes. 

 

MR RADICH:   Then below that, 4A1.2, it tells us that you are restricted 

discretionary if you do not comply with a development standard. 40 

 

MS SAKIN:   Yes. 

 

MR RADICH:   Over the page, 4A1.4, you are non-complying if you do not 

comply with a development standard or one of the critical standards? 45 
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MS SAKIN:   Yes. 

 

MR RADICH:   Do you see then from page 22-27 there is the list of 

development standards which give you the a flick between permitted or 

restricted discretionary and then the controlled standards or the critical 5 

standards, should I say, that flicks you out into non-complying on page 

26. Do you see that? Is it attractive to you from your view of built form 

standards to be able to consolidate, as this planning document has, all 

of those standards to about five pages? I know we are only dealing with 

one zone here and it is more complex across a broader area, but do you 10 

find from a drafting point of view that to be a more attractive 

proposition? 

 

  [4.10 pm] 

 15 

MS SAKIN:   Can I just take a moment to look at how many pages we have? 

 

MR RADICH:   Of course, so I am looking at pages 22 through to 27. 

 

MS SAKIN:   Now, in terms of the number of rules, I can say if we just follow 20 

the numbers that I have given here, so it goes up to 4A to 11.  So we 

could say there are 11 rules, and if we look at for instance, the 

residential medium density zone in the proposed residential chapter, 

our rules go to 18, or did, and there are some that are deleted now, such 

as the energy and water efficient standards and life stage inclusive 25 

standards. So in terms of number of standards, I do not see that there is 

a large difference. If we were to look at these one by one, we would 

probably see that the content is actually very similar. 

 

MR RADICH:   Okay, thank you. I just want to go through the very few 30 

outstanding matters between the Crown and the Council remaining, in 

terms built form standards if we are to use the current format. And so 

let me just go through a list of, only about four matters with you, quite 

quickly, just for your comment, please. So if you look please at page 47 

and rule 14.2.3.2, it appears at the very, very bottom of that page. 35 

 

MS SAKIN:   That is the landscaping and garden planting rule. 

 

MR RADICH:   That is right, and so the Crown’s position you might have seen 

from Ms McIntyre’s evidence is that we do not need a specific 40 

landscaping rule and we need to reduce prescriptiveness to take that 

one out of this particular zone because these sorts of matters are picked 

up through other, broader rules.  Just your comment on that please? 
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MS SAKIN:   My comment is that those sorts of provisions are not picked up 

in other rules. This is the only amenity-related street scene rule in the 

zone. 

 

MR RADICH:   There are other rules though, are there not, that aim to ensure a 5 

high-quality urban environment? 

 

MS SAKIN:   Which rule would you be referring to? 

 

MR RADICH:   There are other rules, when you look, for example, across the 10 

suite of built form standards that are aimed to setback, height, 

coverage, to deal with amenity generally. 

 

MS SAKIN:   At a high level, yes. 

 15 

MR RADICH:   The next one I want to mention is on page 49, 14.2.3.4, that is 

at the bottom of page 49, over the page on page 50 where the rule 

continues, number 2 there has been deleted and attributed to the Crown, 

and I just wanted to be clear on the point that in fact the Crown’s 

amendment that was sought was just to remove the words “multi-unit” 20 

so that the remaining words would be social housing complexes within 

the zone and we would have the 40 percent standard still there.  Now, 

that has been changed.  The Crown, to be clear, does continue to pursue 

the form that it sought and seize the 40 percent standard for social 

housing generally, as appropriate. Your view has change between 25 

versions of the Plan, has it not? 

 

MS SAKIN:   Yes. 

 

MR RADICH:   You had a view in the initial, 9 March version that the 40 30 

percent rule could be there, and now you have reviewed that position 

and gone back to 35, that is right, is it not? 

 

  [4.15 pm] 

 35 

MS SAKIN:   Yes. 

 

MR RADICH:   There is a case to say, isn’t there, that 40 percent for social 

housing complexes is appropriate when we are endeavouring to enable 

through every area that we can intensification in Christchurch City? 40 

 

MS SAKIN:   No, not on its own. 

 

MR RADICH:   You disagree with that? 

 45 

MS SAKIN:   I disagree. 
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MR RADICH:   All right. 

 

MS SAKIN:   If I may explain the reason for the change of my 

recommendation I could explain it further.   5 

 

MR RADICH:   Please.   

 

MS SAKIN:   In the previous version where I have recommended 40 percent 

site coverage, that was – firstly this relates to my proposition that all of 10 

the quantitative rules operate as a package.  So here we are looking at a 

higher site coverage and a low density zone, and my position is that it 

may be appropriate to have the extra 5 percent site coverage, if the 

complex is of small scale and single storey, that was the notified 

version.   15 

 

 However, with the shift to, and partly informed by Mr McIndoe’s 

views, the other alternative to achieving the same outcome would be to 

stick to 35 percent site coverage but allow the height to match the zone.  

So I see as there are two ways of achieving the same outcome, hence 20 

the difference between the versions. 

 

MR RADICH:   All right.  You understand the Crown’s position though, that it 

seeks to ensure every ounce of intensification that it can? You 

understand that as a position that is fairly taken? 25 

 

MS SAKIN:   I understand it. 

 

MR RADICH:   Now the next one is page 96 please.  Aren’t we, we have 

moved again here, haven’t we?  I think I am right in saying that the 30 

plan is notified started with numbers 1 and 2, 9 and 11 metres.  In the 9 

March version number 2 went and it was just 9 metres and that was the 

request of the Crown and perhaps others, and now we have gone back 

to where we started. 

 35 

 There is just no justification really, is there, for drawing this distinction 

to make it more prescriptive rather than less, if we are clear that we are 

dealing with three storey dwellings? 

 

MS SAKIN:   I discuss the justification in my rebuttal evidence in some length.  40 

So I disagree, there is justification. 

 

MR RADICH:   Your concern I think, if I am right, was that this may lead us 

into a four storey development. 

 45 

MS SAKIN:   Yes. 
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MR RADICH:   Which was not what was intended.   

 

MS SAKIN:   Yes. 

 5 

MR RADICH:   And if we made it clear that in this zone that three storey is 

what is expected, that might cover that, mightn’t it, and enable us to 

have a consistent height level? 

 

MS SAKIN:   That would cover my concern about scale.  It would not cover 10 

my concern about character of Christchurch’s residential areas which 

has a very clear pitched roof character across the neighbourhoods. 

 

MR RADICH:   Right.  And the last one, your rebuttal evidence at paragraph 

5.2 – hopefully I have made my note correctly.  It is 5.23, sorry.  No, it 15 

is not right, is it?  Let me take you to the provision, 14.2.3.10.  That is 

14.2. 

 

MS SAKIN:   Yes, the planting strip.   

 20 

MR RADICH:   The planting strip. 

 

MS SAKIN:   And for residential suburban zone.   

 

MS DAWSON:   Page 56. 25 

 

MR RADICH:   Thank you very much. 

 

MS SAKIN:   Yes.  The street scene amenity and safety.   

 30 

MR RADICH:   Aren’t we over-prescribing when we include a level of detail 

like that, don’t you think? 

 

MS SAKIN:   Are you referring to fences, garages and planting being - - -  

 35 

MR RADICH:   The inclusion now of the landscape, yes, just the landscaping 

at the end which has appeared in this particular version, I am concerned 

that that is further regulation when we are trying to be cleaner.   

 

MS SAKIN:   And has been there in the notified version as well. 40 

 

MR RADICH:   Yes.  And I think it went away again, didn’t it, and it has come 

back again, is that right? 
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  [4.20 pm] 

 

MS SAKIN:   Mr Blair has taken it in the 9 March version, however, my 

evidence has never supported its removal.    

 5 

MR RADICH:   I see, so it is back there as a result of your request, is that 

right? 

 

MS SAKIN:   I assume so. 

 10 

MR RADICH:   Yes, and I think it is attributed to you there in fact in the 

document itself and you do not agree with me then, I take it, that 

providing this level of regulation is in appropriate? 

 

MS SAKIN:   I do not agree with you. 15 

 

MR RADICH:   Okay, thank you.  Thank you very much, sir. 

 

SJH:   Ms Semple? 

 20 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS SEMPLE [4.20 pm] 

 

MS SEMPLE:   Thank you, sir.  Good afternoon.  I just have a couple of 

questions following on from my friend Mr Radich, just on this question 

of density, you helpfully pointed out that (INDISTINCT 0.58) 25 

depending on the height.  My question for is there some opportunity for 

flexibility to be afforded to the social housing provider instead of trying 

to determine it now, whether it is 35 and 2, or 40 and 1, could the Plan 

provide for that flexibility such that the social housing provider might 

make that election? 30 

 

MS SAKIN:   In my view, the Plan does that by the restricted discretionary 

activity status.   

 

MS SEMPLE:   And could you see an argument for making it somewhat easier 35 

so that there was not a need to necessarily go through a consent process 

to achieve that so that there could be some optionality? 

 

MS SAKIN:   Because we are in the low density residential zone, I do not 

believe it will be easy to do that with a blanket provision because in 40 

order to retain the choice between the zones we need to take into 

account the low density character of these areas, so if the activity was 

permitted this would easily erode that choice that we are trying to 

attain.   

 45 

MS SEMPLE:   Even if that were limited to social housing providers? 
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MS SAKIN:   I could not assess what quantity I could expect from social 

housing providers therefore I could not answer. 

 

MS SEMPLE:   Thank you. You say in paragraph 5.1 of your primary evidence 5 

that there was a notified built form standards review and that that 

review was informed and/or was in accordance with directions from 

higher order documents, including the LURP.  Do you have a copy of 

the LURP there?  Could I ask you to look at paragraph 4.6.3 on page 

39.   10 

 

MS SAKIN:   Ensure quality design requirements. 

 

MS SEMPLE:   Thank you.  The last sentence of that indicates as part of its 

District Plan review, Christchurch City Council will work with 15 

developers to improve the certainty and clarity of urban design 

requirements to streamline consenting processes.  To what extent did 

the built form standards review work with developers?   

 

MS SAKIN:   We did not consult directly with the developers in the built form 20 

standards review.  The review was based on the elements that I have 

described in my evidence and in my technical report which was an 

effort to minimise the number of standards, consolidate them, and 

remove unnecessary ones.  In doing that, especially with regards to 

multi-unit related provisions, because of the Operative Plan requiring 25 

urban design assessment for three units and over we have a very wide 

range of examples of various developments and how they have 

responded, as well as that I have not taken any steps at all to developers 

myself, however, in the Council’s urban design team there has been 

ongoing relationships with various developers based on build form and 30 

urban design. 

 

  [4.25 pm] 

 

MS SEMPLE:   But to be clear, the design controls review of built form in the 35 

section 32 assessment did not have any direct input from developers? 

 

MS SAKIN:   Not directly and not explicitly, however it is already included in 

the officers experience because of the high volume that we are dealing 

with. 40 

 

MS SEMPLE:   Thank you, no further questions, sir. 

 

SJH:   Ms Walsh. 

45 
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<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS WALSH [4.25 pm] 

 

MS WALSH:   Thank you, sir, I will be also referring to appendix 5 to the 

section 32 report, so maybe just keep that handy.  

 5 

 Mr Jones in his evidence in relation to the residential medium density 

zone, he favours retaining the existing equivalent to the site coverage 

standard which is the residential floor area ratio standard, and I just 

want to better understand the justification from moving away from that 

reasonably flexible standard to the rigidity of the site coverage rule. 10 

 

 So I understand you were the author of that appendix 5 to the Section 

32 Report? 

 

MS SAKIN:   Yes, I am.  15 

 

MS WALSH:   I will just refer to that as your report.  Now, you have obviously 

relied on that report I can see in forming your opinions in your 

evidence and coming to the conclusion that there is a site coverage rule 

that should apply.  So just turning to page 17 of your report, appendix 5 20 

report, and there you state that multi-unit dwellings often include three 

or more dwellings on a site, is that right? 

 

MS SAKIN:   It is not on page 17 in my technical report, I am sorry.  

 25 

MS WALSH:   Appendix 5 to the Section 32 Report. 

 

MS SAKIN:   Yes. 

 

MS WALSH:   This is taken off the Council website, so this is the Section 32 30 

Report that has been notified to the public. 

 

MS SAKIN:   Could you give me the topic as well? 

 

SJH:   3.2.1, is it, Ms Walsh? 35 

 

MS WALSH:   Yes, sir. 

 

MS SAKIN:   3.2.1, thank you. 

 40 

MS WALSH:   Sorry. 

 

MS SAKIN:   Yes. 

 

MS WALSH:   So I just wanted to understand, did you look at any newer 45 

developments, such as those in the residential medium density areas, at 
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Wigram for example, which predominantly are single dwellings on 

single sites? 

 

MS SAKIN:   In my technical report I have – and in my evidence also – I 

concentrate on the flat land existing urban zones and not new 5 

neighbourhood zones, so I did not look at Wigram specifically, 

however, I am aware of some new neighbourhood development types 

through my relationship with the urban design team and their 

assessments. 

 10 

MS WALSH:   Well, I am not referring to new neighbourhood zones, I am 

referring to existing living 3 areas, and where those areas have been 

developed in a new way comprehensively, did you look at any of those 

sorts of developments such as that of a living 3 zone at Wigram? 

 15 

MS SAKIN:   At the time of writing this technical report multi-unit 

development was defined as three or more units, so I did not. 

 

MS WALSH:   Thank you.  So in the same section of that report over the next 

page, at page 18, you have noted there that developments often, at the 20 

very top paragraph there, you have noted that developments often do 

not reach the maximum permitted floor area ratio on narrow sites and it 

is on narrow sites that the problem with compromised amenity arises, is 

that right? 

 25 

MS SAKIN:   Yes, in context of multi-unit developments, yes. 

 

MS WALSH:   And then you refer to the table below there, which is also on 

page 18. So all of those sites in that table there, are they what you 

would classify then as narrow sites? 30 

 

MS SAKIN:   No. These where, in this case, I have taken a broader analysis 

and I asked planning officers for examples of developments which 

reach or come close to the RFAR, the residential floor area ratio, so I 

took a much broader approach than that.  35 

 

MS WALSH:   Thank you, but you accept in your top paragraph that you have 

identified that the problem arises on narrow sites, you have not talked 

about other sites in that report there. 

 40 

MS SAKIN:   The particle problem that I state here, yes, there are other 

problems with RFAR. 

 

MS WALSH:   But that is not identified there. So just going to paragraph 7.16 

at page 18 of your evidence-in-chief, and towards the bottom of that 45 

paragraph you refer to the design controls review, which is appendix 5, 
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and you say that that study demonstrates that 45 percent or above site 

coverage is really reached in typical medium density development. I 

just wonder, given your report relates to narrow sites where there, 

perhaps a better word to use there would be narrow, rather than typical. 

 5 

  [4.30 pm] 

 

MS SAKIN:   No, because as is in my attachment B to my rebuttal evidence, I 

have some typical sites, typical multi-unit, typical L3 sites which are 

not necessarily all narrow. And we have analysed those for site 10 

coverage as well, and the result is not different in that the presence of 

on-site access in vehicles actually eliminate the possibility of 80 

percent site coverage.  I have read Mr Jones’ evidence, and he theorises 

that a large single house could have 80 percent site coverage.  I cannot 

see that being possible, because with the site boundary setbacks and 15 

round boundary setback, those, let us say, take a large site, 1,000 

square meter site for ease of calculation. 20 meters by 50 meters, which 

is a very typical pre-subdivision site in Christchurch, the colonial 

quarter of an acre, is 20 by 50.  

 20 

 So even with the reduced side boundary setback at 1 meter from two 

side boundaries and the back boundary, that gives us over 100 square 

meters of site side setback. And then we have at least 4 meters road 

boundary setback to the front, so 18 times 4 is 72. So when we 

calculate those, we actually get slightly more than 20 percent of the site 25 

already being taken up by setbacks. So it is not actually a practically 

achievable number, and that is one of my issues with the residential 

floor area ratio is that it actually leads people to believe certain things 

are possible, when they actually are not. 

 30 

 I would agree that it is a more flexible way of approaching it when you 

have a height limit of more than three storeys. 

 

MS WALSH:   And that is Mr Jones’s evidence, is it not? He favours the 

flexibility that the floor area ratio can allow. 35 

 

MS SAKIN:   For over three storeys. That is not the case in our residential 

areas. 

 

MS WALSH:   Well, he favours in his evidence the flexibility of the allowance 40 

in terms of giving a single living environment, a single level storey 

environment for those people who want that sort of development. 

 

MS SAKIN:   The only flexibility that is lost through this residential floor area 

ratio for site coverage, in the context of a height limit, that limits 45 

residential development to three storeys, is the possibility of site 
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coverage between about 45 percent and 55 percent. I have not seen any 

multi-unit developments that achieve more than 55 percent, and recent 

plan change 53, which we came up with in 2011 in its technical report 

it had carried out a very extensive analysis of medium and high density, 

and it had found that even high density developments in central city did 5 

not achieve more than 55 percent site coverage. 

 

MS WALSH:   And so just on that answer there, you have said that you 

identified a number of sites which were at around 55 percent site 

coverage. Or, 45 to 55 percent I think you said. So for those sites, if 10 

they ever wanted to build a small extension or a garage for example, 

they would have to go through a resource consent process under your 

proposal as compared to the residential floor area ratio. 

 

MS SAKIN:   Just for accuracy, I have not identified any sites with 55 percent 15 

coverage. That was identified in the broader plan change 53 process, in 

high density environments, so such as central city. In the living three, 

which is the proposed residential medium density, the average was 45 

percent and I have some numbers, and very few developments, about 

10 to 15, I think, among the 500 also that were analysed, breached the 20 

45 percent, so it was a very small number of properties, and when you 

look at them they are, in my view, they are inappropriate in terms of - - 

-  

 

  [4.35 pm] 25 

 

SJH:   You might like to re-put the question so we have it answered. 

 

MS WALSH:   Yes.  Just returning to the table at page 18 and there you have 

said – so that is the sites that you have analysed and I think there are 30 

eight sites there.  Do you accept that it might have been helpful to have 

used a larger number of sites in your analysis there to perhaps provide a 

more representative, and looking at newer developments like those in 

Living 3 at Wigram, for example? 

 35 

MS SAKIN:   Yes, so we took a pragmatic approach and looked at the typical 

developments that were recent at the time of writing the technical 

report because we were building on the extensive analysis done at 

PC53. 

 40 

MS WALSH:   So you are satisfied that eight sites will give you representative 

data? 

 

MS SAKIN:   My knowledge and analysis is much wider than that because of 

my exposure to the applications that we receive.  For the purposes of 45 

the technical report at the time I consider that appropriate. 
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MS WALSH:   Right.  So just turning to the two diagrams you have got at 

page 19 of your report there, you have shown what you consider to be 

indicating the difference in development arising from a density 

controlled by a floor area ratio, so that is the top diagram on page 19, 5 

and then the bottom diagram, that is what you say to be representative 

of developments with other mechanisms.  So I just wanted to ask you 

whether in your experience under the Operative Plan how many 

developments you have seen that look like that top diagram there in the 

Living 3 zone? 10 

 

MS SAKIN:   Very many. 

 

MS WALSH:   Very many?  So wouldn’t they have had to go through a 

consenting regime, they would have – well, they would have not 15 

complied with minimum outdoor living spaces, that assumes that there 

are no outdoor living spaces in that top diagram, it assumes that there 

are no setback requirements that have been complied with, for 

example? 

 20 

MS SAKIN:   In the top diagram there are setbacks and I have seen many 

developments that simply show the setback as outdoor living space. 

 

MS WALSH:   But my point is wouldn’t that top diagram have gone through a 

consenting regime and it would have breached a number of rules in 25 

addition to the floor area ratio rule?  Well, the top diagram does not - - 

- 

 

MS SAKIN:   Yes, I am thinking - - - 

 30 

MS WALSH:   - - - comply with internal boundary setbacks? 

 

MS SAKIN:   Yes, so I am looking at it to – well, to start with I would like to 

highlight that this is a conceptual representation in here simply, to 

indicate that difference between relying on simplistic bulk and location 35 

rules versus a package of rules as I defend.  However, to answer your 

question, I am looking at the diagram and I can see it has setbacks all 

around. I cannot - - - 

 

MS WALSH:   Internal boundary setbacks, sorry, that was my - - - 40 

 

MS SAKIN:   Yes, so I can see internal boundary setbacks.  If that was a single 

site that would be internal boundary setbacks or if that was a 

comprehensively developed site they could have given permission to 

each other to not have the setbacks or the recession planes.  So, yes, 45 

this is not entirely unbelievable or impossible. 
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MS WALSH:   How many examples have you seen like that in the Living 3 

zone in Christchurch? 

 

MS SAKIN:   If we narrow it down to a more sausage like then many.  So in 5 

terms of the proportions of the block that we see there it is a rectangle, 

perhaps you could say close to a square.  Basically, if you halve that 

like that then that is a very common typology in the L3 zones which - - 

- 

 10 

MS WALSH:   So have you provided any photos of those in your rebuttal 

evidence, for example, where you are talking about these issues? 

 

MS SAKIN:   I have not provided them, however some submitters have. 

 15 

MS WALSH:   Sir, I am conscious of time, just a couple more questions.  Now, 

at page 23 of your report – well, I see that you have talked about the 

Hamilton District Plan in respect of outdoor living space but just in 

respect to your analysis on site coverage, at page 23, the only other 

plan you have referred to in New Zealand is the Auckland Unitary 20 

Plan, is that correct? 

 

MS SAKIN:   For site coverage, I do not believe I have compared site coverage 

in Hamilton and Christchurch. 

 25 

MS WALSH:   To the Auckland Unitary Plan at page 23. 

 

  [4.40 pm] 

 

MS SAKIN:   Could you give me the topic number please, I am sorry I have 30 

slightly different numbers?  So at 3 - - - 

 

MS WALSH:   So at 3, sorry, under the heading on page 23 of your appendix 

5, Permeability Provision Comparison table.   

 35 

MS SAKIN:   Yes. 

 

MS WALSH:   Do you accept that in looking at the site coverage rule – just 

that rule, not the outdoor living space rule, you have only looked at one 

other metropolitan plan in New Zealand? 40 

 

MS SAKIN:   Yes. This comparison is specifically about permeability 

provisions, not site coverage provisions, because at one stage we have 

considered including permeability standards as well as the site 

coverage standard and this was looking at an example and Auckland 45 

was the only one I have found.   
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MS WALSH:   Well, I will get to your reliance on the permeability as 

justifying the site coverage, but is this the only reference in your report 

where you talk about site coverage, and it is the only time that you have 

looked at other councils, and you have listed the site coverage rule 5 

there for Auckland being at 50 percent. So what methodology, and 

looking at this table, did you adopt in selecting only that plan as a 

comparison? 

 

MS SAKIN:   That was the only plan that I found any provisions about 10 

permeability. I did not look at other plans for site coverage, and 

perhaps I should have, but I know that almost all of them include site 

coverage rules. 

 

MS WALSH:   So you agree it would have been helpful to have looked at what 15 

other metropolitan areas around New Zealand do for medium density 

areas in terms of site coverage? 

 

MS SAKIN:   Yes.  Although it is hard to find equivalent examples when you 

have a large city such as Christchurch, so really Auckland and 20 

Wellington stand out to be the main comparable ones. 

 

MS WALSH:   So I just want to talk about that permeability issue. At 

paragraph 7.17, page 19 of your evidence-in-chief, and you have said 

there that exploration of two to three storeys will create more choice 25 

and scope for innovation, and that is partly your reason for reducing 

site coverage in medium density areas.   

 

 And what I want to ask you is, doesn’t this exploration actually equate 

to a reduction in the choice to applicants in that it applies a rigid 30 

coverage criteria rule rather than the options available under a floor 

area ratio rule which Mr Jones favours? 

 

MS SAKIN:   As I have explained, in context of the height that we have in 

these zones, I believe the loss of choice is minimal because it is only 35 

the difference between 45 percent and 55 percent.  In fact, in terms of 

development ability and development rights, on a larger site you can 

have more development because you are no longer limited by 

residential floor area ratio.  

 40 

 So, for instance, if you are able to go three storeys on a large site 

because you are able to set back and comply with recession planes, 

potentially you can do 45 percent times three, which is more than 80 

percent that you are allowed now.   

 45 
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 So I do not accept that one is more rigid than the other.  They both have 

their limitations. My view is that site coverage, (1) simplifies a plan 

because then it is only site coverage that is the density control in all 

zones, and not an application of a plot ratio which is normally used for 

commercial developments. (2) For the ability of development 5 

distribution and choice increased because if you comply with all other 

rules you can actually have more development. 

 

MS WALSH:   Right. We will just leave that one there, but just one last 

question in relation to – so part of your evidence relies on Mr Norton’s 10 

evidence, in fact you refer to Mr Norton’s evidence at multiple points 

in your evidence-in-chief and you use his evidence to support your 

recommendation to reduce the permitted site coverage below the 

current Operative Plan.  But I just wanted to ask you, now that you 

have seen his rebuttal, doesn’t that actually in fact clarify, in particular, 15 

his paragraph 3.2?  And you do not need to go to that, but he says there 

that he does not view the 40 percent site coverage rules as being 

necessary to manage effects on stormwater network.  

 

 So my question to you is, doesn’t he now actually clarify that the site 20 

coverage rule is not a necessary mechanism to manage effects on the 

storm water network? 

 

  [4.45 pm] 

 25 

MS SAKIN:   Certainly not on its own, however, he has acknowledged that it 

increases the likelihood of better management of stormwater and as I 

have outlined in my rebuttal my area of expertise as focused is actually 

under amenity effects of permeability and high (INDISTINCT 0.35) 

coverage but I like to highlight that there is a strong link between the 30 

two. 

 

MS WALSH:   Okay, thank you, no further questions. 

 

SJH:   Dr Mitchell? 35 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Thank you, sir, good afternoon, Ms Sakin, I will be pretty 

brief.  Just following on from those questions about impervious surface 

areas and so forth, you said at the end that you were concerned about 

amenity but if there is a corresponding benefit from some other aspect 40 

you would like to note that.  Leaving aside stormwater management, is 

the provision of impervious surfaces an urban design issue in your 

view? 

 

MS SAKIN:   Yes. 45 
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DR MITCHELL:   Why? 

 

MS SAKIN:   Because of the, not directly, but indirectly and highly correlated 

because of the relationship between pervious surfaces and planting, 

landscaping and gardens which are important elements of urban design.   5 

 

DR MITCHELL:   So it is not the impermeable surface per se, it is the ability 

of the land to accommodate other (INDISTINCT 1.40)? 

 

MS SAKIN:   Yes. 10 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Okay, all right, thank you.  Just a few examples I just want 

to take you through just to understand the rational really behind what 

has been proposed.  You have listed a few street scene amenity and 

safety matters on page 25 of your Evidence in Chief.  You were asked a 15 

few questions about them, you were actually asked about the 

landscaping provisions but it is the other ones that intrigue me.  What is 

the reason for requiring 50 percent of the relatively tall fence to be 

transparent and what is wrong with people deciding they want a bit of 

privacy in their house? 20 

 

MS SAKIN:   The issue is one of street scene safety, both perceived and actual 

so there is a body of evidence that suggests that people feel safer if they 

can see windows and habitable rooms as they are walking on the street, 

so public on the street, and there is high correlation between visibility 25 

of boundaries, private boundaries, and safety for the private residence, 

both perceived and actual.   

 

DR MITCHELL:   So on urban design grounds, someone that wanted to build a 

house in the residential suburban zone and they breached that rule, 30 

what would that mean in terms of your assessment, you potentially turn 

that consent down because someone wanted to have a tall fence along 

the front boundary which is what a restricted discretionary activity 

status would allow you to do. 

 35 

MS SAKIN:   Yes, and that activity status limits the discretion hence its 

restricted discretion to safety and amenity of the public realm and the 

street scene so if someone wanted to have a high fence perhaps they are 

able to do some other means to give the safety and amenity back to the 

street so that is what it allows for. 40 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Okay, just carrying down that list, the garages one, garages 

shall comprise no more than 50 percent of the ground floor elevation of 

the residential building when viewed from the street, it should not be 

more than 6.8 metres wide.  What is the purpose of that? 45 
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MS SAKIN:   The purpose is again related to street scene safety and amenity.  

The more garages you have at the street scene the less habitable rooms 

you have hence less connection of the residence and people in the 

house with the street and by way of location of garages the houses 

might be located even further from the street so if someone screams 5 

you cannot hear, potentially, and the associated hearth surfaces with 

garages, particularly say if you have a double or a triple garage, quite 

often the hearth surface covers all of the width of that garage so with a 

triple garage that could be nine metres of asphalt so not only that 

removes on street parking from the street which is a known local street 10 

slowing and amenity design consideration, but it also means that you 

can’t have the berms or associated planting for that width. Plus it 

changes the character of the neighbourhood in that you start to see 

houses attached to the garages, rather than garages attached to houses 

which has a character and amenity effect. 15 

 

  [4.50 pm] 

 

DR MITCHELL:   All right, thank you. Can I just refer you then to the urban 

design criteria that are on page 54 of the revised 25 March version of 20 

the plan provisions at page 50. Just on page 54, I just want to ask you 

about, page 54 of the 25 March provisions. Then get page 226 ready 

because I want to cross-reference you to there. There is a diagram there 

showing how accessory buildings could comply with the internal 

boundary issues where there is a window. So let us assume that I had a 25 

slightly reconfigured accessory building that offended the rule that that 

diagram is supposed to describe. Then when we go to page 226 which 

are the urban design principles, how would you go about assessing that 

non-compliance in terms of that set of, I will use the word criteria 

loosely, given the conversation that has happened before. But there you 30 

have got a situation with the internal boundary relating to a window, 

relating to a setback. How does that apply to the provisions on pages 

226, 227, and 228? 

 

MS SAKIN:   Can I just clarify that we are looking at rule number 14.2.3.7? 35 

 

DR MITCHELL:   The one that is on the screen. 

 

MS SAKIN:   (INDISTINCT 2.13) yes. 

 40 

DR MITCHELL:   So someone comes along, that is one that complies, 

something that does not quite comply with that that is not dramatically 

out of kilter with that. You then come to assess the application against 

these urban design principles that are on pages 226 and onwards. How 

do you go about doing that? 45 
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MS SAKIN:   I would just like to confirm that that is the assessment that is 

required in the breach of that rule. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Pardon? 

 5 

MS SAKIN:   If you give me a moment, I will have a look at the restricted 

discretionary activity table. Sorry, how did you conclude that a breach 

of this rule would require assessment by the comprehensive urban 

design principle assessment? 

 10 

DR MITCHELL:   It would not be a permitted activity because it does not meet 

the development criteria, so it breaches that rule as a permitted activity. 

If that were to be then assessed against those principles, or another 

example, it does not have to be specifically related to that. But 

something that is not a major issue in urban design terms, so some 15 

minor breach of an internal boundary standard or one recession plane is 

slightly out of whack, how do you go about determining how you apply 

these very general urban design principles on pages 226, 227, and 228? 

 

MS SAKIN:   Firstly, I am assuming, and I will just be able to answer your 20 

question, assuming perhaps the application was for a multi-unit 

development of large size, hence that needs to be assessed by the urban 

design matters. However, the multi-unit development might only have, 

as you say, very small breaches of those site boundaries, setback and 

recession plane. So as is explained at the top of the urban design 25 

assessment matters, the importance of particle aspects will vary from 

site to site, and it gives an example of if you are addressing a heritage 

building then that is more important. So in the case of site boundary or 

recession plane, I would look at the main principle about onsite 

amenity which is numbers 3 and 4, so it is in relation to the built form 30 

and amenity of the site. And number 4, “In relation to the built form 

amenity of the site, whether development provides a high level of 

internal, external amenity for occupants, neighbours and public. So that 

is where I would look, where it relates to neighbours and their amenity. 

 35 

  [4.55 pm] 

 

 So, for instance, we are looking at four, I would look at if the setback 

breach is changing the balance of outlook, sunlight or weather 

protection and privacy for the neighbouring property, and/or within the 40 

site in the case of multiple units.  I would look at potential overlooking 

of adjacent dwellings and their outdoor living spaces, which is item B - 

- - 

 

DR MITCHELL:   I can read the list too, what I am trying to do - - - 45 
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MS SAKIN:   Yes, so that is how I would determine them. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   But how would you determine whether it was acceptable or 

not, how would you determine whether it provided a high level of 

internal and external amenity?  What objective criteria would you use 5 

in order to say this scenario is acceptable and this other one is not?  It 

would rely on your judgement wouldn’t it? 

 

MS SAKIN:   Of course there would be judgement required, that is the case in 

all assessment matters, whether it is urban design or not.  In the case of, 10 

correct me if I am wrong, but I think you were referring to subjectivity 

or how it would be assessed differently from instance to instance, but 

that is the exact purpose of these, is that the answer will be different 

depending on the design of the particular development and what is next 

to it, therefore it actually gives both the applicant and the administrator 15 

scope to make that judgement based on the particular composition. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   All right, thank you. Just finally, page 232, the 

sustainability principles, and just focusing on the second one which 

says “where a general urban design discretion applies the adverse urban 20 

design effects of the proposal are compensated or partially 

compensated by an energy or water saving or universal design feature 

that is able the building code standard”. What does compensated or 

partly compensated mean in that context? 

 25 

MS SAKIN:   I did not draft this, so I will just take a moment to read it.  I see, I 

believe the intention is to give additional weight to energy and water 

saving and universal design features where a developer has opted to 

provide these over and above what is required by the building code to 

give the applicant some option to argue because they are providing, in 30 

this case this is about an internal amenity energy water saving and 

universal design features, that are providing high internal amenity 

therefore that may be taken into account when assessing the overall 

balance of design composition.  

 35 

DR MITCHELL:   So we should not get hung up on what compensated or 

partially compensated means? You are just saying that one can be 

considered a good – can be offset by something that is a bit bad in 

urban design terms, in your view, is that what that means? 

 40 

MS SAKIN:   Yes, generally speaking, sir, although I would say not going to 

bad, but over a baseline you can meet some standards better than others 

and that might help you, if you think about it like an exam, you should 

not get a fail in any of the main topics, however you can compensate 

doing a lot in one area and doing the bare minimum in another, and this 45 

is the intention with the urban design assessment matters.  



 Page 135 

  

Ch14: Residential (Part) Commenced 30.03.15 

 

DR MITCHELL:   All right, thank you. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Ms Sakin, just a couple of questions.  Dr Mitchell has put 

some questions to you about street scene amenity and safety, in what 5 

currently are the living 1 and 2 zones, the RS and RSDT zones, is street 

scene amenity and street scene safety important to the residents of 

those zones?  Is it something they think is important? 

 

MS SAKIN:   I would think so.  I have not asked, however I have – that is the 10 

answer, I can give you more information. I refer to this particular 

survey that ask people why they would choose to stay in the suburbs, 

which are the L1 and L2 zones and some of the answers indicate that 

some of the things that they value are about the gardens and trees and 

the amount of space and amenity. 15 

 

  [5.00 pm] 

 

MS DAWSON:   And that would relate to what they see of other peoples 

properties as opposed to what they experience within their own 20 

property?  In other words what they see when they are driving on the 

road, does it show that that is important to people in those zones? 

 

MS SAKIN:   I could not say, looking at real estate advertisements, the 

location is always considered important and tree lined streets with high 25 

street amenity are often considered as high value.   

 

MS DAWSON:   And my other question is in several of the assessment matters 

or standards, there is a reference to a requirement for native trees or 

indigenous tree planting, where does that come from? Why in 30 

Christchurch is that a requirement for one native tree per so many 

square metres or? 

 

MS SAKIN:   I personally disagree with the native tree requirement and I have 

stated that in my rebuttal in response to one of the submitter evidences 35 

and that is mainly because from the urban design point of view native 

trees are often evergreen whereas deciduous trees provide better 

amenity because they provide shading and then sunlight depending on 

the season, and there is a greater variety of deciduous trees then there 

are native trees, and this is out of my expertise but in terms of the 40 

landscape and trees, which trees are better suited, however this is my 

impression and knowledge. 

 

SJH:   The question was do you know where the reference to indigenous trees 

came from.   45 
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MS SAKIN:   Sorry. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Has it come from an urban design perspective?   

 

MS SAKIN:   It has not come from me. 5 

 

MS DAWSON:   Okay, thank you very much. 

 

SJH:   Mr Sax? 

 10 

MR SAX:   Thank you, good afternoon.  I have a question, most of what you 

have spoken is highly, highly subjective. I have seen many, many 

developments that would contradict an awful lot of what you say in 

terms of site coverage, in terms of fences, in terms of garages, in terms 

of planting.   15 

 

 Now in the free market these places are highly sought after so what do 

tell those people who say you are idiots, you do not know what you are 

doing, why would you buy that, so where does your role of trying to 

prescribe to that degree of what people should want and do not want, 20 

should the market actually have some measure of saying “we are very 

happy to have that looking just like that”? 

 

MS SAKIN:   To my knowledge the market does actually favour that.  So a lot 

of these provisions exist in the existing operative living g zones, which 25 

are the new neighbourhood zones which have been developed in the 

more recent years than the existing urban areas, and they all contain as 

where in my attachment 1 to my original evidence, they all contain 

very similar provisions, particularly with fences, domination of garages 

and planting.   30 

 

 In addition I have got no submissions from the community in these 

areas where the rules are operative, whether that is the existing living g 

zones or the existing living 3 zone.  I have no reason to believe that 

there is community or market concern about these provisions, on the 35 

other hand I believe the outtake of the living g housing supports that 

community actually does value these measures. 

 

MR SAX:   Thank you. 

 40 

SJH:   Judge? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Chairman, just one thing to clarify for a 

start, Ms Sakin.  So we learnt so far that neither Mr McIndoe nor 

yourself authored the urban design provisions on page 226.  I am going 45 

to familiarise myself with it further with the Section 32 Report but can 
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you tell me who did author them?  First of all in policies terms and 

secondly in drafting terms. 

 

MS SAKIN:   I will answer the drafting terms question first.  So the notified 

version of the assessment matters, urban design assessment which is 5 

the table version that is struck out now, that has been authored by a 

group of us which includes me, so I have been involved in their 

drafting, however, the main responsibility has been with Mr John 

Meeker, one of our planners. 

 10 

  [5.05 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr John Mather? 

 

MS SAKIN:   Meeker. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Meeker. 

 

MS SAKIN:   He is not one of the witnesses.  However, he has basically 

consolidated and incorporated all our various comments and I am very 20 

familiar and I have been very closely involved with their drafting. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So now the policy, first of all who did the section 32 

evaluation and who authored the policy? 

 25 

MS SAKIN:   The policy about urban design? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MS SAKIN:   To my knowledge the objectives and policies have been 30 

authored by Mr Blair.  In response to your linkages question - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No. 

 

MS SAKIN:   No? 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, just back up a bit. 

 

MS SAKIN:   With objectives. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Perhaps the word policy is confusing.  Who developed the 

thinking to formulate the drafting? 

 

MS SAKIN:   Of the urban design assessment matters? 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Of the urban design provisions in this chapter of the plan? 
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MS SAKIN:   Do you mean the provisions including quantitative and 

qualitative standards or are you only referring to the qualitative 

assessment matters? 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, Mr Blair drafted the rules, looking at the screen who 

drafted those bits? 

 

MS SAKIN:   I have been involved in drafting of these together with others. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Was that that committee or that group you referred to? 

 

MS SAKIN:   Yes, although the final drafting has been coordinated by 

Mr Blair. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Now, who developed the ideas for what we 

see on the screen? 

 

MS SAKIN:   The ideas have come from plan change 53.   

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Who is the person within the Council team that is 

responsible for formulating the ideas that we see on the screen?  Are 

you saying it was just taken from plan change 53? 

 

MS SAKIN:   The urban design team would be the responsible body within the 25 

Council. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Are you a member of that team? 

 

MS SAKIN:   I am a (INDISTINCT 2.18) member, I have done a number of 30 

secondments with the team and I have close relationships. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   But you weren’t involved with that? 

 

MS SAKIN:   I was involved with this particular set. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I beg your pardon? 

 

MS SAKIN:   I was involved with the drafting of this particular set. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So you were involved? 

 

MS SAKIN:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay.  Just one other matter I put to Mr McIndoe, and I 45 

just want to clarify with you please, if I could go to your paragraph 3.6. 
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MS SAKIN:   In? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   In your evidence-in-chief, thanks.  I think we can cover 

this quite quickly, I just want to make sure I fairly ask you the same 5 

question I asked Mr McIndoe.  So there, Ms Sakin, you say that the 

urban design assessments are targeted at larger scale multi-unit 

residential developments and you say, “with a range of potential 

adverse effects” and you go on to describe those.  And then you refer to 

the role that they have in terms of mediating competing design 10 

objectives and amenity issues, all of which I understand.   

 

 But I put to Mr McIndoe the fact that the rules, which you have said are 

drafted by Mr Blair, cover a range of other activities that go far beyond 

multi-unit residential developments and if I could just list some of these 15 

that seem to do that.  Residential units up to six bedrooms, conversion 

of one residential unit to two, development of a minor residential unit 

that is detached from the main one, I think it is convenience activities 

and lastly the addition of boarding houses which is a late addition. 

 20 

 Thinking of all of those that I have just listed to you do you agree that 

they go beyond the concept of multi-units? 

 

MS SAKIN:   Yes. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And do you support their inclusion or do not agree with 

their inclusion on urban design matters? 

 

MS SAKIN:   The particular activities you have listed with the exception of 

boarding houses potentially, yes. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And a boarding house, as I understand it by definition in 

the plan, typically is the use of a normal residential house by boarders, 

is that correct? 

 35 

MS SAKIN:   I would have to take. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, I have checked. 

 

MS SAKIN:   Okay. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And if you can take it from me that that is the sort of 

concept, if that is the concept and it is a normal residential dwelling 

that happens to be used for boarders, do you modify your earlier 

answer? 45 
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MS SAKIN:   If there is a restriction that that is an existing single attached 

house, I would.  However, if one could build or develop a new 

boarding house there is no certainty that it would be just like a single 

attached house.   

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And that is where your concern is, that it might, in 

character, be like a multi-unit if that was the case.   

 

MS SAKIN:   Yes, correct. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you for clarifying that.  And can you understand, 

because I can’t, why retirement villages are not subject to the urban 

design regime? 

 

MS SAKIN:   No. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And what is your view about whether they should be or 

not.   

 

MS SAKIN:   My view is that they should be. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Mr Radich? 

 25 

MR RADICH:   No, thank you, your Honour.   

 

SJH:   Ms Semple? 

 

MS SEMPLE:   No, thank you, sir. 30 

 

SJH:   Ms Walsh? 

 

MS WALSH:   No, sir.   

 35 

SJH:   Ms Scott? 

 

MS SCOTT:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  You may stand down.   40 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [5.10 pm] 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Ms Scott. 

 45 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, sir.  Mr Radich is going to call Mr Teesdale. 
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SJH:   Okay, thank you. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Because he is presenting evidence on behalf of the Crown as 

well.   5 

 

SJH:   But he is a joint witness? 

 

MR RADICH:   He is a joint witness, sir, in so far as his first brief of evidence 

is concerned. 10 

 

SJH:   Right. 

 

MR RADICH:   And he has filed a second – and the first brief talks about the 

agreed modelling matters, and the second brief goes a bit further and it 15 

is for the Crown alone. 

 

SJH:   Right.  Okay.  Thank you.   

 

<MARK TEESDALE, affirmed [5.11 pm] 20 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR RADICH [5.11 pm] 

 

MR RADICH:   Your full name is Mark (INDISTINCT 1.59) Teesdale? 

 

MR TEESDALE:   Yes. 5 

 

MR RADICH:   And you hold the position of Principal Urban Designer – 

Development of the Christchurch Central Development Unit at the 

Canterbury Earthquake Recovery Authority? 

 10 

MR TEESDALE:   Yes.   

 

MR RADICH:   Now Mr Teesdale, you have filed two briefs of evidence, 

haven’t you?  The first dated 11 March 2015 and that is a joint 

statement between the Council and the Crown? 15 

 

MR TEESDALE:   Yes. 

 

MR RADICH:   And the second is dated 20 March 2015, filed on behalf of the 

Crown alone. 20 

 

MR TEESDALE:   Yes. 

 

MR RADICH:   Are there any changes you would like to make to either of 

those statements? 25 

 

MR TEESDALE:   No. 

 

MR RADICH:   Thank you very much.  Would you now please present a 

summary of your evidence? 30 

 

MR TEESDALE:   Sir, your Honour and Panel Members, my opening covers 

my joint statement filed on 6 March 2015 and my second evidence filed 

on 20 March 2015.   

 35 

 As set out in my evidence, I have been involved in workshops with the 

Christchurch City Council officers and advisors to discuss housing 

intensification and the approach taken by the Crown with respect to the 

GIS model which led to the Council requesting that I provide a joint 

statement of evidence detailing the matters that have been agreed 40 

between the Council and the Crown on this work. 

 

 My joint statement primarily covers two aspects, an explanation of the 

GIS modelling which has been undertaken, and a description and 

explanation of the urban form criteria that the parties have agreed 45 
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should form the basis for determining the location of residential 

intensification through medium density.   

 

 My second file statement essentially provides more background to my 

first filed evidence, including outlining some graphical examples of 5 

medium density housing cited in appendix A. 

 

 I am now going to highlight the five main components of my evidence. 

 

 1.  Capacity testing.  To ascertain whether proposal 14 provides for 10 

sufficient intensification provision we used GIS modelling with market 

based factors included.  Mr Schellekens and Mr Fairgray will discuss 

the outcomes of this work. 

 

 Item 2.  The importance of housing intensification.  In my opinion it is 15 

critical for Christchurch to provide for adequate, practical 

intensification capacity because if we don’t it will necessitate a 

Greenfield led approach, undermining the intention of the LURP, the 

RPS and good practice of urban design. 

 20 

 Item 3.  The key conceptual approaches to houses.  In my evidence I 

outline four conceptual approaches to housing intensification in cities.  

These are concentric rings of housing density around a city centre.  

Item two, a nodal or activities centres based approach.  Item three, a 

corridor based approach, or four, a combination of the methods I 25 

identified in one to three. 

 

  [5.15 pm] 

 

 In my opinion, which is supported by the Council in the joint evidence, 30 

the Replacement Plan should follow the nodal or activity centre model 

as the approach to address housing intensification in the first instance. 

This is largely because making use of existing amenities around key 

activity centres and larger neighbourhood centres will optimise the 

efficient use of existing assets and infrastructure in Christchurch. 35 

 

 As outlined in my evidence, the Auckland Plan and the greater 

Adelaide 30 Year Plan of which I cite in my evidence as relevant to 

Christchurch, both propose a similar nodal or activity centre approach 

to intensification.  40 

 

 This approach supports good practice urban design by intensifying 

residential activity in areas which will support the viability of existing 

facilities and services, shops, community and health facilities, public 

transport and schools, and which are accessible by walking, cycling and 45 

public transport. 
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 Item four, agreed locational criteria. In support of the preferred nodal 

activity centres model, the agreed locational criteria for medium 

density development relate to walkable proximity to the following: 

public transport, namely the bus network, key activity centres and 5 

larger neighbourhood centres, public open space and public schools, 

notably primary and intermediate. 

 

 Lastly, item five, the application of the criteria. In my opinion any 

intensification approach cannot be applied uniformly over an existing 10 

urban context. This is a consequence of practical considerations such as 

environmental constraints, such as natural hazards, flooding et cetera, 

character where there is existing qualities or assets that warrant 

protection or management, infrastructure constraints such as 

wastewater, commercial feasibility such as likely development 15 

readiness, and transport, including road corridor capacity and safety 

issues. 

 

 I am happy to assist with any further questions you may have. 

 20 

SJH:   Thank you, Dr Mitchell. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   I have just got a couple of questions, thanks, Mr Teesdale. 

Can I refer you to page 7, paragraph 6.9 of your Crown statement, that 

is the second statement dated 20 March. 25 

 

MR TEESDALE:   Sorry, what page number, sir? 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Page 7, paragraph 6.9. 

 30 

MR TEESDALE:   Yes. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   There you are drawing the distinction between the evidence 

of Dr Fairgray and Mr Schellekens about the capacity of the area that 

has being zoned for intensification, and you have used the words in my 35 

opinion if housing supply cannot be adequately met by intensification, 

isn’t there, in the short term at least, a fundamental issue that is nothing 

to do with supply but everything to do with demand, in the sense that 

the market in Christchurch is not conditioned to intensified living, 

where people have a choice of greenfields versus inner city or semi-40 

urban city living, they are choosing the former not the latter.  Is that a 

fair conclusion? 

 

MR TEESDALE:   I think that is fair and I think the percentages as they 

change throughout the life of that probably reflect that as well, that in 45 

the short term perhaps that is where the demand is, but I also think 
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there is probably – it is a harder space to develop in, the intensification, 

so it may not necessarily reflect demand. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   So given that, and to the extent that some of the 

development community from their submissions are seeing, in 5 

particular the urban design provisions as being a handbrake on their 

aspirations, how would you go about revitalising or intensifying that 

more inner area of the city? 

 

MR TEESDALE:   Yes, I would probably get as best an understanding as I 10 

could of what their perspective are, where those kind of issues might 

limit development from their perspective, so that we can at least work 

with them, I suppose to understand what some of the blockages might 

be, and I think Mr Schellekens alludes to some of those. 

 15 

DR MITCHELL:   Do you think it will take time before Christchurch folk are 

going to embrace intensified living, or do you think it’s a market that is 

just waiting to be - - - 

 

  [5.20 pm] 20 

 

MR TEESDALE:   I think it would take time for it to happen at scale in great 

numbers but I think there is a latent demand and talking with 

Mr Shellekans, he has sort of sighted similar things in Auckland about 

10 years ago.  If you would have told people what is happening now, 25 

they would not have believed you but terrace house is kind of 

becoming more norm, so I suspect given time it would occur here too. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Are you familiar with the Auckland situation? 

 30 

MR TEESDALE:   Relatively. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   It would seem to me as a non-urban designer that a lot of 

that has been driven by regulation in the sense of making it very 

difficult to expand the urban fringe in Auckland and say you cannot go 35 

out, you have got to go up essentially.   

 

MR TEESDALE:   Correct, and I suppose that is why I take a strong view that 

we need to direct it in this Plan as well because probably that has a high 

influence on it starting to happen.  If it was the major place to develop 40 

then it likely, as long as we listen and we address what the challenges 

are in front of getting that underway. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   All right, thank you, thank you, sir. 

 45 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 
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MS DAWSON:   Thank you, good afternoon, Mr Teesdale.  Just a couple of 

questions, can you confirm for me that the modelling that was done 

when it looked at the suitability of individual sites it was not able to or 

did not look at the potential for amalgamation of sites? 5 

 

MR TEESDALE:   Correct, I think Mr Shellekans outlines that he does not 

think that has a material impact because although Ms Sakin talked 

about you could get a lot more capacity on a site whether full sites were 

developed side by side or concurrently he believes that you would get a 10 

similar outcome of housing numbers, so in that regard it did not count 

for amalgamation of much sites.   

 

MS DAWSON:   Mr Fairgray refers to that as being one of the essential 

problems with relying on modelling in that if two sites could be 15 

amalgamated then potentially you could get greater uplift in terms of 

developer return, but does Mr Shellekans disagree with me? 

 

MR TEESDALE:  I think it is a question you put to him but I would say from 

my experience I would agree with Mr Shellekans that often a developer 20 

would appear to own multiple sites side by side, in the living 3 zone for 

example, might develop them individually as opposed to concurrently 

because of development of three times the scale risk, so from what I see 

I do not believe that is a big gap in the capacity that there is lots of site 

amalgamation because generally this type of development is developed 25 

by smaller entities and that becomes a limiting factor more than 

whether they can get lots of sites, so that is probably a question for 

Mr Shellekan. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Then just turning to your rebuttal evidence, you give a 30 

definition of urban design on 6.5 and 6.6 of your rebuttal statement, 

were you were here when Mr McIndoe was asked about urban design 

versus residential design in terms of the principles that are included in 

the residential proposal? 

 35 

MR TEESDALE:   Yes, I was here. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Are you familiar with the urban design principles that are 

included as assessment matters in the residential proposal? 

 40 

MR TEESDALE:   Forwardly, although I was not asked to look at this 

specifically. 

 

MS DAWSON:   In terms of the way you define urban design, do you agree 

with Mr McIndoe’s distinction between what you are referring to here 45 
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in your evidence of urban design versus the sorts of matters that are 

covered by the urban design principles in the Plan? 

 

MR TEESDALE:   As I take it, Mr McIndoe was describing those particular 

ones that relate to residential medium density should be targeted and by 5 

definition you could probably title them with residential design matters 

and I would agree with that. The urban design that I describe here is the 

overarching umbrella of which the ones that apply to residential 

developments should be the components of urban design broadly that 

come from that not includes things that are not relevant to residential.   10 

 

MS DAWSON:   So what you are talking about here is that overarching city 

wide framework that is distinct from or, the residential part that are in 

the assessment matters as Mr McIndoe said is a component or a subset 

of that.  Do you agree? 15 

 

  [5.25 pm] 

 

MR TEESDALE:   Agreed, and I think just to clarify the context of this was to 

distinguish, I would use the term urban form in my joint evidence. I 20 

was just trying to clarify that I considered that a component of urban 

design total, so that I was not introducing something, replacing urban 

design with urban form. It is just a component of it. That is the purpose 

of this. 

 25 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you very much. 

 

SJH:   Mr Sax? 

 

MR SAX:   No questions, thank you. 30 

 

SJH:   Judge? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No thank you, Mr Chairman, all clear. 

 35 

SJH:   Just one following up from Dr Mitchell where he asked you about 

enabling intensification and the difficulties facing it, I take it from what 

you said, you would see it as critical to extensively consult with 

developers and understand their drivers and the sorts of things that will 

enable them to intensify? 40 

 

MR TEESDALE:   Yes, I do because I think it is a challenging space to plan 

in. I think to optimise the position of what is acceptable and we can 

broadly (INDISTINCT 1.11) what the community want to see in this. 

We probably do not often think about understanding the challenges that 45 

developers might face, so I would say yes, it is important. 



 Page 148 

  

Ch14: Residential (Part) Commenced 30.03.15 

 

SJH:   Thank you. Mr Radich? 

 

MR RADICH:   No thank you, sir. 

 5 

SJH:   Ms Scott? 

 

MS SCOTT:   No thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. You may stand down. 10 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [5.26 pm] 

 

 

SJH:   Now, Ms Melhopt, you are here to open. I do not think you are calling 15 

evidence, are you? 

 

MS MELHOPT:   No, sir. 

 

SJH:   All right, well we will hear you now to save you coming back tomorrow, 20 

and Ms Semple, you may be released if you wish. 

 

MS SEMPLE:   Thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Yes, thank you. Just go ahead when you are ready. 25 

 

MS MELHOPT:   Thank you, sir. Now, these opening submissions are very 

brief, sir. 

 

SJH:   At this time of the evening, I am sure we are all grateful. 30 

 

MS MELHOPT:   Yes, so if I start there at paragraph 2, following its 

involvement in the collaborative advisory group consultation process 

on the draft proposals, ECAN did lodge a submission in support of the 

notified version of the Plan. And this submission in support is subject 35 

to a small number of specified amendments, and they were primarily to 

ensure better implementation of the RPS. In lodging that submission in 

support, it was considered that the proposals in general gave effect to 

the RPS. No specific changes were sought to the residential proposal, 

however it is recognised that changes may be made to the proposal to 40 

better give effect to the RPS and to ensure consistency with other 

higher-order statutory documents, and of course, the other tests within 

the RMA. 

 

 Turning to the scope of these submissions, given the substantial 45 

amendments made to the residential proposal following notification and 
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the exchange of submitter and rebuttal evidence, I consider that it is 

appropriate to address how the amended proposal implements the RPS 

in other higher-order statutory documents enclosing legal submissions 

following the presentation of the evidence, and particularly given that 

the Council has not completed its case or the Crown yet. 5 

 

 So therefore their submission simply provide a brief summary of the 

key outcomes that ECAN considers need to be met by this proposal in 

order to implement the RPS and ensure consistency with the other 

higher-order statutory documents. Paragraph 7, I refer there to chapter 10 

6 of the RPS and it provides strong direction for this residential 

proposal within greater Christchurch. The chapter is in itself a recovery 

document, as it was inserted into the RPS under Action 44 of the Land 

Use Recovery Plan, and it is submitted that chapter 6 is not a business 

as usual approach and forms part of the recovery framework by 15 

providing a resource management framework for the recovery of 

greater Christchurch to enable and support earthquake recovery and 

rebuilding, including restoration enhancement for the area through to 

2028. 

 20 

 I submit that at this framework and direction provided is supported by 

the Land Use Recovery Plan. At paragraph 9, I refer to chapter 5 of the 

RPS which is also relevant to this proposal. It applies outside of greater 

Christchurch, and I set out there at paragraphs A to C those matters that 

chapter 5 focuses on. 25 

 

  [5.30 pm] 

 

 Moving to paragraph 10, I also mention there that Chapter 11 of the 

RPS in terms of Natural Hazards does remain relevant for this proposal.   30 

 

 At paragraph 11, it is submitted that the direction provided by the RPS 

and the Land Use Recovery Plan is consistent with the Statement of 

Expectations Order in Council, that Chapter 6 of the RPS was inserted 

to implement a number of outcomes of the Land Use Recovery Plan, 35 

and those are consistent with the Statement of Expectations, and I set 

out there those relevant outcomes and you will have seen those 

outcomes before. 

 

 So perhaps if I move to paragraph 12. 40 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 

MS MEHLHOPT:   So a summary of key outcomes that ECAN considers 

should be met in order to ensure that the RPS is given effect to and the 45 

proposed plan is not inconsistent with the LURP are set out below. 
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 In relation to housing supply and intensification, are the Greenfield 

property areas identified in Chapter 6 rezoned? Will the Plan 

framework provide for a greater range of housing types?  Will the Plan 

deliver residential intensification targets?  Does the Plan identify areas 5 

suitable for intensification?  Will intensification be provided for in and 

around central city, key activity centres, larger neighbourhood centres, 

in brownfield sites, and core public transport routes?  And will the Plan 

result in residential development achieving the minimum density set 

out in policy 6.3.7?   10 

 

 Form of greenfield development.  Does the Plan enable comprehensive 

development and require development in greenfield priority areas to 

occur in accordance with an outlined development Plan? 

 15 

 In relation to transport, does the Plan promote the use of public 

transport, reduced dependency of car use, optimise use of existing 

capacity and ensure land use transport integration? 

 

 Natural hazards.  Are the areas identified for new development outside 20 

of areas of natural hazards, where the risks to people, property and 

infrastructure are unacceptable? 

 

 Strategic infrastructure.  Will the plan framework achieve integration of 

land use with infrastructure, including ensuring that existing strategic 25 

infrastructure can continue to operate efficiently and effectively? 

 

 And of course these outcomes should be met in conjunction with 

objectives 3.3.1 and 2 of the Strategic Directions chapter of the plan in 

order to address the Minister’s Statement of Expectations. 30 

 

 ECAN has decided not to present evidence on this proposal.  But 

ECAN decided to provide assistance and input to the City Council and 

others as early in the plan process as possible, and considered that it 

could be of most assistance and most value during the early stages of 35 

development to provide guidance on the implementation of the RPS so 

that any issues could be resolved prior to notification, and ECAN 

considered that that was the most efficient use of those resources.   

 

 So to concludes, ECAN has lodged a submission in support of the 40 

notified version, and again it is recognised that further changes may be 

required to the proposal and the amended proposal and how it does 

implement the higher order statutory documents will be addressed 

substantively in closing legal submissions for the Council following 

consideration and presentation of the evidence. 45 
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SJH:   Thank you, Ms Mehlhopt.  Do you have any question, Dr Mitchell? 

 

DR MITCHELL:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 5 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, thank you. 

 

SJH:   Mr Sax? 

 10 

MR SAX:   No, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just paragraph 15 of your evidence, about d3elviery of 

residential intensification targets. 

 15 

MS MEHLHOPT:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   bearing in mind the Regional Council is not calling any 

evidence, can I assume that effectively the Regional Council’s view 

would be that the Panel will need to make that as a judgement call 20 

based on whether the Panel prefers Mr Fairgray or Mr Schellekens as to 

what is more likely in terms of delivery? 

 

MS MEHLHOPT:   Yes, that is a matter of judgement for you based on the 

evidence you have before you. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Ms Mehlhopt.  We will adjourn till tomorrow morning.  

Thank you everybody. 30 

 

MS SCOTT:   Sorry, sir, I just have one housekeeping matter.   

 

SJH:   Yes? 

 35 

  [5.35 pm] 

 

MS SCOTT:   There has been some evidence filed today late that’s popped up 

in my inbox, it’s from Mr Stuart Fletcher, on Friday leave was granted 

for - - - 40 

 

SJH:   Who is Mr Fletcher (INDISTINCT 0.15)? 

 

MS SCOTT:   He is providing evidence for Groovy Costumes, which is 

submission number 839, and David Philpot, submission number 841. 45 
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Evidence was filed by him on Friday and he obtained leave to file that 

late. There is an application waiting for you. 

 

SJH:   To file late? 

 5 

MS SCOTT:   To file that evidence that’s come in. Perhaps the Council could 

just respond at once for the convenience of the Panel, you’ve already 

granted leave until Friday for the first two statements, so it would seem 

convenient to just respond to all of those statements at once. There’s 

also the - - - 10 

 

SJH:   I will so order now, as long as that’s convenient to you, Ms Scott. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, I think that will be fine. There’s also the - - - 

 15 

SJH:   There’s a nod from the back, so that’s all right. 

 

MS SCOTT:   I am not sure he has a say.  

 

SJH:   You’ve noticed? 20 

 

MS SCOTT:   Evidence has also been filed for the university and the 

polytechnic by R M Group, leave was granted for them also to file 

evidence - - - 

 25 

SJH:   The same person that filed late for, I think everything so far. 

 

MS SCOTT:   I couldn’t say, I’m not sure. 

 

SJH:   I’ll check, but I think we’ve had a late one from the university 30 

previously. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Anyway, perhaps it would be convenient to respond at the same 

time to that evidence as well. 

 35 

SJH:   Absolutely. Thank you.  

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you. 

 

SJH:   There is a further one, I can’t remember the name, and I’ve asked for a 40 

formal application. Someone who was overseas and has a unit or block 

of flats next to what I think is a Harcourts building on the corner of 

Edgeware Road and Cranford Street, there was an application - - - 

 

MS SCOTT:   That is Mr Fletcher. 45 

 



 Page 153 

  

Ch14: Residential (Part) Commenced 30.03.15 

SJH:   That is Fletcher, okay. 

 

MS SCOTT:   That might be Groovy Costumes, sir. 

 

SJH:   Well I was told it was a residential unit, but he might be operating 5 

Groovy Costumes out of it. I have so ordered and that will come 

through on the transcript, Ms Scott. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, sir. 

 10 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 

MATTER ADJOURNED AT 5.37 PM UNTIL 

TUESDAY, 31 MARCH 2015 


